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Dear Shareholders,

Recbio is a full value creation platform company driven by
mission, vision and R&D. Since we started our business ten
years ago, we have been adhering to the original aspiration
of “protecting human health with best-in-class vaccines” and
determined to lead the field of innovative vaccines.

2021 was a year of rapid growth for Recbio as our product
pipelines were progressing satisfactorily. We completed the Phase
| clinical trial of ReCOV (recombinant protein COVID-19 vaccine)
in New Zealand, and continued to proceed with Phase /Il
clinical trial in multiple countries, showing its excellent prospects
as a world-class universal vaccine. The Phase Il clinical trial of
REC603 (a 9-valent HPV vaccine) was successfully launched,
and the research and development progress continued to rank
first among similar domestic products. The pilot production and
preclinical studies of REC610 (a recombinant shingles vaccine)
and R520A (a COVID-19 mRNA vaccine) as well as the pre-
research of adult tuberculosis (TB) vaccine, multi-valent HFMD
vaccine, and quadrivalent recombinant influenza vaccine were
also progressing smoothly as scheduled.

Our ability to constantly launch blockbuster product pipelines
is attributed to our core technology platform developed with
over 20 years of technology expertise. In 2021, our Company
continued to expand and consolidate our platform capabilities.
Our Company’s novel adjuvant platform has made us one of the
few companies in the world that can independently develop a full
range of novel adjuvants without relying on any adjuvant supplier.
In 2021, we realized the mass production of adjuvants such as
BFAO1, BFAO3 and BFAO4, enabling us to achieve the R&D and
commercialization milestones of key product pipelines. At the
same time, our protein engineering platform and immunological
evaluation platform have also played an irreplaceable role in
the design and evaluation of new-generation vaccines. Based
on our strategies, our Company and Shenzhen Rhegen have
jointly established an mRNA vaccine platform with independent
underlying patents by setting up a joint venture, and the platform
has been applied in the research and development of R520A,
an mRNA vaccine. With the strategic cooperation with Shenzhen
Rhegen, our Company has become one of the few globally
competitive vaccine companies that strategically develop both
novel adjuvants and mRNA technologies.
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In 2021, our Company quickly shifted from a biotech company to
a biopharma company by virtue of its improving commercialization
capabilities. In 2021, our Company completed the construction
of a recombinant COVID-19 vaccine production base with an
annual peak manufacturing capacity of 300 million doses and
obtained a drug manufacturing license issued by Jiangsu Medical
Products Administration. The construction of the first phase of our
Company’s HPV vaccine production base at No. 888 Yaocheng
Avenue, Taizhou with a GFA of over 50,000 square meters was
completed.

In 2021, industry experts, including our chief medical officer
Dr. Zhang Jianhui, chief scientist Dr. Hong Kunxue and chief
financial officer Ms. Chen Qingqging joined Recbio. The number of
employees of our Company increased from 125 at the beginning
of the year to 421 at the end of the year. We accelerated the
construction of our human resources system and strengthened
professional and management training to better attract, retain and
motivate excellent talents.

In 2021, our Company successfully completed RMB200 million
Series B+ financing and RMB965 million Series C financing,
offered equity incentives to core employees, submitted an
application for listing on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange under
Chapter 18A of the Listing Rules and get listed on the Stock
Exchange in March 2022.

By virtue of our excellent business and capital performance, our
Company was selected into the “Global Unicorn Index 2021”
released by the Hurun Research Institute.

Looking forward to 2022, Recbio will continue to uphold our
initial aspiration of “protecting human health with best-in-class
vaccines”, focus on novel vaccines for major diseases, strengthen
innovation and R&D capabilities in cutting-edge technologies in
the global vaccine industry, concentrate resources to facilitate the
commercialization of key pipelines, promote management reform
to stimulate organizational vitality, and increase the efficiency of
mutual conversion between technology and capital, so as to allow
our products to benefit mankind as soon as possible and create
greater value for our Shareholders!

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
Dr. LIU Yong
Chairman of the Board and General Manager

Jiangsu Province, the PRC
April 20, 2022
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last three* financial years, as extracted from the
audited financial information and financial statements is set out

below:

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Annual Report 2021
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Financial Highlights
MBERHE

B RBZPEER KRR AR E il = (@
MRFENEEREERABZMENT :

RERBERAEMEEKER

For the year ended December 31,

BZ12B31BLEE

2021 2020 2019
20214 20204 2019%F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT ARBTT
Other income and gains H b A R s 27,810 9,551 12,932
Loss before tax BRE AT &R (657,566) (179,400) (138,270)
Loss for the year FREE (657,566) (179,400) (138,270)
Loss attributable to owners SAREA ARGEIR (657,561) (179,400) (138,270)
of the parent
Loss per share — Basic and diluted T EE — EAREE (1.56) (0.58) (0.48)
(in RMB) (AE®)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL #&GREeMBRRE
POSITION
As at December 31,
M12A31H
2021 2020 2019
20214 20204 20194
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®ET T AR®ET T
Total non-current assets JERBEELRTE 624,649 337,638 115,895
Total current assets MBNEERRE 1,294,571 709,376 310,650
Total current liabilities M ERRE 139,293 57,481 17,798
Net current assets MBEEFRE 1,155,278 651,895 292,852
Total assets less current liabilities BEMABRMEEE 1,779,927 989,533 408,747
Total non-current liabilities FEmBEELEE 106,631 1,998,317 728,294
Total (deficit)/equity (4, REwiesE 1,673,296 (1,008,784) (319,547)
* The H Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock * HEER & E R BB 18AE R 20224 3 A31H

Exchange under Chapter 18A of the Listing Rules on March

31, 2022.

R R PTEMR BT e
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Management Discussion and Analysis R P

BEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW
Overview

Founded in 2012, we are a vaccine company dedicated to the
research, development and commercialization of subunit vaccines,
with a high-value subunit vaccine portfolio driven by in-house
developed technologies. We primarily focus on the R&D of HPV
vaccine candidates. Our vaccine portfolio currently consists of
12 vaccines, including our Core Product, REC603, a recombinant
HPV 9-valent vaccine under phase Ill clinical trial.

Through years of dedication and focus on this area, we have
developed a comprehensive vaccine innovation engine consisting
of a novel adjuvant platform, protein engineering platform and
immunological evaluation platform. These platforms empower
us to continue to discover and develop subunit vaccines that
apply advancing technologies in our vaccine candidates. We are
one of the few companies that are capable of developing novel
adjuvants, benchmarking all of the FDA-approved novel adjuvants
to date. Our technology platforms form a solid trifecta, creating
synergies among the design and optimization of antigens, the
development and production of adjuvants and the identification of
the optimal combinations of antigens and adjuvants. We have also
established an IPD System, enabling us to advance the R&D of
multiple vaccine candidates simultaneously. Guided by our “OPTI”
vaccine development philosophy, we have established a vaccine
portfolio consisting of 12 candidates, strategically extending to
five of the ten diseases with the greatest burden under the 2019
Global Burden of Diseases assessed by DALYs issued by the
WHO and covering disease areas of three of the top five globally
bestselling vaccine products in 2020.

We have started to build our manufacturing capabilities at an early
stage, aiming at ensuring our vaccine candidates to smoothly
transferred into successful commercial vaccine products. We are
constructing our HPV vaccine manufacturing facility in Taizhou,
Jiangsu province, the first phase of which has a designed
capacity of five million doses of HPV 9-valent vaccines or 30
million doses of HPV bivalent vaccines per year. The construction
of the first phase of our HPV manufacturing facility is expected
to be completed by the end of 2022. In addition, we completed
the construction of our GMP-standard manufacturing facility for
ReCOV in November 2021. This manufacturing facility, which
can also be used for the manufacturing of recombinant shingles
vaccines, has a total GFA of approximately 17,000 sgq.m. and has
the potential to support an annual manufacturing capacity of 300
million doses of ReCOV.

s =/
X E EE
BmE

BFR—KR2012F 8T HMEB AR BOARD
BEMEENAEREEL BESBEDRENER
HE  WHEEWENREMAMES BKMEEHT
RHPVIREZE M - BRIRMAOEEHEE12
FEH BEBRMAMNZOEMRRECE03 - —REM
HPVALEZHE - BATEN IR RSB -

BREMELESZFORARET  RAMAET
— AR REAFSIE  BEFEEEFS &R
ITRFakPEFEFR  -ZEFaERMEAT
B R KA DEMEE  EREEETRERLE
By - RMIRDEERARNAEFEBEKH QA
22— BEHEIZFTE B BIC ESFDARL AR AL
B o RMMNBIMFEEEREKE=A]  ERRE
KB - EBIE R & A E A R BETE LR R AR B /Y
REAAFTEFERBRBE - ZMIRERZIPDER
& FR IR SR B S R R B A -
BRAMNZEHMZIES - BIKe  BE - Bl LA
BERE(TOPTI)) r HMEEYHI12FEREHA
REEEAS  HERAEEEESHEEREHA
BN 2010F B MHDALY S EM(EIER A
EYFEEREMIONERTRSTE - U K20204F
EHEGHENSEREERTRNIEMBEENERE
18 o

IIF

R ERHERAREIRMNEERD  §F
BRERMAREE EIEMNE (AR EEIER
Em e RMERIHEFMMEZRMOHPVES
EEEN - —HNRFTERABFS500BEIHPV
BREN0ASEHPYV_EBRE - ZMHHPVER
A E L — BRI R TE AT IR 2022 SR SERK © LA
IR 2021F 11 A5 T ReCOVRIGMPIZE A =
EMMER c REEEM T AREEEET KA
PREE  BEEEBAE17,000FHK - BAEE
300 E BAIReCOVHI FEERE ©
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Our Vaccine Pipeline EMNEEER

Our vaccine portfolio strategically covered six disease areas with KM ZEHAABKEHWEE T2HRANEEBEEX
significant burden globally, including HPV, COVID-19, shingles, B#/MNAKAMRED  SFEHPV - FIEHA - HikAE
adult TB, flu and HFMD. As of the Latest Practicable Date, our %  KA&&ZFE REEFREORK - HERBEE
vaccine portfolio consisted of 12 vaccine candidates. In particular, AI{TEH - HFANKEHBLEBIE127 1I9§Lf o K
our Core Product, REC603, a recombinant HPV 9-valent vaccine  BI2 @ HM&9#% O ESRREC603 (—REHAHPVNE
candidate, was in the process of phase Ill clinical trial in China. {F®E& &) EAETBETIIHEKRAER - ﬁﬁﬂ‘ﬁﬁqﬂ
We are also conducting clinical trials for two recombinant HPV ~ BTN ELLHHPY = {?’LF B ER IR AR - AR
bivalent vaccines in China and ReCOV, a recombinant COVID-19  4MNETTReCOV (— S BAFBITABRRZ E ) HER R
vaccine candidate overseas. P o

The following table summarizes our vaccine pipeline as of the TERBMAHZEZEZERAITAHRMNEEER -
Latest Practicable Date.

R&D Status

Product Commercial N .
G 8 2 Future Milestone
Diseases  Candidates  Type of Vaccine Adjuvant Systems Rights's Rights  ————— W}fﬁ%‘l —_— T
. ) e “ re-clinical Filing ~ Phase hase ase HE
WIE REER HEER EBRGE EmERe [EZ o o
B AR AT INDE 3§ 15 15 Ik
pecgs R HPYOantaeeine Al Self-developed Global . — Expected to submit BLA application in 2025
EENEHPVRE SRR BEMH 21 ' B4t 20255 1R XBLAS K
Cervical . . |
Recombi HPV bivak | |
Cancers & [N o ;;: 1“',:,81';;) mdhn' ket Alum Self-developed Global I I Expected o submit BLA application in 2025
Genital Ypes 1671 . oy " B _ 2025 R RBLARE
o = (16/18) HPVEE S GRS = | I ;
TEE . i |
s [ E.e;:e’fz‘/'f‘l")‘gfun:'wb"‘ Alum Self-developed Global Expected to submit BLA application in 2025
- SE—F (611) HPVEE et BERE 304 TEAT2025F 1R R BLAR
! i Undisclosed novel
— ﬁfnﬁ:ﬁ;xz"m"am HeY § ;;;\;f:m B Self-developed ol Expected o submit IND filing in 2022
" o o 5x
EREANBHPVAE SRR LR = B 20024 RINDE
RECE0H a‘fj;_"ve;‘c‘::"@"f:z‘”"""‘ U"fj]?:‘f:i Lt Self-developed G S Expected o submit IND filing in 2023
FE-REBNEHPVEH FRBEFAEEO B 23 TB3H2023F 1R XINDER IR
ReCOV Recombinant COVID-19 vaccine AL N T Expected to submit EUA/BLA application in 2022
COVID-19 BRFTHAEE : AfEFRY k=S T3120224 12 XEUA/BLASIE
FRH4 mMRNA COVID-19 Vaccine Co-developed Global Expected to submit IND filing in 2022H1
RS0A - RNAFER A : AfERED 2y D TEETR200F H 4 R XINDS
Shingles REC610 Recombinant shingles vaccine U"da‘j?"’f:dl L Self-developed Global - Expected to submit IND filing in 2022, BLA application in 2024
uvan ; 2 o B
HRES ERBRRERE méwmw BEmE 25 20224 R RINDHRR - 20244 1R AXBLAFEE
Recgyy Vs vectord adu TB vacine License-in® Gitl Expected to submit IND filing in 2023, BLA application in 2026
Adult TB RARHAENEAE : GREE 23 ThiH2023F FEXINDH R - 2026 2 XBLAE
INi Recombinant adult TB vaccine Self-developed Global Expected to submit IND filing in 2023, BLA application in 2026
RECOOS gt Assimmess BRAOI aEwE sy D 2023 XINDEH 2026 R ZBLASRHH
- Recombinant influenza quadrivalent vaccine U"?z\'}?:ﬁﬂ?ve] Self-developed Global Expected to submit IND filing in 2023, BLA application in 2025
EENEREAE B [EESt 23 BH2003FRRIND B - 2025F I RBLARE
HFMD REceps  Recombinat HEMD quadiivalent vaceine Alum Self-developed Global Expected to submit IND filing in 2023, BLA application in 2026
FROK EANEFRORES BRI AEHE 23 » BT 20235 1R R INDH R 20264 R RBLAR
o o Pt Major National Science and Technology Project
AR S 198 5% TR R P I T

—
=
—

ReCOV was co-developed with Jiangsu Province Center (1) ReCOVE’\]/—\f’EEﬁ?“FZ%fI & R J7 TE R 122 i R
for Disease Control and Prevention and the Management DERMNBESHENEXAEREELZEE -
Committee of Taizhou Medical New & Hi-tech Industrial

Development Zone.

)

REC607 was licensed in from Shanghai Public Health (2) REC607 KT EF B L/B8™ A KT ERIKF

Clinical Center, ID Pharma Co., Ltd. and Shanghai Saimo Lx ~ ID Pharma Co., Ltd. % /8824 YT
Biotechnology Ltd. BRARIFFAI 5|

&

“Undisclosed novel adjuvant” refers to a novel self-developed  (3) [REBHEAEE  BEREEEFBHEANE
novel adjuvant to be adopted in the vaccine candidate. EH BRI EEH -
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Our Core Product, REC603, obtained the umbrella IND
approval from the NMPA in July 2018. The umbrella IND
approval covers all three phases (phase I, Il and Ill) clinical
trials of REC603. Based on communications with the CDE
of the NMPA, the NMPA has no objection for us to proceed
phase IlI clinical trial in China directly. Accordingly, we did not
conduct any phase Il clinical trial for REC603.

All of our self-developed product candidates, including
those developed prior to the acquisition of Beijing ABZYMO
in January 2019 are co-developed and co-owned by Beijing
ABZYMO and us. For details, see “History, Development and
Corporate Structure” of the Prospectus.

We obtained the preliminary data for the phase | New
Zealand trial for ReCOV in October 2021 and we are currently
finalizing data analysis and clinical trial report for such trial.
Based on the partial unblinded data from the phase | trial, we
subsequently obtained the IND approval for ReCOV to conduct
multicenter phase Il/Ill trial in January 2022. We plan to submit
the EUA/BLA application for ReCQOV in 2022.

R520A is a mRNA COVID-19 vaccine candidate developed
by Wuhan Recogen, a joint venture established by us and
our business partners for the R&D and commercialization of
mRNA vaccines. As of the Latest Practicable Date, we owned
55% of the equity interest in Wuhan Recogen. For details, see
“Summary - Recent Development and No Material Adverse
Change.” of the Prospectus.

HPV Vaccine Pipeline

HPV is the most common viral pathogen of the reproductive
tract. Although HPV infections may clear up within a few months
without any intervention, certain types of HPVs can persist and
progress to cervical cancer. These high-risk HPV infections are
mainly caused by HPV types 16, 18, 31, 33, 45, 52 and 58, which
account for approximately 90% of cervical cancer cases globally.
It is widely accepted that HPV vaccine can play an important role
in eliminating cervical cancer as it can prevent HPV infection on
certain high risk types. In addition, some cancers of the anus,
vulva, vagina, and oropharynx and most genital warts can be
prevented by HPV vaccines.

(4) H IO ERREC603 201847 AE R
FREes R INDHE - R INDHEE S
REC603 G /K50 80 F1 A SEFS B2 (BDIER - 1157
RINER) - RIEABRREERERFTFOLOE
B BREERITTRYUBMEEEFBET
IEAER R+t 5 - At - BB REC603H#
TR BB R B o

(5) BMFE B X HEMNREER - BIFEN20194F
1AL R LB BARAENER  HARERR
BRERMERRERES - BHEFE - 52
BHERERIEL  ZEERAARE] -

(6) IR 20214F10 A %15 T ReCOV I BRFTAAH &
BNV EE BRI FTEHZAREZEEES
MEBRABERE - ERIHEBRNITSBEH
& RMBEZ R 20225 1 &S ReCOVAIIND
B - ATEITZ RO/ EA SR - BRI 8K
2022F AReCOVIEREUA/BLAF S °

(7) R520AR —HHRERBH (RMEEKEH
AMRNAZHMERFELCKIH—REE
%) AEAMRNAFT R A EREE - HEA&
EEATAE  BMEARERFHH55%
BRE - FIEFLHBRER(HME - LHER
MEERTHEE] -

HPVER H & &

HPVE & EEMAEEBRSRIRE - BEHPVER
AEEESEARNBAETEMTREEDEK - B5
TFHANBRADAFEYREATEE - 2556
FIHPVR R FEE R 168 « 184 « 314! « 337! - 45
A . 52RI R 58FUHPV S| - BT 2EKAI90% =
R o TiRA A HPVER B EER S A& S mal
RIEBESENER  BAHEAENE TRAEEMNHPY
R o pEoh - BTPT - SR -~ B2dE & DR A — LR e
NR Z B VA RS E Pl B AHPV & & 2R T8 o
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REC603 — Phase Il Stage HPV 9-Valent Vaccine — Our Core
Product

REC603, our Core Product, is designed to provide protection
against HPV types 6, 11, 16, 18, 31, 33, 45, 52 and 58. It is
expected that REC603 will be one of the first of domestic vaccines
of its kind to be approved and commercialized in China.

Summary of Clinical Trial: We applied, and obtained the
umbrella IND approval for REC603 in July 2018. The umbrella IND
approval covers all three phases (phase |, Il and Ill) of clinical
trials. In March 2019, we commenced the phase | clinical trial of
REC603 in China. We completed phase | clinical trial of REC603
in China in July 2020. Based on communications with the CDE of
the NMPA, the NMPA has no objection for us to proceed phase Il
clinical trial in China directly. Accordingly, we did not conduct any
phase Il clinical trial for REC603.

We are in the process of conducting phase Il clinical trial in
China, which we have completed 12,500 subjects enrollment for
the potency tests. We plan to complete the three-shot dosing in
the first half of 2022 and to submit BLA application to the NMPA
for REC603 in 2025. Since obtaining the IND approval in China,
no material unexpected or adverse changes in relation to REC603
have occurred.
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Advantages of REC603: We believe our REC603 has various
advantages, including:

Positive immunogenicity profile. REC603 demonstrates a positive
immunogenicity profile in its phase | clinical trial. In general, we
observed a significant increase in terms of NAb GMT level against
all of the target HPV types.

High-yield and stable production of HPV VLPs. REC603 adopts H.
polymorpha expression system. In general, the VLPs expressed
from different expression systems are all highly similar to natural
HPV capsid in structure and epitope in order to trigger immune
response after vaccination, including those being produced by H.
polymorpha expression system. H. polymorpha, a methylotrophic
yeast species, is able to grow to very high cell density rapidly
on simple media and has relatively high optimum growth
temperature. Owing to its strong and tunable promoters derived
from the methanol utilization pathway, high secretion capacity,
and lower hyperglycosylation activity compared to S. cerevisiae,
H. polymorpha is suitable for production of recombinant proteins
for medical use. With high copies of expression cassettes
integrated stably in the genome of H. polymorpha, high-yield and
stable expression of HPV VLPs is achieved, making our vaccine
candidate more suitable for commercial production.

Favorable safety profile. REC603 was safe and well-tolerated
as shown in the phase | clinical trial for REC603. There were
no statistical differences in terms of incidences of AEs between
the vaccine group and the placebo group. Although there is
currently no available paper reporting a head-to-head clinical trial
comparing domestic HPV vaccines and foreign HPV vaccines,
in the clinical trial conducted by Merck Sharp & Dohme for
Gardasil 9 in 2009, the rate of adverse event was 86.6% among
subjects enrolled in the vaccine cohort, as compared to 53.75%
as observed in the phase | clinical trial of REC603.? The main
adverse reactions were expected fever and inject site pain, mostly
were transient and mild.

2 The above information was derived from multiple clinical
trials conducted for different vaccines without the support of
controlled, head-to-head studies, and a number of factors
(including the different subject enrollment standards adopted
in different trials, different population characteristics of
subjects, physicians' inoculation skills and experiences, and
lifestyle of the subjects) could affect the relevant clinical
results and could render cross-trial comparison results less
meaningful.
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Scalable manufacturing potential. Our patented technology in HPV
VLPs in combination with optimized fermentation strategy and
purification process enable us to achieve high and stable yield
in bulk production. With well-defined critical process parameters,
manufacturing of REC603 can be easily scaled-up to meet the
market demand domestically and globally.

Opportunities and potentials: e believe there are significant
opportunities for our HPV vaccine candidates, considering the
following factors:

Superiority of HPV 9-valent vaccines. In general, HPV 9-valent
vaccines can provide protection against 90% of cervical cancer
and 90% of the anal and genital warts and therefore are the most
recommended vaccines for HPV protection. However, to the best
knowledge and information of the Company with reference to
independent market research, currently there is only one HPV
9-valent vaccine approved in China, and it is expected HPV
9-valent vaccines will account for a larger market share in China
after more HPV 9-valent vaccines are approved in China.

Significantly underserved HPV 9-valent market in China. To the
best knowledge and information of the Company with reference
to independent market research, even taking into account of
the expected growth in vaccination rate of HPV vaccines, there
will be 233.9 million females aged 9 to 45 unvaccinated for HPV
in 2025, representing a potentially total of 701.7 million doses
needed. In addition, the types of HPV serotypes that can infect
women can also infect men. Studies have also shown that, males
also have similar rates of HPV infection as females. As such, we
believe China’s HPV vaccine market is, and will continue to be
significantly underserved.
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A IEEAEEE S - BRIPIEHPVRSEER S EH
BREME S BB R A TE - FHRM
EHTHEXAETERBENRES - REHREN
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MARREREBIMBMEEMNAMEEE ' B
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HPVEZEMHHE—EWBEERETR -
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Domestic Substitute. To the best knowledge and information of
the Company with reference to independent market research,
the first domestic bivalent HPV vaccine accounted for 66.7%
within the bivalent section of China's HPV market in terms of
production value in the first year of its launch by virtue of its cost
effectiveness, even if it was only approved in 2019 whereas the
first imported bivalent HPV vaccine was approved in China in
2016. We believe considering that domestic vaccine products
tend to adopt more favorable prices as compared to their global
peers, HPV 9-valent vaccines will follow a similar trend in China
after being approved. In recent years, Chinese government has
also promulgated policies in favor of domestic HPV vaccine
developers. For example, in 2019, the National Health Commission
of the People’s Republic of China released the “Healthy China
Action — Cancer Prevention and Control Implementation Plan
(2019-2022)", stating to accelerate the review and approval
process of domestic HPV vaccines and improve the accessibility
of HPV vaccines. As one of the few domestic vaccine companies
to have phase Ill stage HPV 9-valent vaccine candidate, we
believe we will benefit from such favorable government policies in
the future.

Broader age application. To the best knowledge and information
of the Company, HPV 9-valent vaccine available in the market
in China was only approved for females aged between 16 to 26
years. Our Core Product, REC603, has also initiated phase Il
clinical trial for females aged 9 to 45 years in 2021, indicating a
potential broader coverage in terms of age as compared to the
current approved vaccines.

Next-generation HPV vaccines under development. We are also
developing next generation quadrivalent and 9-valent HPV vaccine
candidates with novel adjuvants, which are designed to adopt a
two-shot regimen without compromising the efficacy/safety profile
of vaccine candidates, and are potentially superior as compared
to the commercialized products as they are all adopting three-
shot regimen.

Having considered the Company’s accumulation of phase Ill
clinical trial sample size domestically in China and its decision to
conduct the trial at clinical sites with higher HPV infection rate,
it is expected that REC603 will be one of the first of domestic
vaccines of its kind to be approved and commercialized in China.
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Cautionary Statement required under Rule 18A.08(3) of the
Listing Rules: We cannot guarantee that we will ultimately
develop or market our Core Product successfully.
Shareholders and potential investors of our Company are
advised to exercise due care when dealing in the Shares of
our Company.

REC601 - Phase | Stage HPV Bivalent (Type 16/18) Vaccine

The bivalent vaccine candidates are designed as HPV protection
solutions for people with different affordability and have the
potential to be included in the national vaccination regime in
China and other jurisdictions. Due to cost advantage of the
bivalent HPV vaccine, it may become the mainstream vaccine for
developing countries.

We are developing a bivalent HPV vaccine candidate, namely
REC601, targeting HPV types 16 and 18, which are the main
cause for a majority of cervical cancer cases. Currently, we are
conducting data evaluation and analysis on the phase | trial
in China. REC601 adopts a similar MoA with the recombinant
HPV 9-valent vaccine. We currently expect to submit the BLA
application to the NMPA in 2025.

REC602 - Phase | Stage HPV Bivalent (Type 6/11) Vaccine

We are also developing REC602, a bivalent HPV vaccine
candidate targeting HPV 6/11, which is currently under phase |
clinical trial in China. We currently expect to complete the phase
| trial in 2022 and to submit the BLA application to the NMPA in
2025. REC602 adopts a similar MoA with the recombinant HPV
9-valent vaccine.
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REC604a and REC604b — Early-Stage HPV Vaccines Formulated
with Novel Adjuvant

Supported by our strong technology platforms, we are exploring
opportunities to develop HPV vaccines formulated with novel
adjuvant, namely REC604a and REC604b. Unlike the traditional
alum adjuvant we are currently using, we are conducting
early-stage development of next-generation HPV 9-valent and
quadrivalent vaccines formulated with a novel self-developed
adjuvant, benchmarking AS04. Based on existing studies,
compared to Merck's Gardasil, GSK’s AS04-adjuvanted Cervarix
has demonstrated strong cross-protection effectiveness with
higher titers of neutralizing antibodies in clinical trials, suggesting
that novel adjuvants can enhance the immunogenicity of HPV
vaccines. With the enhanced efficacy and immunogenicity profile
our REC604a and REC604b, they are designed to adopt a two-
shot regimen. In an animal study conducted in mice, REC604a
with a two-shot dosing has demonstrated its non-inferiority in
terms of GMT level as compared to Gardasil with a three-shot
dosing.

We are currently developing REC604a and REC604b. We plan to
submit the IND application to the NMPA for REC604a in 2022 and
REC604b in 2023.

COVID-19 Vaccines

Since late 2019, the COVID-19 pandemic had caused a
devastating social and economic impact in China and worldwide.
COVID-19 has claimed more than 6 million lives reported by WHO
Dashboard and is still circulating globally. Safe and effective
vaccines are critical to controlling the COVID-19 pandemic. We
are currently developing two COVID-19 vaccines.

ReCOV — Phase Il/lll Stage COVID-19 Vaccine Candidate

Summary of Clinical Trial: For our recombinant COVID-19
vaccine, ReCOV, we have initiated a phase | clinical trial in New
Zealand. We have obtained safety data for 99 subjects as well as
the unblinded clinical data for all the four cohorts as of the Latest
Practicable Date. We also obtained the clinical trial approval from
the Philippines FDA to conduct the global phase /Il trial for
ReCOV in January 2022. As of the Latest Practicable Date, we
had completed subject enrollment for the global phase Il/Ill trial
for ReCOV in the Philippines, and also received approval from
the Ministry of Health and Prevention of the United Arab Emirates
to conduct a phase II/Ill clinical study of sequential booster
vaccination to evaluate the immunogenicity and safety of ReCOV
as a heterologous booster in adult subjects.

REC604a X REC604b — FHIHPV R & (& FA#T 2 1
AAC#)

EEMAERANEMEENIIET  HMERRH
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REC604b) - BE M B AIEAMNBERBEB TR
BMEXT—RAEBROEHPVEERE R BN
B OWRRTAEHEMNEIZEASO4R ARG E -
RIFBW AT - ME R MerckAIGardasil * GSKH
Cervarix (£ AAS04 4 A fEEG R &L B &9 R F
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Advantages of ReCOV: e believe our ReCOV has the following
advantages:
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Novel mechanism of action. ReCOV uses an optimized antigen,
which is an NTD-RBD-foldon trimer, highly expressed by CHO
cells, and can form a structure highly similar to that of the natural
S protein. Compared with full-length S protein antigens, the
NTD-RBD-foldon trimer antigen is enriched with key epitopes,
translating to potentially stronger immunogenicity, and higher
protein yield. Compared with RBD subunit vaccines, the NTD-
RBD-foldon trimer antigen contains more conserved epitopes and
has better cross-protection against emerging variants.

Protection against emerging variants. Based on the relevant
studies conducted by our Group, ReCOV has shown favourable
neutralizing effect and immune persistence against variants
including Omicron variant and Delta variant.

Positive safety profile and efficacy. In our phase | clinical trial
in New Zealand, ReCOV has demonstrated positive safety and
immunogenicity profile and no incidences of vaccine-related SAEs
were experienced. Based on the partial unblinded data of Cohort |
of the phase | trial of ReCOV, the GMT of SARS-CoV-2 neutralizing
antibodies amounts to 1,643.2 IU/mL after two doses of ReCOV.
The above information was derived from multiple clinical trials
conducted for different vaccines, without the support of controlled,
head-to-head clinical studies. Clinical data from Cohort 1 shows
that 20 pg ReCOV may potentially induce similar or higher level
of neutralizing antibodies than other marketed mRNA COVID-19
vaccines and vaccine candidates, predicting a potential positive
efficacy of ReCOV in preventing SARS-CoV-2 induced diseases.

Highly stable. Our ReCOV is stable for at least three months at
room temperature and is expected to be stable for at least 24
months in the standard cold chain, based on our ongoing stability
studies. The strong stability profile makes our ReCOV suitable for
large population inoculation in developing countries and regions
in hot climates with limited cold-chain logistics and infrastructure.
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R520A — Preclinical Stage mRNA COVID-19 Vaccine

In August 2021, together with our business partners including
Shenzhen Rhegen, we established a joint venture, namely Wuhan
Recogen for the R&D and commercialization of mRNA vaccines.
As the first step of this collaboration, we are developing R520A,
a preclinical stage mRNA COVID-19 vaccine candidate, which
specifically targets Omicron variant. R520A adopts a self-
developed lyophilization technology. Through this approach,
we can effectively sustain the physiochemical properties and
bioactivity of mRNA-LNP and achieve long-term storage at 2°C
- 8°C. We are currently conducting preclinical R&D activities for
R520A and we plan to submit the IND application to the NMPA or
other competent authorities overseas in the first half of 2022.

Shingles Vaccine

RECE610 - IND-Enabling Recombinant Shingles Vaccine Candidate

We are evaluating opportunities to use in-house developed novel
adjuvants in REC610 a recombinant shingles vaccine. It adopts
a similar recombinant protein technology as Shingrix®, and has
shown to have non-inferior immunogenicity compared to Shingrix®
in animal studies. We have addressed previous technological
pain points to develop a complex adjuvant system to augment
immunogenicity. Moreover, we plan to apply our manufacturing
know-how for the COVID-19 vaccine to REC610, which will enable
synergistic manufacturing at the commercial stage. We are
currently conducting preclinical research and development with
respect to REC610 and we plan to submit the IND application to
the NMPA in 2022.

TB Vaccine Pipeline
REC607 — Early-stage Virus Vectored Adult TB Vaccine Candidate

We have entered into a technology transfer agreement with
Shanghai Public Health Clinical Center, among others, pursuant to
which we obtained the know-how and patents with the exclusive
global development rights of REC607, a virus vectored adult TB
vaccine candidate. This program was recognized as a Major
National Science and Technology Project (IR FEHEE A ZIHERE)
in 2018. We are currently conducting preclinical R&D for our adult
vector vaccine and we plan to submit the IND application in 2023
and the BLA application to the NMPA in 2026.

R520A — E& K B e B mRINAFT T it 2 5 B
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REC606 — Early-stage Recombinant Adult TB Vaccine Candidate

We are also conducting early-stage study with respect to a
recombinant adult TB vaccine, namely REC606. Our self-
developed REC606 utilized both of the protein engineering
platform and new adjuvant technology platform, which has the
potential to result in better safety profile and immune response.
We have implemented systematic immunogen design and
expression, as well as purification and we are conducting the
animal challenge studies. We expect to conclude the preferred
vaccine antigen upon the test result. We plan to submit the IND
application in 2023 and BLA application to the NMPA in 2026.

Other Disease Areas

REC617 — Early-stage Recombinant Influenza Quadrivalent
Vaccine Candidate

We are developing REC617, an early-stage recombinant influenza
quadrivalent vaccine and are developing novel adjuvants to
enhance tolerability, immunogenicity, length of protection and
cross-protection capability. We plan to submit the IND application
for REC617 to the NMPA in the first half of 2023 and we currently
expect we will submit the BLA application to the NMPA in 2025.

REC605 — Early-Stage HFMD Quadrivalent Vaccine Candidate

We are leveraging our protein engineering technology to develop
a multi-valent hand-foot-and-mouth vaccine, REC605, with
increased serotype coverage of EV71, CA16, CA10 and CA6 and
enhanced protection. We plan to submit the IND application to the
NMPA for REC605 in 2023 and the BLA application in 2026.

Our Technology Platforms

We have developed three advanced technology platforms
for novel adjuvant development, protein engineering and
immunological evaluation. These platforms empower us to
continue to discover and develop subunit vaccines that apply
advancing technologies in our vaccine candidates.
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Novel adjuvant platform

Adjuvants are substances that are used in conjunction with
antigens to assist in antigen presentation and enhance immune
responses. Conventionally, only the alum adjuvant was widely
used in vaccines for human use. Since the early 21st century,
novel adjuvants have been widely applied in the vaccine industry
gradually, and created vaccine products that can stimulate higher
and broader immune response. As of the Latest Practicable Date,
to the best knowledge and information of the Company, only five
novel adjuvants had been applied in FDA-approved vaccines for
human use, namely ASO1, AS03, AS04, CpG1018, and MF59, the
components of which have been in the public domain for over 20
years. Through this platform, we are one of the few companies
that have been able to develop adjuvant, benchmarking all of
these FDA-approved adjuvants. This capability has enabled us
to not rely on any particular adjuvant supplier. In addition, our
platform also empowers us to discover and apply new adjuvants
in the next generation vaccine candidates.

Protein engineering platform

Our protein engineering platform utilizes a structure-based
immunogen design approach to provide antigen optimization
solutions for the development of subunit vaccines based on multi-
disciplinary studies. This platform enables us to rapidly target and
prepare pathogen-derived antigens, to define the structural basis
of antigenicity, to understand mechanisms of immune protection
and to guide rational immunogen design, which are critical steps
in our vaccine development. In addition, our protein engineering
platform can elicit immune response in different expression
systems, including E.coli, H. polymorpha, baculovirus and CHO
cell expression systems, among others. With this diversified
expression system toolbox, we are able to select and apply
the most suitable expression systems in vaccine development.
Through this platform, we are capable of rapidly advancing the
development of our COVID-19 and HPV vaccine candidates.
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Immunological evaluation platform

To elucidate the mechanism of immune protection for emerging
and re-emerging infectious diseases, immunological evaluation
is a critical step in subunit vaccine discovery and development.
With this platform, we are able to select the optimal antigen and
adjuvant combination and in turn improve immunogenicity profile
of our candidates. The immunological evaluation process involves
multiple disciplines, including immunology, biology, molecular
biology and clinical chemistry. Our core scientific team began to
build our immunological evaluation platform as early as 2004 and
we became one of the first in China to have such a platform. With
this platform, we are one of the first companies that can conduct
pseudoviral neutralization, ELISPOT, and ICS tests in China, which
have been used in the development of our vaccine candidates.

Research and Development

R&D is crucial to our sustainable success. We are led by a core
scientific team with over 20 years of experience in the research,
development and commercialization of vaccine products,
including working experience at the Centre for Disease Control
and Prevention in China. As of the Latest Practicable Date, our in-
house R&D team consisted of over 100 talented personnel, most of
them held masters or doctorate degrees in immunology, pathogen
biology, clinical medicine or other related areas. Benefiting from
our IPD System, our R&D team comprises four different product
development teams, namely the vaccine innovation core, process
research core, comprehensive R&D core and R&D quality core.
Our R&D team is primarily located in our Beijing R&D center
and our Taizhou R&D base and are responsible for the full-cycle
vaccine development.
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Our IPD System lays a solid foundation for our R&D activities. The
IPD System governs the entire life cycle of vaccine candidates.
We conduct market demand analysis for our vaccine candidates
at the early stage of vaccine development. Such analysis will
serve as the basis of our vaccine development program to ensure
our vaccine products can meet the market demand. In addition,
under the IPD System, our R&D resources are allocated for the
goals of each R&D project. As vaccine development involves a
complex and multi-disciplinary process, for each vaccine project
we will assign a designated project manager and establish
a product development team, consisting of employees from
technology platforms and related departments including clinical
and regulatory affairs, manufacturing, quality control and quality
assurance. In addition, our management team are responsible for
crucial decision-making and technical review at key points during
the R&D process to ensure the R&D development can satisfy our
R&D protocol and the applicable legal and quality requirements.
Empowered by the IPD System, we have been able to advance
multiple vaccine development programs simultaneously.

We have developed three advanced technology platforms
for novel adjuvant development, protein engineering and
immunological evaluation. These platforms empower us to
continue to discover and develop subunit vaccines that apply
advanced technologies in our vaccine candidates. Our technology
platforms have formed a solid trifecta, creating synergies in
antigen design optimization, the development and production of
adjuvants, and the formulating of the combination of the optimal
antigen-adjuvant combination. Supported by these platforms, we
have developed several vaccine candidates. We are constantly
upgrading our technology platforms to further enrich our R&D
toolbox and we believe that our technology platforms will continue
to drive our vaccine candidates development going forward.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, our total research and
development costs amounted to RMB473.0 million and we had
not capitalized any research and development costs for the same
period.
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Our R&D activities have primarily been conducted at our Beijing
R&D center and Taizhou headquarter. Our Beijing R&D center
is equipped with a pilot plant mainly for the pre-IND process
development and has laboratories for vaccine discovery with
a GFA of approximately 4,000 square meter. Our Taizhou
headquarter R&D facility has a GFA of approximately 3,800 square
meters and four pilot plants, mainly for the manufacturing of our
clinical trial samples and process development. Our R&D facilities
can also support the manufacturing and development of novel
adjuvants. Most of our vaccine candidates used in our clinical
trials have been manufactured by our in-house manufacturing
team, including our HPV vaccine pipeline.

In anticipation of the market demand of our clinical-stage vaccine
candidates, we have started to prepare for the commercial
manufacturing of our vaccine candidates. We are constructing our
HPV vaccine manufacturing facility in Taizhou, Jiangsu province,
the first phase of which has a designed capacity of five million
doses of HPV 9-valent vaccines or 30 million doses of HPV
bivalent vaccines per year. The construction of the first phase of
our HPV manufacturing facility is expected to be completed by
the end of 2022. In addition, we completed the construction of
our GMP-standard manufacturing facility for ReCOV in Taizhou,
Jiangsu province in November 2021. The manufacturing facility,
which can also be used for the manufacturing of recombinant
shingles vaccines, has a total GFA of approximately 17,000 sqg.m.
and has the potential to support an annual manufacturing capacity
of 300 million doses of ReCOV.

We have engaged third-party CMOs and manufacturers to
produce vaccine samples for our clinical trials, aiming for an
efficient and more cost effective process. We have also adopted
stringent procedures to ensure the facilities and production
qualifications of our CMOs are in compliance with the relevant
regulatory requirements and all of our CMOs are GMP certified.
We selected a limited number of industry-leading third-
party CMOs based on their qualification, relevant expertise,
manufacturing capacity, track record and the contract terms.
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As of the Latest Practicable Date, we did not have any
commercialized products. We have formulated clear
commercialization strategy for our clinical-stage vaccine
candidates, namely HPV vaccines, COVID-19 vaccines
and recombinant shingles vaccine. In preparation of the
commercialization of our vaccine candidates, we are currently
building our sales team and international business development
team. Our sales team will be responsible for our China sales
and marketing activities in the future and we plan to enter
into collaborations with foreign governments, MNCs, CSOs
and international organizations to commercialize our vaccines
overseas.

Intellectual Property

As a company focusing on the research, development and
commercialization of recombinant vaccine products, we believe
intellectual property are crucial to our business. We actively
seek patent protection for our vaccine candidates in China
and major jurisdictions and file additional patent applications,
when appropriate, to cover certain antigens, strains, proteins,
formulations and production processes. We have developed a
significant portfolio of intellectual property rights to protect our
technologies and products. As of the Latest Practicable Date,
we had registered 10 inventional patents and had 31 patent
applications (29 Chinese patent applications, and 2 PCT patent
applications which can be entered into China upon request before
June 23, 20283). During the year ended December 31, 2021,
we were not involved in any proceedings in respect of, and we
had not received notice of any claims of infringement of, any
intellectual property rights that might be threatened or pending as
claimant or respondent.
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Employees and Remuneration

As of December 31, 2021, the Group had 421 employees, all
of whom were based in China. The total staff costs incurred by
the Group (which are recorded as part of our administrative
expenses and research and development costs) for the year
ended December 31, 2021 was RMB236.9 million, as compared
to RMB43.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2020.
The remuneration package of our employees include wages
and other incentives, which are generally determined by their
qualifications, industry experience, position and performance.
We make contributions to social insurance and housing provident
funds in compliance with applicable PRC laws and regulations in
all material respects. We also enter into standard confidentiality,
intellectual property assignment and non-competition agreements
with our key management and research and development staff,
which typically include a standard non-compete agreement
that prohibits the employee from competing with us, directly or
indirectly, during his or her employment and for two years after
the termination of his or her employment. Employees also sign
acknowledgments regarding service inventions and discoveries
made during the course of his or her employment.
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Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic

As of the Latest Practicable Date, we had not experienced
material disruptions in our operations and business development
as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Although our offices
and R&D facilities were temporarily closed in February 2020,
our operations has resumed in full since March to April 2020 in
accordance with local government policies. Our clinical activities
and development timeline had not experienced any material
disruptions or delays as we had completed subject enroliment and
dosing for the phase | clinical trial of REC603 and REC601 prior
to the COVID-19 outbreak. Even though there were continuous
breakout of COVID-19 pandemic in China, particularly in mid and
second half of 2021, we did not experience any disruption of
operation or delay of clinical trials from the pandemic. Our phase
[l trial for REC603 was carried out as planned. In particular, we
had not experienced any early termination of our clinical trials
or necessitated removal of subjects enrolled in the clinical trial
due to the COVID-19 outbreak during the year ended December
31,
materially and negatively impacted by COVID-19. Our major
domestic suppliers had all resumed normal operations, and none
of our overseas suppliers had reported any material disruption
to their business operations as a result of COVID-19. We have

2021. We currently do not expect our supply chain will be

employed various measures to mitigate the impact of COVID-19 on
our business operations and clinical trials. We are also developing
ReCOQV, a recombinant COVID-19 vaccine candidate, with a novel
adjuvant BFAO3 benchmarking AS03. We commenced a phase |
clinical trial for ReCOV in New Zealand in June 2021 and obtained
the preliminary data in October 2021. Based on the major safety
and immunogenicity data and the partially unblinded efficacy
data from the phase | trial for ReCOV, we subsequently obtained
the clinical trial approval from the Philippines FDA to conduct
the global phase I/l trial for ReCOV in January 2022. We have
initiated subject enroliment for such trial in the Philippines. In
January 2022, we also obtained the unblinded clinical data for
the remaining three cohorts and we were currently finalizing data
analysis and clinical trial report as of the Latest Practicable Date.
We plan to file the EUA/BLA application in 2022.
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Business Outlook

Going forward, leveraging our strengths, we plan to implement
the following strategies, which we believe will further strengthen
our core competitive strengths and enable us to capture rising
business opportunities:

o accelerate the R&D, clinical trial and commercialization of
our vaccine candidates;

o continue to strengthen our R&D capabilities;

o refine our organization structure and human resource
management to enhance our competitiveness; and

o advance our international strategy through “going-out” and
“bringing-in” strategies.

Since December 31, 2021 and up to the Latest Practicable
Date, we have further advanced clinical trials for our vaccine
candidates, and to the best of our knowledge, there is no change
to the overall economic and market condition in China or in the
industry in which we operate that may have a material adverse
effect to our business operations and financial position.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The following discussion is based on, and should be read in
conjunction with, the financial information and the notes included
elsewhere in this annual report.
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Analysis of our Key Items of our Results of Operations REZEBNETERBE S
Other Income and Gains B R as

Our other income and gains increased by 191.2% from RMB9.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2020 to RMB27.8 million
for the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily attributable to
(i) RMB7.8 million increase in bank interest income from RMB2.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2020 to RMB10.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2021 resulting from the
increased cash and bank balances from pre-IPO financing; (ii)
RMB5.8 million in gain on fair value changes of financial assets
from RMB5.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 to
RMB11.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2021; and (iii)
RMB4.7 million increase in government grants from PRC local
government authorities to support research and development of
our vaccine candidates and our operations.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

We recorded selling distribution expenses for an amount of
RMB3.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 mainly
represented the salaries incurred for our sales and marketing
personnel in anticipation the upcoming commercialization of
ReCOV.

Research and Development Costs

Our research and development costs increased by 262.4% from
RMB130.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 to
RMB473.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. Such
increase in research and development costs resulted from the
following:

o RMB107.9 million increase of clinical trial expenses from
RMB5.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 to
RMB113.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2021,
primarily attributable to the initiation of phase Il clinical
trial for our Core Product, REC603, in June 2021 as well as
the initiation of clinical trials for ReCQOV;

o RMB104.8 million increase of staff costs from RMB33.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2020 to RMB138.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily
attributable to the increased share-based compensation to
our R&D personnel for the year ended December 31, 2021
because of the shares we granted to our research and
development personnel for the year ended December 31,
2021; and
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. RMB83.7 million increase of pre-IND expenses from e INDRIBE X & = 2020F 12 A31 HILFE

RMB54.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 to
RMB138.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2021,
primarily attributable to the preclinical studies in relation to
our preclinical stage vaccine candidates.

Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses increased significantly from RMB18.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2020 to RMB143.0 million
for the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily attributable to
(i) an increase in employee costs from RMB9.6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2020 to RMB95.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021 mainly due to the shares we granted to our
administrative personnel; (ii) we incurred listing expenses of
RMB21.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2021; and (iii)
an increase of RMB6.0 million in our utilities and office expenses.

Other Expenses

Our other expenses increased from RMB2.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2020 to RMB9.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021, primarily due to the foreign exchange losses.

Finance Costs

Our finance costs increased by 51.7% from RMB37.1 million for
the year ended December 31, 2020 to RMB56.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2021,
interest on redemption liabilities on owner’s capital and interest on
lease liabilities.

primarily due to an increase in

Analysis of our Key Items of our Financial Position
Property, Plant and Equipment

Our property, plant and equipment primarily consisted of (i)
leasehold improvements; (i) plant and machinery; (iii) furniture
and fixtures; (iv) computer and office equipment; (v) motor
vehicles; and (vi) construction in progress. Our property, plant
and equipment increased from RMB128.5 million as of December
31, 2020, to RMB416.3 million as of December 31, 2021 mainly
due to the increase of construction in progress as we commenced
the construction of our manufacturing facilities.
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Right-of-use Assets

Our right-of-use assets represent (i) leasehold land, representing
the land use right of our manufacturing facility for our HPV
vaccines with an original use right of 50 years; and (ii) leased
properties, representing our leased manufacturing facility for
ReCOV and our leased office building and laboratories. Our
right-of-use assets slightly decreased from RMB57.7 million as
of December 31, 2020 to RMB55.3 million as of December 31,
2021 primarily due to the depreciation of our leasehold land and
properties.

Other Non-current Assets

Our other non-current assets mainly represent our time deposits
and prepayment for purchase of property, plant and equipment.
Our other non-current assets slightly increased from RMB120.0
million as of December 31, 2020 to RMB121.6 million as of
December 31, 2021, primarily due to the increase in prepayment
for purchase of equipment to meet our operational needs.

Prepayments, Other Receivables and Other Assets

Our prepayments, other receivables and other assets increased
from RMB19.9 million as of December 31, 2020 to RMB88.5
million as of December 31, 2021, primarily due to (i) an increase
of RMB40.8 million in value-added tax recoverable because
we procured equipment and construction services for our
manufacturing facilities; (ii) an increase of RMB14.3 million in
prepayments for raw materials which is in line with our clinical trial
progress; and (iii) we incurred RMB11.4 million deferred listing
expenses in relation to our proposed listing.

Financial Assets at FVTPL

Our financial assets at FVTPL decreased from RMB325.9 million
as of December 31, 2020 to nil as of December 31, 2021, primarily
because the structured deposits we purchased were matured and
subsequently we redeemed such financial assets by the end of
2021.

Cash and Bank Balances

Our cash and bank balances increased from RMB355.9 million as
of December 31, 2020 to RMB1,182.6 million as of December 31,
2021, primarily due to primarily due to the redemption of certain
matured structured deposits and the completion of our series B+
and Series C financing.
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Trade payables

Our trade payables increased RMB2.0 million as of December
31, 2020 to RMB16.8 million as of December 31, 2021, primarily
because we negotiated more favorable payment terms with our
suppliers.

Other Payables and Accruals

Our other payables and accruals increased from RMB51.2 million
as of December 31, 2020 to RMB114.6 million as of December
31, 2021, primarily due to (i) an increase in accrued renovation
and construction expenses from RMB11.2 million as of December
31, 2020 to RMB38.4 million as of December 31, 2021 in line
with the construction progress of our manufacturing facilities;
(ii) an increase in staff payroll, welfare and bonus payables from
RMB11.9 million as of December 31, 2020 to RMB24.3 million
as of December 31, 2021 mainly in relation to our business
expansion; and (iii) an increase in accrued research and
development expenses from RMB23.1 million as of December 31,
2020 to RMB29.2 million as of December 31, 2021 mainly due to
the payables to CROs for the clinical trials in relation to ReCOV.

Lease Liabilities

As of December 31, 2020 and 2021, we recorded lease liabilities
of RMB26.1 million and RMB26.7 million, respectively.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary uses of cash relate to the research and development
of our vaccine candidates and the purchase of equipment and
machinery. During the year ended December 31, 2021, we
primarily funded our working capital requirement through equity
financing and bank borrowings. We monitor and maintain a level
of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate to finance our
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
As our business develops and expands, we expect to generate
more cash from our operating activities through launching new
vaccines. Going forward, we believe our liquidity requirements
will be satisfied by using funds from a combination of cash from
operations, bank balances and cash and net proceeds from the
Global Offering. As of December 31, 2021, our cash and bank
balances amounted to RMB1,182.6 million. Out of the RMB1,182.6
million cash and bank balances as of December 31, 2021,
RMB494.1 million (approximately 41.8%) was denominated in RMB
and RMB688.6 million (approximately 58.2%) was denominated in
U.S. dollars.
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Net Current Assets

Our net current assets increased from RMB651.9 million as of
December 31, 2020 to RMB1,155.3 million as of December 31,
2021, primarily due to the proceeds we received from our series
B+ and Series C financing.

Charge on Asset

As of December 31, 2021, there was no charge on assets of the
Group (FY 2020: Nil).

Indebtedness and Financial Ratios

The total interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group as of
December 31, 2021 were RMB50 million. The bank borrowings
were non-current borrowings with a maturity date in 2028 and
an effective interest rate per annum of 4.65%. In addition, in
January 2021, the Company entered into a seven-year real estate
mortgage agreement with a total facility of RMB200 million at a
floating interest rate and secured by its leasehold land. For further
details, please refer to note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.

Our current ratio (calculated as current assets divided by current
liabilities as of the same date) decreased from 12.3% as of
December 31, 2020 to 9.3% as of December 31, 2021, mainly
because our current liabilities had increased at a higher rate
than our current assets. The increase in our current liabilities
was primarily attributable to the increase in other payables and
accruals, which is in line with the research and development
progress of our vaccine candidates.

Our gearing ratio (calculated as total liabilities divided by total
assets as of the same date) was 12.8% as of December 31, 2021
(as of December 31, 2020: nil, as our total shareholder’'s equity
was in deficit).

Contingent Liabilities

As of December 31, 2021, we did not have any contingent
liabilities (FY 2020: Nil).
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Our capital expenditure primarily includes (i) construction in
progress; (i) plant and machinery; (iii) leasehold improvements;
(iv) motor vehicles; (v) computer and office equipment; and (vi)
furniture and fixtures. Our capital expenditure increased from 79.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2020 to 276.5 million for
the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily in relation to the
construction of our new manufacturing facility and purchase of
equipment.

Our capital expenditure commitments decreased from 207.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2020 to 164.7 million for
the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily because certain
construction costs were settled in accordance with the relevant
contractual terms.

As disclosed in the Prospectus, we plan to apply approximately
HK$88.1 million from the proceeds from the Global Offering
(before exercise of Over-allotment Option) for constructing the
HPV manufacturing facility in Taizhou. Save as disclosed above,
the Group had no other material capital expenditure or investment
plan as of the Latest Practicable Date.

Significant Investments and Material Acquisitions and
Disposals

Save as disclosed in this annual report, our Company had
no other significant investments, material acquisitions and/or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the
year ended December 31, 2021.

Events after the Reporting Period

On March 31, 2022, the H Shares of our Company were listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed in this annual report and note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report, we are
not aware of any material subsequent events from the end of the
Reporting Period to the date of this annual report.
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FINANCIAL RISKS

We are exposed to a variety of financial risks, including foreign
currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk as set out below. Our
overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse
effects on our financial performance.

Foreign currency risk

We mainly operate in China and a majority of our transactions are
settled in RMB, the functional currency of our Company’s principal
subsidiaries. The Group however has certain transactional
currency exposure as a portion of our transactions are settled
in US dollars. The Group only trades with recognized and
credit-worthy third parties. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group's exposure to
bad debts is not significant. We currently do not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, our management monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign exchange exposure should the need arise. The Group did
not have significant foreign currency exposure from its operations
as of December 31, 2021.

Credit Risk

We generally trade only with recognized and creditworthy third
parties. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis and our exposure to bad debts is not significant.
The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal”
when they are not past due and there is no information indicating
that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the
financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

As of December 31, 2021, cash and cash equivalents were
deposited in banks of high quality without significant credit
risk. Our Directors are of the view that our exposure to credit
risk arising from other receivables is not significant since
counterparties to these financial assets have no history of default.
Please refer to notes 21 and 36 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.
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Liquidity Risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, we monitor and maintains
a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management of our Group to finance the operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Our objective is to
maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility
through the use of bank loans and other borrowings and lease
liabilities. We aim to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents
to meet our liquidity requirements. Please refer to note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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LIU Yong (Z/E), aged 49, is an executive Director of our
Company and chairman of the Board of our Company. Dr. Liu
founded our Group on March 7, 2011 and has been serving as a
Director since January 25, 2019 and the chairman of our Board
since October 2020. Dr. Liu was re-designated as the Chairman
of the Board on May 9, 2021 and an executive Director on June
28, 2021. He is primarily responsible for the overall management
of business strategy, corporate development and research
and development of our Group. Dr. Liu has been serving as
the general manager of Beijing ABZYMO, a subsidiary of our
Company, since March 7, 2011. Dr. Liu has been serving as the
executive director of Beijing ABZYMO since March 2011. He has
been serving as the general manager and executive director of
Wuhan Recbio, a subsidiary of our Company, since September
2021, and chairman of the board of directors of Wuhan Recogen,
a subsidiary of our Company, since September 2021.

Dr. Liu has over 23 years of technical and management
experience in the field of novel vaccines. Dr. Liu has published
over 60 publications in leading academic journals and held over
20 invention patents since 1998. Prior to the foundation of our
Group, Dr. Liu worked at National Center for AIDS/STD Control
and Prevention of Chinese Center for Disease Control and
Prevention (/B 75 FERH 12§l o OV R R BRI $l AR ) from
February 2004 to September 2010 as a research professor and
led the development of HIV DNA vaccine as a team leader of HIV
DNA vaccine team. Dr. Liu has also worked as a visiting scholar at
the NIH Vaccine Research Center, where he carried out research
on HIV.

Dr. Liu graduated from Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences &
China Union Medical University (/2 El{# A% £ K 5) with a doctoral
degree in pathogen biology in July 2000. Dr. Liu was a research
fellow in Vaccine Research Center of National Institutes of Health
of the United States from December 2006 to December 2007. Dr.
Liu participated in post-doctoral research in basic medicine at
Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention (fF B & &BTE
EH|HR L) from August 2001 to December 2003.
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Dr. Liu obtained the certificate of research professor in
biochemistry and molecular biology by Ministry of Health, PRC
in July 2008. He was an editorial board (the sixth) member of
the Chinese Journal of Microbiology and Immunology, and the
only Asian member of the Young and Early Career Investigators
Committee (YECIC) of the Global HIV Vaccine Enterprise (GHVE).
Once elected as one of the third “Top Ten Innovative and
Entrepreneurial High-level Talents” of Taizhou Medical New & Hi-
tech Industrial Development Zone in May 2020, Dr. Liu was also
recognized as an excellent entrepreneurial individual (8]% 5t
fEA) on the tenth anniversary of the establishment of Taizhou
Medical New & Hi-tech Industrial Development Zone in May 2019.

CHEN Jianping (FRf2¥), aged 44, was appointed as a Director
on November 2, 2020 and re-designated as an executive Director
on June 28, 2021. He is primarily responsible for the management
of daily operations of R&D activities and the strategic development
of our Company. Dr. Chen has been serving as a vice general
manager in our Company since January 30, 2019. He has been
serving as a director in Wuhan Recogen, a subsidiary of our
Company, since September 2021.

Dr. Chen worked in National Center for AIDS/STD Control and
Prevention of Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention
from July 2002 to October 2009 as a research professor and a
core member of immunity team to assist with immunity evaluation
of vaccines and immunity research relating to HPV vaccines. Dr.
Chen served in leading academic institutions including Harvard
University and NIH Vaccine Research Center in the U.S.. Dr. Chen
assumed several positions in Beijing Health Guard Biotechnology
INC. (JtREREFTEMBMARHBABRAT]), a company listed on
the National Equities Exchange and Quotations (stock code:
833575) from June 2012 to February 2016 successively, including
a manager in bioformulation agents division, manager in clinical
medicine and registration division and vice general manager.
From March 2016 to February 2018, Dr. Chen served as head of
registration division in Beijing Xinaijin Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (it
R ELYRIEZBR A F]). Dr. Chen served as a chief expert in
Beijing ABZYMO from March 2018 to December 2018. Dr. Chen
contributed to the research and the establishment of database for
genetic variation and epidemiological characteristics of major HIV
strains across the country.
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Dr. Chen obtained his bachelor’'s degree in biology technology
from Sichuan University (FU)II’X&) in the PRC in July 1999. Dr.
Chen obtained his master's degree in physiology from Beijing
Normal University (Jt REN#EAE) in the PRC in June 2002. Dr.
Chen obtained his doctoral degree in immunology from the
Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention (FF B/ J&TE
Fr#EslLy) in July 2009. Dr. Chen participated in post-doctoral
research in immune system at University of Connecticut from
October 2009 to September 2010 and at Medical University of
South Carolina. Dr. Chen obtained the certificate of associate
research professor of immunology from the Minister of Health of
the People’s Republic of China (F#EARKEMBIEES) in July
2009.

Dr. Chen has been awarded the Commemorative Certificate for
the Prevention and Treatment of SARS in the Capital (& #8754 3E
B TR S8 Z) by Beijing Joint Working Group on Prevention
and Treatment of SARS (It RFH/AFEERAFH A BE A TE/NAH) in July
2003. Dr. Chen has been awarded the First-class Prize of 2006
China Medical Science and Technology Award (20064 A %= 58 £
Rl 88 —%48) by Chinese Medical Association (FF#ZEE) in
December 2006. Dr. Chen has been awarded the Second-class
Prize of National Science and Technology Progress Award (BIZX
Rl E i 418 — £ 4%) by the State Council of the PRC (AR
HFMBE#PT) in December 2007. Dr. Chen has been awarded the
Honorary Certificate of Wenchuan Earthquake Relief (31| KihE
MERKE 2 FE) by the Chinese Center for Disease Control and
Prevention (AR Bl A TR #ZEHIF 03) in July 2008.

LI Bu (Z4), aged 45, was appointed as a Director on March
27, 2021 and re-designated as an executive Director on June
28, 2021. He is primarily responsible for managing the daily
operations of administrative, human resources, purchasing and IT
departments and the strategic development of our Company. He
joined our Company in April 2020 as an assistant to the general
manager and human resources director and was appointed
as a vice general manager on November 9, 2020. Mr. Li has
been serving as a vice general manager in our Company since
November 9, 2020. He has been serving as a director in Wuhan
Recogen, a subsidiary of our Company, since September 2021.
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Prior to joining our Company, Mr. Li served as a human resources
manager in KPC Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (EZEBRHBRAR]),
a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
600422) from 1999 to May 2005. Mr. Li served as a president
assistant in Walvax Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (EEAREMRMTAR
‘A \]), a company listed on the ChiNext Market of Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 300142) from September 2007 to June
2009. Mr. Li served as a human resources director in Yunnan
Belle Shoes Limited (Ef B RBEZ 72 7]) from June 2009 to August
2012. Mr. Li served as a general manager in Kunming Hanyu
Business Consulting Co., Ltd (EBFEBEHZBERAF]) from
April 2014 to January 2020.

!

Mr. Li obtained his bachelor’'s degree in technology economics
from Central South University of Technology (FF R T K2 in the
PRC in June 1999. Mr. Li obtained his master's degree in business
management from Kunming University of Science and Technology
(E BRI T KE) in the PRC in June 2011.

Non-executive Directors

HONG Kunxue (#t3#2) aged 57, was appointed as a Director on
May 9, 2021 and re-designated as a non-executive Director in July
2021. Dr. Hong has been serving as the chief scientist since June
1, 2021. Dr. Hong is primarily responsible for providing guidance
and advice on R&D strategies of our Company.

Prior to joining our Group, Dr. Hong was a lecturer in examination
department of Henan Medical University (AEERIKE) in June
1995. Dr. Hong worked as a research scholar in the University of
California, Los Angeles in the U.S. from August 2004 to February
2005 and a visiting scholar in Duke Human Vaccine Institute from
August 2004 to August 2005. Dr. Hong worked in National Center
for AIDS/STD Control and Prevention of Chinese Center Disease
Control and Prevention from December 2001 to May 2021 as
a team leader of immunity team to lead immunity evaluation of
vaccines and immunity research relating to HIV vaccines.
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Dr. Hong obtained his bachelor’s degree in clinical medicine
from Henan Medical University (currently known as Zhengzhou
University (B8 KE)) in the PRC in June 1988. Dr. Hong obtained
his master’'s degree in clinical laboratory diagnostics from
Jilin Medical College (H#EET) (currently known as Beihua
University (1tZX2)) in the PRC in July 1991. Dr. Hong obtained
his doctoral degree in genetics from China Union Medical
University (FREI3FEERIRE) (currently known as Peking Union
Medical College (ILRiBFEEZET)) in the PRC in July 1999. Dr.
Hong participated in post-doctoral research at Chinese Center for
disease control and Prevention (FF BU B TERH#EHIH0y) in the PRC
from October 1999 to December 2001.

Dr. Hong has been a member of the Academic Committee and
Degree Committee of the Center in National Center for AIDS/
STD Control and Prevention of Chinese Center Disease Control
and Prevention from July 2008 to May 2021. Dr. Hong has also
been a member of the editorial board of Infectious Microbes &
Diseases ((RAMMAWEER (EX))) since 2019. Dr. Hong was
awarded a certificate of honor for combating the COVID-19 by the
People’'s Government of Hubei Province in April 2020. Dr. Hong
was appointed as a Optical Valley Industry Professor by Wuhan
University (BUEAZ) in December 2021.

ZHOU Hongbin (B Z38), aged 48, was appointed as a Director on
November 2, 2020 and re-designated as a non-executive Director
on June 28, 2021. He is primarily responsible for providing
guidance and advice on corporate and business strategies.

From May 2005 to April 2021, Dr. Zhou successively served as
investment manager, investment vice general manager, investment
director, executive director and managing director of Legend
Capital (EBEAEERRHER2AR). From September 2015 to
June 2021, Dr. Zhou served as a director at Milkyway Chemical
Supply Chain Service Co., Ltd. (Z# 5 &t THEERSRD BIR
A\]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 603713). From June 2015 to September 2021, Dr. Zhou
served as a supervisor at Guangzhou Kingmed Diagnostics Group
Co., Ltd. (EMEHESERBEERNDBRATR]), a company listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603882). From
October 2016 to June 2021, Dr. Zhou also served as a director
at Pharmaron Beijing Co., Ltd. (EEgE{bRX (AtF) FERMBEHHE
fR /2 7)), a company listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange
(stock code: 03759) and ChiNext Market of Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 300759). From February 2017 to March
2021, Dr. Zhou served as a director at Shanghai Atour Business
Management (Group) Co., Ltd. (E/8Ta4mEEIE (£E) AR Q).
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Dr. Zhou is concurrently serving the following positions outside
our Group: as the co-chief investment officer of Legend Capital
(BHEARERRMHAERAT) from April 2021, a director of Jiangsu
Lihua Animal Husbandry Co., Ltd. (L&Y EKRERHERAD
A]), a company listed in the ChiNext Market of Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 300761) from July 2015, a director of
Shanghai Cell Therapy Group Co., Ltd. (E/B4MAEEEFRA
a]) from September 2016, a director of Ningbo Xinwan Technology
Development Co., Ltd. (ZRFTERIRERABRAF) from August
2017, a director of Chemclin Diagnostics Co., Ltd. (Bl Bl
f& 2 B R AR]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 688468) from February 2018, a director of Joy Wing
Mau Corporation Limited (ZBHRURERFEBRKBERAF]) from
February 2019, a director of MicuRx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (/&
BRIEZRHBMRAT]) from October 2020, and a supervisor of
China Southern Airlines Cargo Logistics (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd.
(=g EYR (EIN)BRAR]) (currently known as China
Southern Airlines Logistics Co., Ltd. (A MZEWRARRAR),
which is held by China Southern Airlines Company Limited (#
mAMERMDBRAT]) as to 55%, a listed company on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 01055), Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 600029) and the New York Stock Exchange (ticker symbol:
ZNH)) from February 2021.

Dr. Zhou obtained his bachelor’'s degree in engineering from
Wuhan University (E#AX£) in the PRC in July 1994. Dr. Zhou
obtained his master’'s degree in engineering from Wuhan
University in the PRC in June 1997. Dr. Zhou obtained his doctoral
degree in management from Fudan University (8B X2) in the
PRC in July 2000.

ZHAO Hui (#¥&), aged 57, was appointed as a Director on
January 24, 2019 and re-designated as a non-executive Director
on June 28, 2021. He is primarily responsible for providing
guidance and advice on corporate and business strategies.

Mr. Zhao has been serving as a partner in Shenzhen Oriental
Fortune Capital Co., Ltd. (RIEKAFEEREEEROHBRA
Al) since May 2009. Mr. Zhao has been serving as a director
in Qingdao Kaineng Environmental Science And Technology
Co., Ltd. (EEERREREEKRMNABRAF]), a company listed on
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 688501) and formerly
listed on National Equities Exchange and Quotations since June
2015. Mr. Zhao has been serving as the general manager of
Shenzhen Capital Fortune Investment Co., Ltd. (FIIHEHEEHR
BEEAMR AR since June 2021.
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Mr. Zhao obtained his master’'s degree in economics from Peking
University (Jb 3 K2) in the PRC in January 1998.

DU Wei (¥ &), aged 41, was appointed as a Director on January
24, 2019 and re-designated as a non-executive Director on June
28, 2021. He is primarily responsible for providing guidance and
advice on corporate and business strategies.

Dr. Du worked for China Science & Merchants Investment
Management Group Co., Ltd. Wuxi Branch (FFRHEEREERE
ERMHERAGEEHDAF]) from 2012 to 2017. Since April 2017,
Dr. Du has also been working for CMB International Capital
Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (FBIREEEARER (R AR
7]) and is now serving as an executive director.

Dr. Du obtained his bachelor’'s degree in pharmacy from Wuhan
University (E\ZAZ) in the PRC in June 2002. Dr. Du obtained
his doctoral degree in biochemistry from School of Medicine of
Boston University in the U.S. in January 2009. Dr. Du participated
in post-doctoral research at the Beth Israel Deaconess Medical
Center at Harvard Medical School in the U.S. from 2009 to 2010.

Dr. Du was the general manager of Wuxi Herui Shengguang
Electric Technology Co., Ltd. (EHMIHENXERFZERAF)
(“Herui Shengguang”) before its revocation of business license on
July 10, 2019. Dr. Du confirmed that the revocation of business
license of Herui Shengguang was due to close of business but
the company did not timely make required filing. Dr. Du confirmed
that Herui Shengguang was solvent immediately before the
revocation of business licence as Herui Shengguang did not
actually commence business operation since its establishment
and he has not received any claims or legal proceedings made or
commenced against him. Dr. Du confirmed that he did not incur
any debt and/or liabilities because of such revocation of business
license, and that the revocation of business license did not have
any negative effect on our Group.

Dr. Du has been certified as a chartered financial analyst of the
CFA Institute since May 2020.

FENG Tao (&%), aged 58, was appointed as a Director on
November 2, 2020 and re-designated as a non-executive Director
on June 28, 2021. He is primarily responsible for providing
guidance and advice on corporate and business strategies.
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Dr. Feng used to be a president and chief management consultant
in Walvax Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (EfAFHFEMEMEDBR
~|]) from 2007 to 2012, a company listed on Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 300142).

Dr. Feng is now the chairman of the board of directors in
Shenzhen Fer-Capital Investment Co., Ltd. (FIIFTEREIEE B
ABR/AR]), and the director in Beijing Microread Genetics Co., Ltd.
(L REMERFITRMH AR AR]), and also the director in Beijing
Compass Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (It RELEREVFEIMBERAR).
Dr.Feng has been a director of Shenzhen Rhegen Bio Science
and Technology Company Limited (RINTimE EWEHELER A R)
since January 2022.

Dr. Feng obtained his doctoral degree of business administration
in management from Institut des Hautes Etudes Economiques
et Commerciales in France in January 2015. Dr. Feng obtained
his doctoral degree in applied economics from Université de
Versailles in France in April 2015.

Independent Non-executive Directors

LIANG Guodong (2El#f), aged 70, was appointed as a Director
on May 9, 2021 and re-designated as an independent non-
executive Director on June 28, 2021. Mr. Liang is primarily
responsible for supervising and providing independent judgement
to our Board.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Liang worked as an assistant
research professor in Institute of Virology of Chinese Academy
of Preventive Medicine (FEITER & 2RI EHRREEMITAT) from
October 1987 to June 1992. Mr. Liang worked in National Institute
for Viral Disease Control and Prevention in China CDC (/FBI&%
TEF ISR DR S R TER I AT) from September 1995 to August
2014 with his last positions as a research professor and the
deputy director in the institute.
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Mr. Liang obtained his bachelor’'s degree in medicine and
master’s degree in medicine from Shanxi Medical College (IL78%
%) in the PRC in September 1977 and July 1987, respectively.
Mr. Liang has been awarded third prize and first prize of Science
and Technology Progress Award of Ministry of Health in PRC in
September 1998 and August 1999, respectively. Mr. Liang has
been a member of National Planned Immunization Committee
of PRC (BIR:tEI%%ZZEE) and National Infectious Disease
Standards Committee of PRC (BXRELEIZTLEEZEE) since
September 2010 and December 2013, respectively. Mr. Liang has
been awarded the first prize for Science and Technology Awards
of Chinese Preventive Medicine Association in December 2013
and second prize of Chinese Medicine Science and Technology
Award in January 2014.

XIA Lijun (EXE), aged 45, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on June 28, 2021. Dr. Xia is primarily
responsible for supervising and providing independent judgment
to our Board.

Prior to joining our Group, Dr. Xia served as a lecturer, master’s
supervisor, professor and doctoral supervisor of Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics (/&84 KE) from March
2006 to January 2011, and as a professor and the head of
Department of Accountancy of Antai College of Economics and
Management of Shanghai Jiao Tong University (/8% @ AE%L 3
LEERT) since March 2011. From April 2015 to June 2020, Dr.
Xia also served as an independent director of BBI Life Sciences
Corporation, a company formerly listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1035). From May 2020 to May 2021, Dr. Xia worked
as an independent director of Visionox Technology Inc. (#1z
HRHE RS AR AT]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 002387).

Dr. Xia has been serving as a member of the Guiding Committee
of Professional Education of Accountancy of the Ministry of
Education of the PRC, the vice president of Higher Engineering
College Committee under Accounting Society of China.
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Dr. Xia is concurrently serving the following positions outside our
Group, including as an independent director of Shanghai Sanyou
Medical Co., Ltd. (EB=KBEZ=MKRMDAERAF]), a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 688085) from
July 2019, an independent director of Shenzhen Huitai Medical
Equipment Co., Ltd. (RIIEREERMRHERAA]), a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 688617)
from November 2019, an independent director of Orient Fortune
Information Co., Ltd. (RAMEEEKRHERAR]), a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300059)
from February 2020, an independent director of Shanghai Tongji
Science & Technology Industrial Co., Ltd. (/8 REEREE 2%

R 2 7]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 600846) from April 2020, an independent director of 87 &
FR AR AT, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 3958) and Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600958)
from March 2021, an independent director of Huatai Baoxing Fund
Management Co., Ltd. (EREREESEE AR AF) from July 2016,
and an independent director of Zhejiang Sunrise Garment Group
Co., Ltd. (I ZFRIREEBEARKD AR A R]) from December 2018.

!

Dr. Xia obtained his bachelor's degree in economics from
Hangzhou Dianzi University (fi&EFITZ2F) in July 1997. Dr.
Xia received his master’'s degree and Doctor of Philosophy in
Management (Accounting) from Shanghai University of Finance
and Economics in March 2003 and March 2006, respectively, and
conducted postdoctoral research at the Corporate Governance
Center of the Chinese University of Hong Kong from April 2007 to
August 2007, and February 2008 to August 2008.

Dr. Xia is in charge of the Masters of Accounting Training Project
of the Ministry of Finance of PRC since October 2018. He has
been serving as the vice president of the Branch of Higher
Education Institutions of Engineering of the Chinese Accounting
Society of China since October 2020. He was qualified as a
Certified Public Accountant in China in June 2000.
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GAO Feng, aged 61, was appointed as a Director on May 9, 2021
and re-designated as an independent non-executive Director
on June 28, 2021. Professor Gao is primarily responsible for
supervising and providing independent judgement to our Board.

Prior to joining our Group, Professor Gao worked in University of
Birmingham, Alabama in the U.S. as a research instructor from
April 1993 to April 1994. Professor Gao worked in Medical Center
of Duke University in the U.S. as an associate research professor
of medicine from July 2002 to June 2011.

Currently, Professor Gao has been serving as a professor in Jilin
University (F#AZ) in the PRC since December 2010. Professor
Gao has been serving as an honorary professor in Medical Center
of Duke University since September 2020 and a professor in Jinan
University (B EAZ) in the PRC since October 2020.

Professor Gao obtained his bachelor's degree in medicine from
Harbin Medical College (" /&% 2F7) (currently known as Harbin
Medical University (FEEERIAZ)) in the PRC in July 1984,
Professor Gao obtained his master's degree in medicine from
Chinese Academy of Preventive Medicine (7 EIT&[H 28 £F] £557)
in the PRC in October 1987. Professor Gao participated in post-
doctoral research in University of Birmingham, Alabama in the
UsS..

Professor Gao has been serving as the vice chairman of
Professional Committee of Immunity and Cell Therapy of Chinese
Society of Laboratory Animals (R ERE)YES %5 EBMMEAE
HEEZEE) and HIV Professional Committee of China Association
of STD and AIDS (FEIMERIAET ath e amREsExEE8T)
since December 2018 and October 2020, respectively. He is also
a standing member of Basic Research Professional Committee of
China Association for the Prevention and Treatment of STDs and
AIDS (RFEIM R R e @ ERFREXLZER).
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YUEN Ming Fai (=R##), aged 71, was appointed as an
independent Director on May 9, 2021 and re-designated as an
independent non-executive Director on June 28, 2021. He is
primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent
judgement to our Board.

Prior to joining our Group, from November 1979 to January
1992, Prof. Yuen was appointed as a Lecturer, and later Senior
Lecturer at The University of Hong Kong. After that, Prof. Yuen
worked for The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
(“HKUST”) from January 1992 to June 2016. During his tenure at
HKUST, he had served as Professor and Head of the Department
of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, Professor of the
Department of Biomedical Engineering, Director of the Technology
Transfer Center, and Acting Vice-President (R&D) of HKUST.
Prof. Yuen had also served at the HKUST R and D Corporation
Ltd. (“RDC”) from January 2001 to June 2007 as Vice President,
and from April 2009 to November 2010 as the President and the
Chairman of the Board. He retired from HKUST in July 2016 and
was appointed as a Professor Emeritus. Since January 2017,
Prof. Yuen has been appointed as a Specialist Professor in Wuyi
University (A8 K£2).

Prof. Yuen served as an independent non-executive director of
UDL Holdings Limited (K7T&EEERZATR) (currently known as
DTXS Silk Road Investment Holdings Company Limited (KE#amH
AR E B R /A R])), a company listed on the Main Board of
Stock Exchange (stock code: 620) from April 2002 to November
2015. Prof. Yuen also served as an independent non-executive
director of CHTC Fong'’s International Company Limited (FE18X&
S EEFE AR AR), a company listed on the Main Board of Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 641) from September 2004 to
March 2022.

Prof. Yuen obtained his bachelor’'s degree in mechanical
engineering from University of Hong Kong in October 1971 and
obtained his doctoral degree in mechanical engineering from
University of Bristol in the United Kingdom in October 1977.

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

CHEN Gang (FiRl), aged 38, was appointed as the Chairman of
the board of Supervisors on November 2, 2020. He is primarily
responsible for overseeing the Company’s operations and financial
affairs.
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Mr.Chen has over 14 years’ experience in financial industry.
From 2007 to 2011, Mr. Chen served as a project leader at L.E.K.
Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (X E 858 (L&) BR2AR]). From
2013 to 2015, Mr. Chen worked at Vivo Capital Equity Investment
Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (#EEREERE (LF) AR
~d]). From January 2018 to April 2022, Mr. Chen served as a
director of Beijing Baicare Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (It B REHE
PR AR A R]) from January 2018. From November 2020 to June
2021, Mr. Chen also served as a director at BirdoTech (Shanghai)
Medical Technology Corporation Limited (#3&] (/&) B BERHE A%
BB AT]). From October 2020 to September 2021, Mr. Chen
served as a director at Hangzhou Sciwind Biotech Co., Ltd. (/!

RREEVREZARRAT).

Mr. Chen is concurrently serving the following positions
outside our Group, including as a director of Beijing Anngeen
Biotechnology Co., Ltd. GtREZEREEYMHEMERAT) from July
2018, a director in Hangzhou Kangji Medical Equipment Co., Ltd.
(MINEEBEESBRMHABERAF]), a subsidiary of Kangji Medical
Holdings Limited (RREEEERAEMRAF), a company listed on
the Main Board of Stock Exchange (stock code: 9997) from July
2018, a director of Shanghai Zhenge Biotech Co., Ltd. (/&%
EYFETERAR) from May 2020, a company primarily engaged
in biologics CDMO service for biopharma and biotech companies,
a director of Shanghai HeartCare Medical Technology Corporation
Limited (L8 0EEBERMFERHBRAF) from July 2020, a director
of Shenzhen ReeToo Biotech Co., Ltd. (FIITimELMEIMTAR
‘A\]), a company primarily engaged in innovative Al-enhanced
IVD products, from September 2020, a director of Nanjing Yoko
Pharma Biotechnology Medicine Corporation Limited (FERER
EY B eI AR A R)) from December 2020, and a supervisor of
LYFE Capital Equity Investment Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
(MEFLEZESEIE (L) BRAF], previously known as 751 [%#E
KEEIE (F)BRAR) from January 2021.
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Mr. Chen obtained his bachelor’s degree in clinical medicine from
the Shanghai Medical College of Fudan University (B K&t
E22B3) in the PRC in July 2007 and master's degree in business
administration from Northwestern University Kellogg School of
Management in the U.S. in June 2013.

!

XU Yaming (#3E85), aged 43, was appointed as a Supervisor
on August 7, 2019. He is primarily responsible for overseeing the
operations and financial affairs.

Mr. Xu worked in Citi Orient Securities Co., Ltd. (R A EEBEHE
FR27]) (currently known as Citi Orient Securities Co., Ltd. (757
FAEGHREARRAT)) from December 2007 to October 2015. Mr.
Xu worked as an investment director in Caitong Securities Asset
Management Co., Ltd. (B BESFEEEE AR A7) from December
2015 to March 2017. Mr. Xu worked as an investment director in
Shanghai Zhongwei Venture Capital Management Co., Ltd. (/&
PERIEREEEERAR]) from February 2017 to February 2020.

Mr. Xu has been working as an investment director in Shanghai
Zhongfu Venture Capital Management Co., Ltd. (L8R FEIEEE
EIRHMR AT since February 2020.

Mr. Xu obtained his bachelor's degree from Nanjing Normal
University (F R AT#KXE) in the PRC in July 2001. Mr. Xu obtained
his master's degree from Shanghai University of Finance and
Economics (_E/BEI4ERE) in the PRC in July 2007.

QIAO Weiwei (F{£1&8), aged 35, was appointed as a Supervisor
on May 9, 2021. Ms. Qiao has been serving as a manager of
human resources and director of general manager’s office in our
Company since November 1, 2021. She is primarily responsible
for overseeing the operations and financial affairs. Ms. Qiao has
been serving as a supervisor in Wuhan Recbio, one subsidiary of
our Company since September 2021.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Qiao worked in Taizhou
Xinshengyuan Biological Medicine Co., Ltd. (EM¥EREYE
AR /AA]) from July 2009 to June 2018. Ms. Qiao worked at
Wenzhou Biomedical Collaborative Innovation Center (RN AEY)
B2 @eim R AIFTR L) from June 2018 to December 2019. Ms. Qiao
worked as a project performance managing expert in Beijing
ABZYMO from August 2020 to October 2020.
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Ms. Qiao obtained her bachelor’'s degree in business
administration from Nanjing University of Finance and Economics
(BRBHEARE) in the PRC in July 2014. Ms. Qiao has been
qualified as National Certificate of Human Resource Managers
IIand Il of PRC in April 2015 and July 2013, respectively.
In September 2016, Ms. Qiao also obtained certification for
completing the Advanced Seminar on the 13th Five-year
Development Plan of Biopharmaceutical Industry of Jiangsu
Province from Department of Human Resources and Social
Security Department of Jiangsu Province. In May 2014, Ms. Qiao
obtained certification for completing Taizhou's Enterprise Human
Resource Manager Quality Improvement Training Course from
Taizhou Human Resources and Social Security Department.

GU Zhongcai (BE#&E8), aged 39, was appointed as a Supervisor
on November 2, 2020. He is primarily responsible for overseeing
the operations and financial affairs.

Mr. Gu served as an investment manager in Suzhou Guanghua
Industry (Group) Co., Ltd. (BR/NTHXZEEZ (£B) GRAF]) from
February 2006 to April 2010. Mr. Gu worked as a vice general
manager in Suzhou Kanger Biomedical Co., Ltd. (Bx/MNEREE
AR A F]) from April 2010 to January 2014. Mr. Gu served in the
investment banking department of Pacific Securities Co., Ltd. (X
FEEFKRHBRAT]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 601099) from March 2014 to January
2016. Mr. Gu has been serving as an investment manager and
the executive director in Taizhou China Medical City New Drug
Fund Management Co., Ltd. (FMPEEERAEESETEBRA
7)) since April 2017. Mr. Gu has been serving as an assistant to
general manager of Taizhou Medical High-tech District Huayin
Finance Investment Co., Ltd. (FMNBESHRERSBIEEGRA
Al) since December 2020.

Mr. Gu obtained his bachelor's degree in finance from Xi'an
University of Finance and Economics (FaZ 81 &2 F%) in July 2005
and master’s degree in business management from Northwestern
Polytechnical University (Ft T K2) in the PRC in March 2015.

WANG Hongyang (E#¥), aged 42, was appointed as a
Supervisor on January 24, 2019.

Ms. Wang joined our Group in June 2012. She is primarily
responsible for overseeing the operations and financial affairs.
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Ms. Wang served as a manager of human resources department
and director of quality management department in Beijing
ABZYMO from June 2012 to December 2018. Ms. Wang served
as a manager of human resources department in Beijing ABZYMO
from December 2018 to July 2019. Ms. Wang has been serving as
the manager of the General Management Department of Beijing
ABZYMO since August 2019.

Ms. Wang obtained her bachelor's degree in Chinese medicine
from Changchun University of Chinese Medicine (K&EFEER) in
the PRC in June 2002. Ms. Wang completed her master’s courses
in human resources management from Renmin University of China
(FEIARKZ) in the PRC in September 2018. Ms. Wang has
been registered as human resource manager | with Beijing Human
Resources and Social Security Bureau (it ANERMt 2R
FE/3) since September 2014. Ms. Wang has been registered as
Labor Relations Coordinator with Beijing Human Resources and
Social Security Bureau since December 2013. Ms. Wang has been
registered as Internal Auditor ISO13485 with TUV since May 2016.

QIAN Ranting (8 ##), aged 46, was appointed as a Supervisor
on May 25, 2021. She is primarily responsible for overseeing the
operations and financial affairs.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Qian served as a managing director
of Huigiao Investment Advisory (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (EE#&E
i (EF) AR AR from February 2018 to July 2019. She also
served as a managing director of Shanghai Kuokun Investment
Management Co., Ltd. (LE/&FMKZEERABRAF) from August
2019 to September 2020.

Since October 2020, Ms. Qian has been serving as a partner
and managing director of Shanghai Hongjia Private Funds
Management Co., Ltd. (EBLFALEEZESEEFRAA)
(previously known as Shanghai Hongjia Asset Management Co.,
Ltd. (E/BAFEEERERAAD).

Ms. Qian obtained her bachelor’'s degree in economics from
Beijing International Studies University (1t —IMEEERT) in
the PRC in July 1997. Ms. Qian obtained her master of business
administration from China Europe International Business School
(PRI IEEIEERR) in April 2004. Ms. Qian obtained her master
in finance and development from University of London in the U.K.
in December 2011. Ms. Qian has been a fellow member of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (FCCA) since
March 2013.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

LIU Yong (21E), aged 49, is also the general manager of our
Company. For details of his biography, please see *
Directors — Executive Directors.”

— Board of

CHEN Jianping (PRf2¥), aged 44, is also our vice general
manager of our Company. For details of his biography, please see
“— Board of Directors — Executive Directors.”

LI Bu (Z46), aged 45, is also the vice general manager of our
Company. For details of his biography, please see “-Board of
Directors — Executive Directors.”

ZHOU Hongjun (AALE), aged 41, was appointed as a vice
general manager on November 9, 2020. Mr. Zhou served as an
assistant to the general manager from August 2020 to November
2020. Mr. Zhou has been promoted and working as vice general
manager since November 2020. He is primarily responsible for the
management of the quality system, production and technology.

Mr. Zhou worked as a general manager in Yunnan Wokang
Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (ERAREWEMERAF) from May
2017 to October 2018. Mr. Zhou worked as a vice general
manager in Qujing Bohui Biological Technology Co., Ltd. (Bi¥5
BEAYEEARAT]) from December 2018 to May 2019. Mr.
Zhou also worked as a vice general manager in Beijing Xiangrui
Biological Products Co., Ltd. (At R&EmEWRRERAF) from
June 2019 to August 2020.

Mr. Zhou obtained his bachelor’'s degree in food science
and engineering from Shihezi University (/)7 FAZ) in the
PRC in June 2003. Mr. Zhou obtained his master’'s degree
in bioengineering from Kunming University of Science and
Technology (R T KZ) in the PRC in June 2016.

Mr. Zhou was twice awarded second prize for Science &
Technology Development/Achievement by the People’s
Government of Yunnan Province (EZFE ARBMA) in April 2010
and January 2012, separately. Mr. Zhou has been named “the
Most Beautiful Young Worker” by Yunnan Provincial Committee of
the Communist Youth League (XFBEZEMEEZ) in December 2012.
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CHEN Qingqing (BFR& &), aged 39, was appointed as chief
financial officer, vice general manager and secretary of the
Board of our Company on May 9, 2021. Ms. Chen is primarily
responsible for financing activities, investor relationship, internal
audit and control and corporate governance of the Group. She is
also in charge of the finance and legal department.

!

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Chen worked in Tencent
Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (BaEHE (db3) AR A R]) from May
2005 to April 2008. Ms. Chen worked as a deputy finance director
in Beijing Qianxiang Wangjing Technology Development Co.,
Ltd. (JtRTFTEBEERBFEREGRAE]), a company listed on New
York Stock Exchange (ticker symbol: RENN) from January 2009
to January 2015. Ms. Chen worked as a vice president of finance
in Qufengi (Ganzhou) Information Technology Development, Co.,
Ltd. (& H (M) EERMAMRAF]), a company listed on New
York Stock Exchange (ticker symbol: QD) from March 2015 to
April 2017. From May 2017 to September 2017, Ms. Chen worked
as a senior finance director in Beike Finance Holdings (Beijing)
Limited (B3& &R (Jb3) BRAF]) (currently known as Beike
Finance Holdings (Beijing) Limited (E#&RHER LX) BRA
Al)), a subsidiary of KE Holdings Inc., a company listed on New
York Stock Exchange (ticker symbol: BEKE). Ms. Chen worked as
the chief finance officer in Shihezi Chenshang Equity Investment
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (AAF MR &BERES B R
(BMRA%)) from November 2017 to July 2020. Ms. Chen worked
as a vice president in Dmall Life (China) Network Technology
Co., Ltd. (Z24EE (RE) @A AER A A]) from August 2020 to
March 2021.

Ms. Chen obtained her bachelor's degree in management and
her master’'s degree in economics from Central University of
Finance and Economics (FREFZARE) in the PRC in July 2004
and December 2017, respectively. Ms. Chen also obtained her
master's degree in administration management from Peking
University (3t 5 K£2) in the PRC in June 2019.
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ZHOU Lei (E&E), aged 36, was appointed as a finance controller
on March 22, 2019. He is primarily responsible for financial
management.

Prior to joining our Group. Mr. Zhou worked as a finance controller
in Yangtze River Pharmaceutical (Group) Co., Ltd. (5 /I &x5E
BB R AF]) from January 2017 to March 2019.

Mr. Zhou obtained his bachelor’'s degree in accounting from
Jiangsu University of Science and Technology (T# R AZ)
in June 2008. Mr. Zhou has been registered as an intermediate
accountant with the Ministry of Finance of the People’'s Republic of
China (& AR FEFBIBEER) since May 2011. Mr. Zhou has been
registered as a certified tax agent with the China Certified Tax
Agents Association (FBIFEMRIEEIE) since November 2020.
Mr. Zhou has been a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (Bt &5TAT1% &) since February 2022.

Save as disclosed above, none of our Directors, Supervisors
or senior management members had held any directorship in
any public company the securities of which are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas during the three years
immediately preceding the Latest Practicable Date.

As of the Latest Practicable Date and save as disclosed above,
(i) none of our Directors, Supervisors or members of the senior
management of our Company was related to any other Directors,
Supervisors and members of the senior management, and (ii)
there was no additional matter with respect to the appointment
of the Directors or Supervisors that needs to be brought to
the attention of the Shareholders, and there was no additional
information relating to the Directors or Supervisors that is required
to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

CHEN Qingqing (BR& %), aged 39, was appointed as one of our
joint company secretaries on June 28, 2021. For details of her
biography, please see “~ Senior Management” above.

LAU Jeanie (Z)£37), aged 44, was appointed as a joint company
secretary of our Company on June 28, 2021. Ms. Lau is an
assistant vice president of Corporate Secretarial Department
of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited. She
is an associate member of both The Chartered Governance
Institute (formerly known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators) in England and The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries). She has over 15 years of experience in
corporate secretarial practice. She has been providing corporate
services to companies overseas and in Hong Kong. Ms. Lau had
been a company secretary of various listed companies on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange over the last 10 years.

CHANGES TO DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS’
INFORMATION
Save as disclosed herein, our Directors and Supervisors confirm

that no information is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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The Board is pleased to present this report of Directors together
with the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended December 31, 2021.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors, five non-
executive Directors and four independent non-executive Directors.
Our Directors during the year ended December 31, 2021 7 and
up to the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Dr. LIU Yong (Chairman of the Board and General Manager)
Dr. CHEN Jianping
Mr. LI Buete 2

Non-Executive Directors:

Dr. HONG Kunxueete 3
Dr. ZHOU Hongbin

Mr. ZHAO Hui

Dr. DU Wei

Dr. FENG Tao

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. LIANG Guodong®oe ¥

Dr. XIA Lijun®ere 4

Professor GAO Fengere 9

Professor YUEN Ming Faiete 9

Notes:

1. Mr. YU Yue resigned from the Board with effect from February
10, 2021. Mr. GUO Jinlong resigned as a director on June 28,
2021.

2. Appointed on March 27, 2021.

8. Appointed on May 9, 2021.

4. Appointed on June 28, 2021.

Details of our Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographies of our Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.
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SUPERVISORY BOARD

The Supervisory Board currently comprises six Supervisors. Our
Supervisors during the year ended December 31, 2021"ee 7 and
up to the date of this annual report are:

Mr. CHEN Gang (Chairman)
Mr. XU Yaming

Ms. Qiao WeiweiNore 2

Mr. GU Zhongcai

Ms. WANG Hongyang

Ms. QIAN Ranting

Notes:

1. Ms. QIN Hong resigned from the Supervisory Board with effect
from May 9, 2021.

2. Appointed on May 9, 2021.

Details of our Supervisors are set out in the section headed
“Biographies of our Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Our Company is a joint stock company incorporated in the
PRC with limited liability on May 25, 2021. The H Shares of
our Company have been listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange since March 31, 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

We are a vaccine company with a high-value subunit vaccine
portfolio driven by in-house developed technologies. We primarily
focus on the R&D of HPV vaccine candidates. Our vaccine
portfolio consists of 12 vaccines, including our Core Product,
REC603, a recombinant HPV 9-valent vaccine under phase IlI
clinical trial. For further details, please refer to “Management
Discussion and Analysis — Business Review” in this annual report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of our Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out
in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance, including an analysis of
the Group's financial performance and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business is set out in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” in this annual report. These discussions form part
of this directors’ report. Events affecting our Company that have
occurred since the end of the Reporting Period is set out in the
paragraph headed “Important Events after the Reporting Period”
below. The discussion of our key relationship with employees,
suppliers and others that have a significant impact on our
Company is set out in “Relationship with Key Stakeholders” below.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

We face a variety of risks relating to our financial position and
prospects, R&D, clinical trials and regulatory approval of our
vaccine candidates, our manufacturing and commercialization
of our vaccines and vaccine candidates, our relationship with
third parties, strategic partners and collaborators, our intellectual
property rights, other aspects of our business operations, and the
industry and regulatory development in China. Some of the major
risks that we face include:

° we have incurred significant net losses since inception and
expect to continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable
future, and may never achieve or maintain profitability. As
a result, you may lose substantially all of your investment in
us if our business fails;

o our financial prospects depend on the successful
development, approval and commercialization of our
clinical-stage and preclinical stage vaccine pipeline;

° we may be unable to successfully complete clinical
development, obtain regulatory approval and
commercialize our vaccine candidates;

. we invest substantial resources in R&D in order to develop

our vaccine candidates and enhance our technology
platforms, which we may not be able to do successfully;
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. vaccine development involves a lengthy and expensive
process with uncertain outcomes and results of earlier
clinical trials may not be predictive of results of later-stage
clinical trial;

° the vaccine industry in China is highly regulated and
such regulations are subject to change which may affect
approval and commercialization of our vaccine candidates;
and

o if we are unsuccessful in obtaining or maintaining effective
intellectual property protection for one or more of our
vaccine candidates, and the scope of such intellectual
property rights obtained may not be sufficiently broad.

We also cannot guarantee that we will ultimately develop or market
our Core Product or any of our vaccines and vaccine candidates
successfully.

The above is not an exhaustive list of the risks that we and
our business face. Shareholders and potential investors of our
Company are advised to make their own judgment and/or consult
their own investment advisors before making any investment in the
Shares and when dealing in the Shares of our Company.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

In respect of social responsibilities, we have entered into
employment contracts with our employees in accordance with
the applicable PRC laws and regulations. We hire employees
based on their merits and it is our corporate policy to offer equal
opportunities to our employees regardless of gender, age, race,
religion or any other social or personal characteristics. We strive
to provide a safe working environment for our employees. We
have implemented work safety guidelines setting out safety
practices, accident prevention and accident reporting procedures.
Our employees responsible for manufacturing and quality control
and assurance are required to hold relevant qualifications, as well
as wear the proper safety gear when working. We conduct regular
safety inspections and maintenance for our manufacturing facility.
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We strive to operate our facilities in a manner that protects the
environment and the health and safety of our employees and
communities. We have implemented company-wide environmental
health and safety policies and operating procedures, covering
waste treatment, process safety management, worker health and
safety requirements and emergency planning and response.
As required by the applicable PRC laws and regulations, our
manufacturing facilities under construction are required to
pass the environmental impact assessment. We have obtained
passed such assessment for our HPV manufacturing facility
and COVID-19 manufacturing facility in February 2020 and
April 2021, respectively. For waste water generated during our
R&D and manufacturing process, we will perform coagulation
and sterilization first and then send them to a third party for
processing. In particular, as our manufacturing for COVID-19
vaccine is expected to be completed soon, we have formulated
a set of matrix and criteria with respect to the waste water,
including its Ph values shall be between 6 to 9 and its Chemical
Oxygen Demand (COD) waste shall not exceed 280 mg/L. For
waste gas, we will build activated charcoal filter and water spray
equipment to process before emission. In addition, our operations
involve the use of hazardous and flammable chemical materials.
We generally contract with third parties for the disposal of these
materials and wastes. In order to and manage the environmental,
social and climate related risks, we have adopted a set of internal
control policies, which set out the standard procedure for us to
monitor such risks and how should we deal with these emergency
events. We have also adopted an environmental risk assessment
management procedure, which require us to conduct periodic
review on the environmental impact that our operations may have.
We also adopt a standard environment, health and safety (EHS)
risk management procedure and EHS compliance evaluation
procedure, pursuant to which we are required to conduct periodic
review the risks and challenges we may encounter in this area.
During the reporting period and up to the Latest Practicable Date,
we complied with the relevant environmental and occupational
health and safety laws and regulations in all material aspects and
we did not have any incidents or complaints which had a material
and adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results
of operations during the period.
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We pay close attention to the global trend and China’s national
strategy of addressing climate change and ecological environment
protection, and will actively enhance our ability to address
climate change and cope with China’s initiatives and action
plans regarding future carbon dioxide emission. In terms of major
climate change-related initiatives or action plans that may affect
us, we plan to formulate policies after our listing to systematically
identify, assess and manage climate change-related risks, and
formulate relevant response strategies.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS AND MATERIAL LITIGATION

As of the Latest Practicable Date, neither we nor any of
our Directors were involved in any litigation, arbitration or
administrative proceedings which could have a material
adverse impact on our business, financial condition or results of
operations, including those that may have an influence on the
R&D of our Core Product, REC603. As of the Latest Practicable
Date, we were not aware of any pending or threatened litigation,
arbitration or administrative proceedings against us or our
Directors which would have a material and adverse impact on
our business, financial condition or results of operations, nor any
material breach by the Group of applicable laws and regulations
in China that are material to our business operations.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

We recognize that various stakeholders including suppliers,
employees, Shareholders and other business partners are key to
the Group’s success. We strive to achieve corporate sustainability
through engaging, collaborating, and cultivating strong
relationship with them.

Employees

As of the Latest Practicable Date, we had 443 employees, all of
whom were based in China. The number of employees employed
by the Group varies from time to time depending on need. The
remuneration package of our employees include wages and other
incentives, which are generally determined by their qualifications,
industry experience, position and performance.
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We build our success on employees’ dedication and commitment.
Our Company is committed to providing as much opportunities
as possible for employees’ skills enhancement and career
development. We aim at cultivating talents in a long run,
encouraging employees to realise their full potential and to keep
pace with growth of our Company. We recruit our employees
primarily through recruiting websites, third-party recruiters and
employee referral. We conduct new employee training, as well
as professional and safety training programs for all employees
in accordance with our internal procedures. We enter into
employment agreements with our employees to cover matters
such as wages, benefits and grounds for termination. During
the Reporting Period, we made contributions to social insurance
and housing provident funds in compliance with applicable PRC
laws and regulations in all material respects. We also enter into
standard confidentiality, intellectual property assignment and non-
competition agreements with our key management and research
and development staff, which typically include a standard non-
compete agreement that prohibits the employee from competing
with us, directly or indirectly, during his or her employment and
for two years after the termination of his or her employment.
Employees also sign acknowledgments regarding service
inventions and discoveries made during the course of his or her
employment.

Our Company also has adopted a share award scheme to provide
incentives and rewards for certain employees who contribute to
the success of our operations. Employees (including directors)
of our Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payments, whereby employees render services as consideration
for equity instruments. Please refer to the section headed “Share
Award Scheme” below for further details.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, we did not experience
any material labor disputes or strikes that may have a material
and adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results
of operations, or any difficulty in recruiting employees.

Customers and Suppliers

During the Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable
Date, we had no commercialized vaccines and therefore had no
customers.
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During the Reporting Period, our major suppliers primarily
included suppliers of raw materials and consumables for our
vaccine candidate R&D, suppliers of equipment for our R&D and
manufacturing process, and service providers such as CROs.
We maintain a list of qualified suppliers and we will conduct
qualification review and on-site audit for all of the qualified
suppliers. We have established stable relationships with qualified
suppliers. We only procure raw materials from qualified suppliers.
We conduct regular review on qualified suppliers and suppliers
that failed to pass such review will be removed from the list
of qualified suppliers. We select our suppliers by considering
their qualifications, compliance with relevant regulations and
industry standards, quality, prices, business scale, market share,
reputation and after-sales service quality. We have maintained
stable business relationship with our major suppliers. We have
been devoted to maintaining long term cooperation, enhancing
product quality, increasing sales volume and improving
profitability. For the year ended December 31, 2021, we did not
experience any material dispute with suppliers, difficulties in the
procurement of raw materials, interruptions in our operations due
to a shortage or delay of raw materials or significant fluctuations
in raw material prices.
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For the year ended December 31, 2021, purchases from the
Group’s five largest suppliers amounted to RMB242.2 million
(2020: RMB124.2 million), accounting for approximately 34.53%
(2020: 60.3%) of the Group’s total purchase amount in the same
year. The Group’s purchase from the largest supplier for the year
ended December 31, 2021 amounted to RMB69.2 million (2020:
RMB38.9 million), accounting for approximately 9.86% (2020:
18.9%) of the Group’s total purchase amount for the same year.

None of our Directors, their associates or any Shareholders who,
to the knowledge of our Directors, owned more than 5% of our
issued share capital as of the Latest Practicable Date, held any
interest in any of our five largest suppliers during the Reporting
Period.
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Shareholders

We consider that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of our business performance and strategies. Apart
from transparent and timely disclosure of corporate information
in accordance with the Listing Rules, our Company has kept
effective communication with Shareholders through our website,
Wechat platform, shareholder’s hotline, and IR mailbox. Senior
managements are also glad to receive Shareholders’ on-site visit
and have one-on-one meetings with them to share the information
which they are concerned and enable them to make rational
investment decisions.

RESULTS AND FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2021
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page
115 of this annual report. A summary of the audited consolidated
results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
three financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements, is set out in the section “Financial Highlights”
in this annual report. This summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements of our Company. Please
also refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report for further details.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of our
Company and our Group for the year ended December 31, 2021
are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report.

DONATION

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Group made
charitable donations of RMB1 million as scholarship for the
students in Wuhan University.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF OUR
COMPANY’S SHARES

Since we were not yet listed on the Stock Exchange during the
year ended December 31, 2021, this disclosure requirement is not
applicable to us. From the Listing Date to the Latest Practicable
Date, neither our Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any listed securities of our Company.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the laws of the PRC which would oblige our
Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing
Shareholders.

DIVIDENDS

The Board did not recommend the distribution of a final dividend
for the year ended December 31, 2021 (FY 2020: Nil).

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

According to the Individual Income Tax Law of the People’s
Republic of China (HRZEARKEXMBEAMERE)) and its
implementation rules, dividends paid to individuals by PRC
companies are generally subject to an individual income tax levied
at a flat rate of 20%. For an individual who has no domicile in the
PRC and is not resident in the territory of the PRC or who has no
domicile in the PRC and has been resident in the territory of the
PRC for less than 183 days cumulatively within a tax year, his/
her receipt of dividends from a PRC company is normally subject
to a PRC withholding tax of 20% unless specifically exempted
or reduced by an applicable tax treaty and other tax laws and
regulations.

Pursuant to the Notice of the State Administration of Taxation on
Issues Concerning Withholding the Enterprise Income Tax on
Dividends Paid by Chinese Resident Enterprises to Holders of
H Shares who are Overseas Non-resident Enterprises (Guo Shui
Han [2008] No. 897) (BRI RN+ EER B ERIFIINHEK
FERCERFRIREREARMRADEMGHE FEMEL RN
T EK[2008]8975%)), a PRC resident enterprise, when distributing
dividends for 2008 and for the years afterwards to holders of H
Shares who are overseas non-resident enterprises, shall withhold
the enterprise income tax at a flat rate of 10%.

Our Company did not declare or pay any dividend in the year
ended December 31, 2021. Accordingly, the Shareholders of our
Company (including the holders of H Shares) are not subject to
income tax on dividend distribution. If any of the H Shareholders
is unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing, holding,
disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any rights in relation to
the H Shares, he/she is advised to consult an expert.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movements in the share capital of our Company for
the year ended December 31, 2021 are set out in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

ISSUANCE OF DEBENTURE AND CONVERTIBLE
BOND

Our Group did not issue any debenture or any convertible bond
for the year ended December 31, 2021.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Award Scheme as described below, no equity-
linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed for
the year ended December 31, 2021.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance to provide
liability insurance for Directors and senior management of the
Company in respect of legal actions against them due to affairs
of the Company. As of the date of this annual report, all Directors
of our Company were covered under the liability insurance
purchased by our Company for its Directors.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of the Latest Practicable Date, our Company did not have any
reserves available for distribution to our Shareholders.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As of December 31, 2021, our Company has a total bank loans
and other borrowings in the amount of RMB50,000,000. Please
refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis
- Financial Review” in this annual report and note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements in annual report.

LOAN AGREEMENTS THAT ARE REQUIRED TO BE
DISCLOSED UNDER THE LISTING RULES

As of the Latest Practicable Date, our Company has not entered
into any loan agreement which contains covenants requiring
specific performance of the controlling shareholders (as defined
in the Listing Rules). Our Directors have confirmed that, as of the
Latest Practicable Date, they were not aware of any circumstances
that would give rise to a disclosure requirement under Rules 13.13
to 13.19 of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

Pursuant to Rules 19A.54 and 19A.55 of the Listing Rules, our
Company has entered into a service agreement with each of the
Directors and Supervisors which contains provisions in relation to,
among other things, compliance of relevant laws and regulations,
observation of the Articles of Association and provisions on
arbitration. Each of the agreements is for a term of three years
following his/her respective appointment date and the service
agreements may be renewed in accordance with our Articles of
Association and the applicable rules.

Save as disclosed above, our Company has not entered, and
do not propose to enter, into any service contracts with any
of the Directors or Supervisors in their respective capacities
as Directors/Supervisors (other than contracts expiring or
determinable by the employer within one year without the payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation)).

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

None of the Directors and Supervisors nor any entity connected
with the Directors and Supervisors had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to which our Company, our holding
company, or any of our subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party subsisting during or at the end of the year ended December
31, 2021.

INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and save for their respective
interests in the Group, none of the Directors Supervisors was
interested in any business which competes or is likely to compete,
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group for the year
ended December 31, 2021.
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From time to time our non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors may serve on the boards of both
private and public companies within the broader healthcare and
biopharmaceutical industries. However, as these non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors are neither
our controlling shareholders nor members of our executive
management team, we believe that their interests in such
companies as directors would not render us incapable of carrying
on our business independently from the other companies in which
they may hold directorships from time to time.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of our Company was
entered into or existed for the year ended December 31, 2021.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As of the Latest Practicable Date, so far as the Directors are
aware, the following persons (other than the Directors, Supervisors
or chief executives of our Company or their associates) had
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of
our Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by
our Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Long Positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of our
Company

BAMFATESRB LA TESAERTRER
BZNEEREMHETEANNE LT R EHAF
EXECR - AN BRZKFFATEFTREULFE
MITE R W IR PR AR R AT E IR B B A
8§ BMRREEFEARSZARNEEMHEENER
TELHRMBEEBUNREANETHETESENE
R B R o

BEEEYN

BE2021F12A31HIEFE  AAFRBMERETA
ARSI AL D EKNEBNTHRERE L FE

BH o

FERRRROREBRROTFHERR AR

BESRERAUTAY  BEFMAAN - THAL (B
ARAESE EERRFHTHABRBEFHEAIN)
RARBRERARRRERE 7 M E %P5 336
GRARBTBR AP AR AR RO T B #E

LB AL .
mOAR

RAQXTARODIEEROTNER

Approximate

Approximate  percentage of

percentage interest in the

of interest  relevant class

Number and in our of Shares of

Nature of interest class of Shares(" Company™ our Company"

EARRDR1HE

EEAREE  ERRGOER

Name ®E /2B BHEtE ROBERERO HHELEILO HHEIEILO

Taizhou Yuangong® =ML L® Beneficial owner 82,863,620 Domestic Shares 17.30% 21.28%
BRBEEA 82,863,620k W& ik

Beijing Junlian IREWRFERERE Beneficial owner 28,339,420 Domestic Shares 5.92% 7.28%
Shengyuan Equity ~ ARGX%(FREH) ERBERA 28,339,420k AR

Investment ([BHRR])

Enterprise (Limited
Partnership) (“Junlian
Shengyuan”)®
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Approximate

Approximate  percentage of

percentage interest in the
of interest  relevant class
Number and in our of Shares of
Nature of interest class of Shares(" Company®™ our Company™
EARAFEE
EERAFEE  ERRGOER
Name ne,/ 88 BEHE ROMERERO WHABRIHLO  WHIEIHLO
Legend Capital EHMEREERR Interest in controlled corporations 41,861,020 Domestic Shares 9.97% 10.75%
Co., Ltd.® BRARW REEEER 41,861,020/ W& ik
5,921,380 H Shares 6.60%
5,921,380k Hk
Shanghai Chaorui LBBIRBER A% Beneficial owner 37,390,030 Domestic Shares 7.80% 9.60%
Medical Technology % (BREH)® EREAA 37,390,030B W& K&
Partnership (Limited
Partnership)®
YU Yue® FEO Interest in a controlled corporation 37,390,030 Domestic Shares 7.80% 9.60%
REEEER 37,390,030/ M & ik
LIU Hongyan®® =00 Interest in a controlled corporation 38,671,490 Domestic Shares 8.07% 9.93%
RErEER 38,671,490/ W& i
Beneficial owner 1,794,040 Domestic Shares 0.37% 0.46%
BRBEEA 1,794,040 W& I
Spouse interest 1,281,460 Domestic Shares 0.27% 0.33%
] 1,281,460 W& I
LYFE Niagara River ~ LYFE Niagara Beneficial owner 18,151,700 H Shares 3.79% 20.22%
Limited™ River Limited? EnAA 18,151,700 H%
LYFE Capital Fund Il LYFE Capital Fund I Interest in a controlled corporation 18,151,700 H Shares 3.79% 20.22%
(Dragon), L.P.7 (Dragon), LP.0 i E R 18,151,700 B HA%
LYFE Capital LYFE Capital Interest in a controlled corporation 18,151,700 H Shares 3.79% 20.22%
Management Management REEEER 18,151,700 B H%
Limited™ Limited®
ZHAO Jin® HEN Interest in a controlled corporation 18,151,700 H Shares 7.20% 20.22%
RErEER 18,151,700 & HM%
16,348,140 Domestic Shares 4.20%
16,348,140k N & Ik
Shenzhen Oriental ~ FYIMEAEEHRE  Interest in a controlled corporation 33,286,040 Domestic Shares 6.95% 8.55%
Fortune Capital EERNARARO REZEER 33,286,040/ W& i
Investment
Co., Ltd.®
CHEN Wei® Rz ® Interest in a controlled corporation 33,286,040 Domestic Shares 6.95% 8.55%

AR R

33,286,040 kA& ik
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Approximate

Approximate  percentage of

percentage interest in the
of interest  relevant class
Number and in our of Shares of
Nature of interest class of Shares™ Company®™ our Company™
EARAFIEE
L WNGIE £ EhRHER
Name ne,/ 88 BEHEME ROMERERO WHABRIHLO  WHIEIHLO
Shenzhen Fer-Capital FIIFiIEXREEZE Interest in a controlled corporation 27,203,740 Domestic Shares 5.68% 6.99%
Investment EEERARO REEEER 27,203,7405 W& i
Management
Co., Ltd.®
SCC Growth VI SCC Growth VI Beneficial owner 11,904,040 H Shares 2.48% 13.26%
Holdco C (HK) Holdco C (HK) EREEA 11,904,040 B Hi%
Limited(® Limited('?
Nanjing Zhaoyin HRBHRAN Beneficial owner 20,446,160 Domestic shares 4.27% 5.25%
Modern Industry EFAR ExBEBA 20,446,160 &
No. Il Equity REREES
Investment Fund (BREH)
(Limited
Partnership)"
CMB Financial BIRE RIER Interest in controlled corporations 22,907,700 Domestic Shares 4.78% 5.88%
Holdings GRY) RErEER 22,907,700/ W& %
(Shenzhen) BRAR
Co., Ltd.t"
CMB International AREBR S Interest in controlled corporations 22,907,700 Domestic Shares 4.78% 5.88%
Capital Corporation ~ BRZAF XEEE R 22,907,700f R & &
Limited("
CMB International RHRER SR Interest in controlled corporations 22,907,700 Domestic Shares 4.78% 5.88%
Capital Holdings BRARMW R R 22,907, 700 kA & fk
Corporation
Limited("
China Merchants BraRTRM Interest in controlled corporations 22,907,700 Domestic Shares 4.78% 5.88%
Bank Co., Ltd.l"" BRAR REEEER 22,907, 700IR AR
LBC Sunshine BB AR 5 Beneficial owner 11,300,000 H Shares 2.36% 12.59%
Healthcare Fund Il E£02 ExBEBA 11,300,000 B HA%
L.P. 02
Yangtze River BTIL(ES) Beneficial owner 12,618,500 H Shares 2.63% 14.05%
(Hong Kong) ARAR BB A 12,618,500 H

Limited(®
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Approximate

Approximate
percentage of

percentage interest in the
of interest  relevant class
Number and in our of Shares of
Nature of interest class of Shares™ Company®™ our Company™
LrNsiiil
ERARESE  ERRGER
Name BE/E8 RHEME ROBERERO HHAFILO  HHEHEILO
XU Haoyu™® BiEF0 Interest in a controlled corporation 12,618,500 H Shares 2.63% 14.05%
LB 12,618,500/ HR
Morgan Stanley & Co. ERLTAFMERRKS  Underwriter 5,601,500 H Shares 1.17% 6.24%
International plc™  BRAFM BiEE 5,601,500 B HA&
Morgan Stanley Morgan Stanley Interest in controlled corporations 5,601,500 H Shares 1.17% 6.24%
Investments (UK)®  Investments (UK)' S AE D 5,601,500 H
Morgan Stanley Morgan Stanley Interest in controlled corporations 5,601,500 H Shares 1.17% 6.24%
International International XEEEER 5,601,500 HA&
Limited™ Limited™
Morgan Stanley Morgan Stanley Interest in controlled corporations 5,601,500 H Shares 1.17% 6.24%
International International RErEER 5,601,500 HA
Holdings Inc.(® Holdings Inc.(
Morgan Stanley!'¥ PEAR 1737014 Interest in controlled corporations 5,601,500 H Shares 1.17% 6.24%
XEEEER 5,601,500k HA%
Lake Bleu Capital Lake Bleu Capital Investment Manager 11,300,000 H Shares 2.36% 12.59%

(Hong Kong)
Limited

(Hong Kong)
Limited

RELE

11,300,000 HAR
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Notes: Hat

1. As of the Latest Practicable Date, the Company has issued a 1. HERBRERAUITEY  AARBEEHTROE
total of 479,104,500 Shares, comprising 377,322,880 Domestic /5479,104,500/% - B$E377,322,880K W&
Shares, 12,000,000 Unlisted Foreign Shares and 89,781,620 & ~ 12,000,000 f% 3F ET4HN& % 12 89,781,620
H Shares. All interests stated are long positions. For the RHAE - FTOIFTE R RETFE - BANERK
Domestic shareholders, the approximate percentage of interest RmE - AEAREEEERNRNERNOBAT
in the relevant class of Shares of the Company is calculated ALTIIRBEBEITAERRIELTINERBE
based on the sum of issued domestic shares and unlisted FTE e
foreign shares.

2. As of the Latest Practicable Date, Taizhou Yuangong was 2. HEKEERATEE  IMTIHINEL (F
owned as to 0.0001% by Dr. Liu as general partner. REBERAN)HEE0.0001% °

3. As of the Latest Practicable Date, the general partner of Junlian 3. HERRERATES  BEHERNEBEEH
Shengyuan was Lhasa Jungi Enterprise Management Co., ABRNEEZEHLXERERAA - NEEHD
Ltd. (JuiErEHEEEEEFRAR]), which was wholly owned by ¥ERARAFAHEBERNEERHD BRAA
Legend Capital Co., Ltd. (EBEAEERMHERAA]) (“Legend ([BEHMER]) 2EHE  MEBEAXBLER
Capital”), and in turn held as to 80% by Beijing Juncheng EHERREBEBEER X (BRE%) R
Hezhong Investment Management Partnership (Limited ERR D AR A A (RDR5E : 3396) D AIFEH
Partnership) (IREHAZREEEA¥LE (BERE%)) and 80% &%20% c LR EWERIREBEEHBE
20% by Legend Holdings Corporation (stock code: 3396). (BREB)MEREBARLIREHREE
The general partner of Beijing Juncheng Hezhong Investment ERBRAA - Bt - REBEZFRBEHED -
Management Partnership Enterprises (Limited Partnership) (it BEMERN - IRBEHERREEBEEREE (R
REBEREBEETEABRLE (BARAE)) is Beijing Jungi Jiarui RER) RItREHEECXEEBRARSH
Business Management Limited (JtREEZECXEEEGR ERANBBRREENRO P HEER -
‘A 7]). Therefore, each of Legend Capital, Beijing Juncheng
Hezhong Investment Management Partnership Enterprises
(Limited Partnership) (It REHAEBREREETEAGRLE (BRAE
%)) and Beijing Junqi Jiarui Business Management Limited (it
REERECEEE AR AA) was deemed to be interested in
the Shares held by Junlian Shengyuan under the SFO.

4, As of the Latest Practicable Date, Legend Capital was 4. HEZBERUITHE  EHE AR Healthy

interested in an aggregate of 41,861,020 Domestic Shares and
5,921,380 H Shares held by Healthy Prestige Limited, Union
Season Holdings Limited, Junlian Shengyuan and Junlian
Yongshuo. Healthy Prestige Limited was wholly owned by
LC Healthcare Fund Il., L.P., which is managed by Legend
Capital. Union Season Holdings Limited was wholly owned
by Legend Capital. Junlian Shengyuan and Junlian Yongshuo
were managed by Legend Capital. Therefore, Legend Capital
was deemed to be interested in the Shares held by each of
Healthy Prestige Limited, Union Season Holdings Limited,
Junlian Shengyuan and Junlian Yongshuo under the SFO.

Prestige Limited * Union Season Holdings
Limited - B RBEREB KEZFAENHE X
41,861,020k N & & }25,921,380 iR H AR #
BB #EZ ° Healthy Prestige Limited@LC
Healthcare Fund Il., L.P.(HEBEAEIE)
2%¥%A - Union Season Holdings Limited
HEBMEAZERS - BHRRREH KER
EHERER - At - REBEFS KB EKRM -
BEE AR A Healthy Prestige Limited -
Union Season Holdings Limited ~ ZH &R &
BEOKAER B ARNRGO T ERER
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As of the Latest Practicable Date, Shanghai Chaorui Medical
Technology Partnership (Limited Partnership) (/& 8%%8 %]
RAEBLE (BIRA%)) (“Shanghai Chaorui”’) was owned as to
approximately 10.48% by YU Yue (T ) as the general partner
and 36.56% by LIU Hongyan (2I41%) as a limited partner.
Therefore, each of YU Yue (F#) and LIU Hongyan (ZI4T%)
was deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Shanghai
Chaorui under the SFO.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, Nanjing Xinrui Technology
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (A R EEHTA B E(BRE
%)) held 1,281,460 Domestics Shares, whose general partner
was LIU Hongyan (BI41%). ZHAQ Jiayi (#5 %), spouse of LIU
Hongyan (%2]41%), held 1,281,460 Domestic Shares. Therefore,
LIU Hongyan was deemed to be interested in the Shares held
by Nanjing Xinrui Technology Partnership (Limited Partnership)
(ARERKERBEE(BRER)) and ZHAO Jiayi (H=E).

As of the Latest Practicable Date, LYFE Niagara River Limited,
Shanghai Jiyue Enterprise Management Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (E/&EHCEEELAB LY (BRAE)) (“Shanghai
Jiyue”) and Shanghai Jixuan Enterprise Management
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (L/&EEPEERS B
(BBRA%)) (“Shanghai Jixuan”) held 18,151,700 H Shares,
8,318,800 Domestic Shares and 8,029,340 Domestic Shares,
respectively. LYFE Niagara River Limited is controlled by LYFE
Capital Fund IIl (Dragon), L.P., LYFE Capital Fund III (Dragon)
L.P. is controlled by LYFE Capital Management Limited,
which is in turn controlled by ZHAO Jin (#%&). Therefore,
each of LYFE Capital Fund Ill (Dragon), L.P., LYFE Capital
Management Limited and ZHAO Jin (#%) was deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by LYFE Niagara River Limited
under the SFO.

Shanghai Jiyue and Shanghai Jixuan were managed by LYFE
Capital Investment Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (J%&7.
SHSEE (EHB) AR AT, which was in turn controlled by
ZHAO Jin (#8%). Therefore, each of ZHAO Jin (#8%) and LYFE
Capital Investment Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (M%&f.5
H&EH (LB)BRAA) was deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Shanghai Jiyue and Shanghai Jixuan under the
SFO.
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As of the Latest Practicable Date, Shenzhen Oriental Fortune 8. BESBERJTAH  FImRIEEBEE

Capital Investment Co., Ltd. CRIITEREF BEREEERND
BMRA7A]) (“Oriental Fortune Capital”) was interested in an
aggregate of 33,286,040 Domestic Shares through six entities,
including (i) Shenzhen Fuhai Juanyong Il Venture Capital
Enterprise (Limited Partnership) GRIIIE B E K —SEAIZEIRE %
(BBRA%E)) (the general partner is Shenzhen Oriental Fortune
Venture Capital Investment Co., Ltd. CRINTES B/EEI¥EK
BEEARAR), which was in turn wholly owned by Oriental
Fortune Capital), (ii) Shenzhen Fuhai Junyong Il Venture
Capital Enterprise (Limited Partnership) CEIIE &%k =57 A%
WENE (BRA%)) (the general partner is Shenzhen Oriental
Fortune Venture Capital Investment Co., Ltd., which was in
turn wholly owned by Oriental Fortune Capital), (iii) Shenzhen
Nanshan OFC Small and Medium Venture Capital Investment
Fund Partnership (Limited Partnership) (#JIFEILEH =&
INREIFEREESABLE (BRAE)) (the general partner is
Shenzhen Oriental Fortune Venture Capital Investment Co.,
Ltd. (FRYITER T EFAIEREEER AR AF]), which was in turn
managed by Oriental Fortune Capital), (iv) Shenzhen Fuhai
Xincai Phase Il Venture Capital Investment Fund Partnership
(Limited Partnership) (RIITEEHMM —HAIEKEESEEDE
% (BRAE)) (the general partner is Shenzhen Fuhai Xinwan
Equity Investment Fund Management Enterprise (Limited
Partnership) (RYIMEEBEREREESETELHE (ARER)),
which was in turn managed by Oriental Fortune Capital), (v)
Shenzhen Fuhai Youxuan Il High Technology Venture Capital
Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) (T = &EE
“HERHAEREABLE (BRAE)) (the general partner
is Shenzhen Oriental Fortune Venture Capital Investment Co.,
Ltd., which was in turn managed by Oriental Fortune Capital),
and (vi) Shenzhen Qianhai Kekong Fuhai Youxuan Venture
Capital Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) (3T
RBRHEE BEEAERESREE (BREX)) (the general
partner is Shenzhen Qianhai Kekong Gangshen Venture
Investment Co., Ltd OFIITANERHEE REIXREBR A
Al), which was in turn owned as to 50% by Oriental Fortune
Capital). Oriental Fortune Capital was owned as to 51.58%
by CHEN Wei (P®#%). Therefore, Oriental Fortune Capital and
CHEN Wei (FR3) were deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by above six entities under the SFO.

EERGABBRAR(IRABE]) BB AREE
MW& 233,286,040 RN E G - BIE
(VAR BEEXKREIERELE (AREE)
(EEREBABRIMESEBRIEREE
BERARA  ZATBRIBELEHRE)
(RN BBEK=RAERELE (BRER)
(HEBARAABRYMRABEAIXEREAER
BRAR ZARBHEHFBEREHEAR) ¢ (i)
FINEILRABERNUAIEREESEBRD
X (ERER) (HEBEBARRITRAE
BREIEREETEBRAR  ZARHRAEE
EE) (V)FRINTEEFM _HEIEREES
ARLE (BRAR) (HEBEEAARFIIM
EEEEREREESERCE (ARAE)
ZARHEFBEERE)  (WFRITEEEER
ZHEEREAEREARELE (ARAE) (B
TEEBAAFIITRAEGRIEREEES
RAR] ZARBEEAFBEEERE) - R(vi)RY
MAERIEE BEEAIEREARLE (BRE
B)(HEBaBABRYITANGRHE S RAIZE
TEBRAT - ZARIHRA =B EHA50%) °
RO EEHMREEEG51.58% ° At © RIFFH
REEER - ®AH B8 RREWFRIR AR LS
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As of the Latest Practicable Date, Shenzhen Fer-Capital
Investment Management Co., Ltd. (FIIFEXABIKEEES
[RA7F]) (“Fer-Capital”) was the general partner of each of
Shenzhen Yingkejin Investment Management Partnership
(Limited Partnership) (FYIBRIEREETEEBRLE(BERA
%)) (“Shenzhen Yingkejin”), Liuyang Woyang Health Industry
Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) (2IF33KF5 & &
EEXEREARLE (BRE%)) ("Woyang Health”), Changsha
Woyang Phase Il Health Industry Investment Partnership
(Limited Partnership) (EX)&R — B BEERES B E (AR
A%)) (“Woyang Phase 1I") and Shenzhen Luewei Investment
Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) (F3IIBSEISE
ERAELE (BRA%)) (“Shenzhen Luewei”). Fer-Capital is
held by FENG Tao (#7%), our non-executive Director, as to an
aggregate of approximately 42.8% (comprising 32.80% of his
direct equity interests, and as a general partner of Shenzhen
Huizhi Gongying Enterprise Management Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (RYIITESHXBCEEESEBLE (BREER))
holding 10% equity interests), and 33.60% by CHEN Erjia (FR&3
f£). Therefore, each of FENG Tao, CHEN Erjia and Fer-Capital
was deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Shenzhen
Yingkejin, Woyang Health, Woyang Phase Il and Shenzhen
Luewei under the SFO.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, SCC Growth VI Holdco C
(HK) Limited is wholly owned by Sequoia Capital China Growth
Fund VI, L.P. (“Sequoia Capital China GVI Fund”). The general
partner of Sequoia Capital China GVI Fund is SC China Growth
VI Management, L.P., whose general partner is SC China
Holding Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of SNP China
Enterprises Limited. Neil Nanpeng Shen is the sole shareholder
of SNP China Enterprises Limited. Therefore, each of Sequoia
Capital China GVI Fund, SC China Growth VI Management,
L.P., SC China Holding Limited, SNP China Enterprises Limited
and Neil Nanpeng Shen is deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by SCC Growth VI Holdco C (HK) Limited under
the SFO.

In addition, SCC Growth VI Holdco C (HK) Limited and
SCHP Master Fund are also deemed to be interested in the
945,500 Shares subscribed by them through the cornerstone
investment. The relevant Shares calculated herein are based
on (a) an exchange rate of HK$7.82367 to US$1.00; and
(b) the Offer Price of HK$24.80 per H Share, and subject to
the rounding down to the nearest whole board lot of 500 H
Shares. For details, please see “Cornerstone Placing” of the
Prospectus.

10.
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11.

12.

13.

14.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, Nanjing Zhaoyin Modern
Industry No. Il Equity Investment Fund (Limited Partnership)
(ARBRRAEXARBREREES (BERAE)) ("Zhaoyin
Modern”), Nanjing Zhenyuan Il Equity Investment Partnership
(Limited Partnership) (M REIRERBEREGZTLE(BER
A%)) (“Nanjing Zhenyuan”) and Nanjing Zhaoyin Gongying
Equity Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) (FR
MRBELERMBEERESREE (BRAE%)) (“Nanjing Zhaoyin
Gongying”), which are managed by Jiangsu Zhaoyin Industrial
Fund Management Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of
CMB International Capital Management (Shenzhen) Ltd., which
is in turn a wholly-owned subsidiary of CMB Financial Holdings
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.. CMB Financial Holdings (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd. is wholly-owned by CMB International Capital Corporation
Limited, which is held as to 83.2% by CMB International
Capital Holdings Corporation Limited. CMB International
Capital Holdings Corporation Limited is wholly-owned by China
Merchants Bank Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 03968) and Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 600036).

Therefore, each of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.,CMB
International Capital Holdings Corporation Limited, CMB
International Capital Corporation Limited and CMB Financial
Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. is deemed to be interested in
the Shares held by each of Zhaoyin Modern, Nanjing Zhenyuan
and Nanjing Zhaoyin Gongyin under the SFO.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, LBC Sunshine Healthcare
Fund Il L.P. was managed by Lake Bleu Capital (Hong Kong)
Limited, which was controlled by Mr. LI Bin (Z#). Therefore,
each of Lake Bleu Capital (Hong Kong) Limited and Mr. LI Bin
(ZH) was deemed to be interested in the Shares held by LBC
Sunshine Il under the SFO.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, Yangtze River (Hong
Kong) Limited was owned as to 90% by XU Haoyu (&%&F).
Therefore, XU Haoyu (#%/&5F) was deemed to be interested in
the Shares held by Yangtze River (Hong Kong) Limited under
the SFO.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, Morgan Stanley & Co.
International plc is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Morgan
Stanley Investments (UK), which in turn is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Morgan Stanley International Limited. Morgan
Stanley International Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Morgan Stanley International Holdings Inc., which in turn
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Morgan Stanley. Therefore,
each of Morgan Stanley Investments (UK), Morgan Stanley
International Limited, Morgan Stanley International Holdings
Inc. and Morgan Stanley was deemed to be interested in
the Shares held by Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc
under the SFO.

12.

13.

14.
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Save as disclosed above, as of the Latest Practicable Date,
no person, other than the Directors or chief executives of our
Company whose interests are set out in the section headed
“Directors’, Supervisors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares and Debentures of our
Company and any of its Associated Corporations” below, had any
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of
the SFO.

DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF OUR COMPANY AND ANY OF ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As of the Latest Practicable Date, the interests and short positions
of the Directors, Supervisors and chief executives of our Company
and their associates in any of the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of our Company or its associated corporation (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register
required to be kept by our Company pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, or as otherwise notified to our Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Long Positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of our
Company
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Approximate
percentage of
interest in the
relevant class

Approximate
percentage of

Number and interest in our of Shares of

Nature of interest class of Shares™ Company®™  our Company

B DR

AR R HRIR PR

Name BE/E8 BEME ROHERERO WHIAILO WEIEIHEO

Dr. Liu | Beneficial owner 258,590 Domestic Shares 0.05% 0.07%
EnfAA 258,590/ & R

Interest in controlled corporations® 96,682,850 Domestic Shares 20.18% 24.83%
XL ER? 96,682,850 W& fix

FENG Tao® e Interest in controlled corporations 27,203,740 Domestic Shares 5.68% 6.99%

R EE RS

27,203,740k A & ik
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Notes:

1. As of the Latest Practicable Date, the Company has issued a
total of 479,104,500 Shares, comprising 377,322,880 Domestic
Shares, 12,000,000 Unlisted Foreign Shares and 89,781,620
H Shares. All interests stated are long positions. For the
Domestic shareholders, the approximate percentage of interest
in the relevant class of Shares of the Company is calculated
based on the sum of issued domestic shares and unlisted
foreign shares.

2. As of the Latest Practicable Date, Dr. Liu is the general partner
of each of Taizhou Yuangong, Taizhou Baibei, Taizhou Guquan
and Lianyungang Ruibaitai and interested in an aggregate
of 96,682,850 Domestic Shares held by these four entities.
Therefore, Dr. Liu is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by each of Taizhou Yuangong, Taizhou Baibei, Taizhou
Guqguan and Lianyungang Ruibaitai under the SFO.

8. As of the Latest Practicable Date, Fer-Capital was the general
partner of each of Shenzhen Yingkejin, Woyang Health,
Woyang Phase Il and Shenzhen Luewei. Fer-Capital is held
by FENG Tao (37&), our non-executive Director, as to an
aggregate of approximately 42.8% (comprising 32.80% of his
direct equity interests, and as a general partner of Shenzhen
Huizhi Gongying Enterprise Management Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (RIITESXBCEEEESEBLEX (BREER))
holding 10% equity interests), and 33.60% by CHEN Erjia (FR&3
f£). Therefore, each of FENG Tao, CHEN Erjia and Fer-Capital
was deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Shenzhen
Yingkejin, Woyang Health, Woyang Phase Il and Shenzhen
Luewei under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as of the Latest Practicable Date, none
of the Directors, Supervisors or chief executives of our Company
or their associates had or was deemed to have any interests or
short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of
our Company or any of its associated corporations.

PENSION SCHEME

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. The
subsidiaries operating in mainland China is required to contribute
a certain percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension scheme.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME
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Our Company adopted share award schemes (the “Schemes”)
for certain personnel in order to recognize and reward the
contribution of certain directors and employees (“Granted
employees”) to the growth and development of the Group, and
retain eligible employees for the continuous operation and
development of the Group. During the year, the Group granted
equity interests of our Company under the Schemes through
Lianyungang Ruiwenshibole Biotechnology Partnership (L.P.)
(“Ruiwenshibole”), Lianyungang Ruibaitai Pharmaceutical
Technology Partnership (L.P.) (“Ruibaitai”) and Lianyungang
Ruibaihe Pharmaceutical Technology Partnership (L.P.)
(“Ruibaihe”). All of the Ruiwenshibole, Ruibaitai and Ruibaihe are
controlled by the general partners of the partnerships.

On March 25, 2021, 2.2% of the then equity interest in our
Company were granted to 41 selected employees of our Company
for a consideration of RMB12,738,000 through Ruiwenshibole.
There was no vesting period for these equity interest granted.

On March 25, 2021, 2.8% of the then equity interest in our
Company were granted to 41 selected employees of our Company
for a consideration of RMB16,212,000 through Ruibaitai. The
vesting period and vesting condition of the scheme were as
follows.

In May 2021, 0.1038% of the then equity interest (equivalent
to 46,544 shares before the Share Allotment, and 465,436 as
adjusted after the Share Allotment) in our Company were forfeited
due to the resign of one employee, and were transferred to
another employee as newly granted share awards.

During July to November 2021, 0.0175% of the then equity interest
(equivalent to 78,533 shares) in our Company were forfeited due
to the resign of four employees and was transferred to another
employee as newly granted share awards.

On September 27, 2021, 1.1% of the then equity interest
(equivalent to 4,925,832 shares) in our Company were granted
to 19 selected employees of our Company for a consideration
of RMB9,572,000 through Ruibaihe. The 1.1% equity interest
aforementioned was transferred from Dr. Liu which has met the
vesting condition and thus was regarded as newly granted share
awards.
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The vesting period and vesting condition of the granted equity
interests through Ruibaitai and Ruibaihe were as follows.
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Vesting % Vesting Period

SRl SEA

20% (i) if employment with the Group exceeds two years: 20% of the share awards granted can
be vested at grant date; (ii) otherwise, the vesting period is defined as grant date through
the date reaching two years ‘employment with the Group

20% (VAL EERBEBME - KRERGEEN20%AIREEBHEE : ()E8 - BEHATREK
HEH - BEEAEERERABHEARER

20% 3 years

20% 3

60% 5 years

60% 5%

During the year ended December 31, 2021, share based payment
of RMB137,689,000 was charged to profit or loss. Please refer
to note 30 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report for details.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time for the year
ended December 31, 2021 was our Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, our Company or any other body corporate; and
none of the Directors, or any of their spouse or children under the
age of 18, had any right to subscribe for equity or debt securities
of our Company or any other body corporate, or had exercised
any such right.

EMOLUMENT POLICY AND DIRECTORS’ AND
SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION

In compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the
Corporate Governance Code, our Company has established the
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee to formulate remuneration
policies. Directors, Supervisors and senior management members
who receive remuneration from our Company are paid in forms
of salaries, allowances, discretionary bonuses and other benefits
in kind. The remuneration of our Directors, Supervisors and
senior management members is determined with reference to
their experience, duties and performance and the salaries of
comparable companies.
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Our Company also has adopted the Share Award Scheme to
provide incentives for certain employees. Please refer to the
section headed “Share Award Scheme” above for further details.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, senior management
and the five highest paid individuals are set out in note 8 and note
9 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report,
respectively.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
and there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the
Directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or
as compensation for loss of office.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

For the year ended December 31, 2021 and up to the Latest
Practicable Date, we have not entered into any connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which should be
disclosed pursuant to the Rules 14A.49 and 14A.71 of the Listing
Rules.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM GLOBAL OFFERING

Our Company’s H Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange
on March 31, 2022. The net proceeds from the Global Offering
(subject to the exercise of over-allotment option) amounted to
approximately HK$672.4 million. As of the Latest Practicable
Date, our Company did not anticipate any change to its plan on
the use of proceeds as stated in the Prospectus. As of the Latest
Practicable Date, our Company did not utilize any of the proceeds
from the global offering. Going forward, the net proceeds will be
applied in the manner as set out in the section headed “Future
Plans and Use of Proceeds” of the Prospectus.
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The breakdown of our expected uses of proceeds from the Global
Offering (without taking into account the exercise of the over-
allotment option) is as follows:

(i)

(i)

Approximately 47.3%, or HK$317.9 million, will be allocated
to continue to optimize, develop and commercialize our
HPV vaccine pipeline, including our Core Product, the
recombinant HPV 9-valent vaccine REC6083, as follows:

° Approximately 45.2%, or HK$303.6 million, will
be used for the ongoing phase IIl clinical trial,
registration, manufacturing and commercialization
of our Core Product, REC603, including (i) 27.9%
for the phase lll clinical trial from 2021 to 2025 of
REC603; and (ii) 2.3% for BLA submission, including
the related bridging studies and R&D activities
in relation to pilot manufacturing as required by
the CDE; (iii) 13.1% for constructing the HPV
manufacturing facility in Taizhou; and (iv) 1.9%
for the commercialization activities in relation to
REC603; and

° Approximately 2.1%, or HK$14.3 million, will be
used for the preclinical and clinical research
for other HPV vaccine candidates, namely our
recombinant HPV bivalent vaccine candidates
REC601 and REC602 and adjuvanted second-
generation HPV vaccine candidates REC604a and
REC604b, including (i) 1.2% for the pre-clinical
research of REC604a and REC604b, (ii) 0.3% for
the IND submission of REC604a and REC604b; and
(iii) 0.6% for the ongoing phase | clinical trial of
REC601 and REC602 and the phase | clinical trial of
REC604a and REC604b.

Approximately 17.7%, or HK$119.3 million, will be used
for the preclinical and clinical studies, registration of
our COVID-19 vaccine, namely ReCOV, including (i)
approximately 0.5% will be used for the ongoing pre-
clinical studies for ReCQOV; (ii) 0.5% will be used for the
ongoing phase | clinical trial in New Zealand; (iii) 2.0% will
be used for the phase Il clinical trial; and (iv) 14.7% will be
used for the phase lll clinical trial. As we intend to settle
the milestone payments under Collaboration Agreement
with our own funds, this does not include such milestone
payments to be made under the Collaboration Agreement.
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(iii)

(iv)

(v)
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Approximately 21.1%, or HK$142.0 million, will be used
for the preclinical and clinical studies, registration of
other vaccine candidates, including our recombinant
shingles vaccine, REC610; TB vaccines, REC606; and
REC607,recombinant quadrivalent influenza vaccine,
REC617; and recombinant HFMD quadrivalent vaccine,
REC605 including (i) 12.0% will be used for REC610,
namely (a) 2.5% on pre-clinical studies; (b) 0.4% on
IND submission; (c) 6.6% on clinical trials and (d)
2.6% on registration, manufacturing preparation and
commercialization; (ii) 5.2% will be used for the pre-
clinical studies, IND submission and phase | clinical trial
of REC606 and REC607, namely (a) 2.5% on pre-clinical
studies; (b) 1.4% on IND submission and (c) 1.3% on
phase | clinical trials; and (iii) 3.9% will be used for the
pre-clinical studies, IND submission and phase | clinical
trials of other vaccine candidates including REC617 and
REC605. As we intend to settle the milestone payments
under the Technology Transfer Agreement with our own
funds, this does not include such milestone payments to be
made under the Technology Transfer Agreement.

Approximately 6.7%, or HK$44.7 million, will be used to
further enhance our R&D capabilities and enhance our
operating efficiencies, including (a) 2.7% will be used
to recruit more R&D personnel and further enhance our
technology platforms to support our ongoing needs; (b)
2.4% will be used to build our manufacturing and quality
control system; and (c) 1.6% will be used in upgrading our
information technology infrastructure.

Approximately 7.2%, or HK$48.5 million, will be used for
our working capital and general corporate purposes.

To the extent that the net proceeds from the Global Offering
are not immediately applied to the above purposes and to the
extent permitted by the relevant law and regulations, so long
as it is deemed to be in the best interests of our Company, we
may hold such funds in short-term deposits with licensed banks

or authorized financial institutions in Hong Kong. We expect to

complete the use of net proceeds from the Global Offering by the

end of 2023. We will make an appropriate announcement if there
is any change to the above proposed use of proceeds.

(iii)

(iv)

(v)
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Immediately following completion of the Global Offering and
before the exercise of the Over-allotment Option, (i) the number
of H Shares in public hands will be 89,781,620 H Shares,
representing approximately 18.74% of the total issued share
capital of our Company which satisfies the minimum percentage
prescribed in the conditions imposed in the waiver granted by the
Stock Exchange from strict compliance with Rule 8.08(1) of the
Listing Rules, and (ii) our Company complied with Rule 18A.07
of the Listing Rules that a portion of the total number of our
Company’s issued shares with a market capitalization of at least
HK$375 million were held by the public at the time of Listing.

Based on the information that is publicly available to our Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as of the date of
the Latest Practicable Date, our Company has maintained the
prescribed percentage of public float under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
audited by Ernst & Young. The Company engaged Ernst & Young
in March 2021 and did not engage any other auditors before.

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis — Business Review — Events after the Reporting
Period”, no important events affecting our Company occurred
since the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual
report.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS
Save as disclosed in this annual report, we do not have other

plans for material investments and capital assets as of the date of
this annual report.

|
(4 & =
A A | (%3

]]\ @ N h:’:.b
gom——— N

N

aq

a

DBFRE

BRI ETTRE - YN BEEREETER
(WVARFFBERHIREE K %&89,781,620RHAX + 4
BARNRBEITRABTENI8.74%  FABRAT
BB G EREET ETRRIES.08(1) RATHE M &1
HENREEDEL  RINAAT BT LHREE
18A.071& » B ETHEF + AQE B BITRMD B EA B
D (MEEVAITSEBATL) EHARALRES -

RERAZEERATAHENARRARAIHERNE
BRBEEMAN > NARSHR EMRRIET At

NEFBREBEDL °

BB

AEBEEYBRERALTKSTMEBFNERS - &
NAEIN2021F3 AR EL KRR EEAT + MoLA
I £ & BE A (o] B AR ELAD o

BREMRERSERE

BRIEEERREAN - XB0E - REMRSE
B —HAREEIN  BREHREEEAFEREH
H - SEFEARRNERRRRAL -

ERAREREREENRRTE

BRAFEREMBEREEIN  BEAFEREAL
BAMEERARERENEEMNH S



CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS AND
RECORD DATE

The register of members of our Company will be closed from
May 18, 2022 to June 17, 2022, both days inclusive, in order to
determine the eligibility of the Shareholders to attend and vote
at the AGM to be held on June 17, 2022. In order to be eligible
to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer accompanied by the
relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with
our Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong
Kong before 4:30 p.m. on May 17, 2022.

By order of the Board

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
Dr. LIU Yong

Chairman

Jiangsu Province, the PRC
April 20, 2022
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The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report
in our Company’s annual report for the year ended December 31,
2021.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

We strive to maintain high standards of corporate governance
to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. Our Company has adopted the
Code Provisions of the CG Code as the basis of our Company’s
corporate governance practices since the Listing Date.

The CG Code has been applicable to our Company with effect
from the Listing Date and was not applicable to our Company
during the year ended December 31, 2021. Except as disclosed in
this corporate governance report, our Company has complied with
all applicable Code Provisions as set out in the CG Code from the
Listing Date up to the date of this annual report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board Composition

The Board structure is governed by the Articles of Association.
The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director
having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and
strategic planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the
business of our Group.

The Board currently comprises twelve members, including
three executive Directors, five non-executive Directors and four
independent non-executive Directors.

The list of all Directors, which also specifies the position, e.g.
Chairman, and chairman and member of committees, held by
each Director is set out under the section headed “Corporate
Information” in this annual report. The independent non-executive
Directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications
pursuant to the Listing Rules. The list of Directors (by category)
is also disclosed in all corporate communications issued by our
Company pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to time.
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The current composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors:

Dr. LIU Yong (Chairman of the Board and General Manager)
Dr. CHEN Jianping
Mr. LI Bu

Non-Executive Directors:

Dr. HONG Kunxue
Dr. ZHOU Hongbin
Mr. ZHAO Hui

Dr. DU Wei

Dr. FENG Tao

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. LIANG Guodong

Dr. XIA Lijun

Professor GAO Feng
Professor YUEN Ming Fai

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Biographies of our Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” on pages 36 to 55 of this annual report.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there is no other
relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships) between the board members.

Board Meetings

The Board requires the Directors to devote sufficient time and
attention to their duties and responsibilities. Regular Board
meetings shall be convened at least four times each year. The
Board normally will schedule meetings regularly and will meet as
and when required to discuss the matters concerning our Group
including its overall business, development strategy, operations
and financial reporting. Notice of the regular Board regular
meeting shall be given to all Directors at least 14 days before
the meeting. Notices of the Board extraordinary meeting shall be
given to all Directors and Supervisors at least 5 days before the
meeting.
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Since the Listing Date and up to the Latest Practicable Date, no
Board meeting or general meeting of the Company was held.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors, non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors of our Company has entered
into a service contract with our Company for a term of three
years following his/her respective appointment date unless it is
terminated in accordance with their respective terms. The term of
appointment of each Director is subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at general meeting in accordance with the Articles
of Association and the Listing Rules.

Our Company may, in accordance with the Articles of Association,
by ordinary resolution remove any Director before the expiration of
his/her term of office.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Nomination Committee
evaluates skills, knowledge and experience required by the
Board, and identifies if there are any special requirements for
the vacancy. The Nomination Committee identifies appropriate
candidates and convenes Nomination Committee meeting
to discuss and vote in respect of the nominated Directors
and recommends candidates for Directors to the Board. The
Nomination Committee considers candidates with individual skills,
experience and professional knowledge that can best assist
and facilitate the effectiveness of the Board. The Nomination
Committee also takes our Company’s board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) into consideration when it considers the
balance of composition of the Board as a whole.
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Duties of the Board of Directors and the Management

In accordance with the rights and duties stipulated in the Articles
of Association, the Board reports to the general meeting and is
responsible for implementing resolutions of the general meeting,
safeguarding interests of the Company and all Shareholders, and
making decisions on the Company's development goals and major
business activities. The rights of the Board include, but not limited
to, laying down strategies and overseeing their implementation,
directly and indirectly through its committees leading and
providing direction to the management, monitoring the Group's
operation and financial performance, ensuring that sound internal
control and risk management systems are in place, and other
rights conferred by the Articles of Association.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of
valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to
the Board for its efficient and effective functioning. All Directors
have full and timely access to all the data of the Company
and may, upon request, seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances for discharging their duties to
the Company. The independent non-executive Directors are
responsible for earnestly reviewing significant matters to be
resolved by the Board and exercising their voting rights on an
independent, prudent and objective basis, to effectively safeguard
legitimate rights and interests of the Company and its public
Shareholders.

Daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the management, which is responsible for overseeing
the Company's production, operation and management,
organising and implementing the resolutions of the Board
and other duties stipulated in the Articles of Association. The
delegated functions and duties should be periodically reviewed
by the Board. Approval shall to be obtained from the Board prior
to any major transaction can be entered into by the management
that exceeds the approved annual budget.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. In view of Dr. Liu’s experience,
personal profile and his roles in our Company as mentioned
above and that Dr. Liu has assumed the role of general manager
of our Company since our commencement of business, the Board
considers it beneficial to the business prospect and operational
efficiency of our Company that Dr. Liu acts as the chairman of
the Board and continues to act as the general manager of our
Company.

While this will constitute a deviation from the code provision, the
Board believes that this structure will not impair the balance of
power and authority between the Board and the management of
our Company, given that: (i) decision to be made by our Board
requires approval by at least a majority of our Directors; (ii) Dr.
Liu and the other Directors are aware of and undertake to fulfil
their fiduciary duties as Directors, which require, among other
things, that he acts for the benefit and in the best interests of our
Company and will make decisions for our Company accordingly;
and (iii) the balance of power and authority is ensured by the
operations of the Board which comprises experienced and high
caliber individuals who meet regularly to discuss issues affecting
the operations of our Company. Moreover, the overall strategic
and other key business, financial, and operational policies of our
Company are made collectively after thorough discussion at both
Board and senior management levels. The Board will continue to
review the effectiveness of the corporate governance structure of
our Company in order to assess whether separation of the roles of
chairman of the Board and chief executive officer is necessary.

Independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors

During the period from the Listing Date to the date of this annual
report, our Company has four independent non-executive
Directors, who at all times meets the requirements of the Listing
Rules that the number of independent non-executive Directors
must represent at least one-third of the Board and should not be
less than three, and that at least one of the independent non-
executive Directors has appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.
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The Board has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Our Company considers all
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a
service agreement with our Company for a term of three years
following his respective appointment date and will terminate
in accordance with the terms and conditions stated in the
agreement. Independent non-executive Directors are required
to inform our Company if there is any change that may affect his
independence.

Induction and Continuing Development of Directors

All Directors will comply with Code Provision C.1.4 of the CG
Code that all Directors participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The Directors will be provided with amendments to or updates on
the relevant laws, rules and regulations and the Listing Rules to
keep them abreast of the latest development.

In preparation of the Listing, our Company has arranged, and
all Directors attended, the seminar training on the Listing Rules
and other aspects of Hong Kong securities laws conducted by
the legal advisor of our Company and relevant training material
has been distributed to all the Directors. The training covered
topics including, but not limited to, directors’ duties, disclosure
obligations under laws of Hong Kong, the Listing Rules and other
applicable laws, the requirements of discloseable transactions
and connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

Every newly appointed Director should receive formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of
his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of our Company and full awareness of
Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and relevant statutory requirements.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

Our Company has adopted the Model Code since the Listing
Date.

As our Company was not listed on the Stock Exchange as
of December 31, 2021, related rules under the Listing Rules
concerning the Model Code that the Directors shall observe did
not apply to our Company for the year ended December 31,
2021. Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and
Supervisors and all Directors and Supervisors confirmed that
they have complied with the Model Code for transactions in our
Company’s securities from the Listing Date and up to the date of
this annual report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee, and the
Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of our
Company’s affairs. All Board committees of our Company are
established with defined written terms of reference which are
available for Shareholders’ viewing on the Company’s website and
the Stock Exchange’s website.

Audit Committee

Our Company established the Audit Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules
and the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee consists of three
members, including two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Dr. XIA Lijun and Professor YUEN Ming Fai and one non-
executive Director, namely Dr. ZHOU Hongbin. Dr. XIA Lijun has
been appointed as the chairman of the Audit Committee, and is
our independent non-executive Director holding the appropriate
professional qualifications. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting
process and internal control system of our Company, oversee the
audit process, review and oversee the existing and potential risks
of our Company and perform other duties and responsibilities as
assigned by our Board.
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As our Company was listed on March 31, 2022, no Audit

Committee meeting was held during the year ended December
31, 2021.

Since the end of the Reporting Period and up to the Latest
Practicable Date, one Audit Committee meeting was held on April
6, 2022 at which the Audit Committee discussed the 2021 audit
plan with independent auditors, Ernst & Young, and reviewed the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended December 31, 2021. The Audit Committee has also
discussed internal control with senior management members of
our Company. All members of the Audit Committee attended the
meeting.

Remuneration and Appraisal Committee

Our Company established the Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule
3.25 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Remuneration
and Appraisal Committee consists of seven members, including
four independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. XIA Lijun,
Mr. LIANG Guodong, Professor GAO Feng and Professor YUEN
Ming Fai, one executive Director, namely Mr. LI Bu, and two
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. ZHAO Hui and Dr. DU Wei.
Professor YUEN Ming Fai has been appointed as the chairman of
the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee. The primary duties of
the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee are to establish and
review the remuneration policy and structure for the Directors and
senior management and make recommendations on employee
benefit arrangement. Taking into account of their qualification,
position and seniority, the Directors’ remuneration are determined
by our Board based on the recommendation of the Remuneration
and Appraisal Committee.

As our Company was listed on March 31, 2022, no Remuneration
and Appraisal Committee meeting was held during the year ended
December 31, 2021.

Since the end of the Reporting Period and up to the Latest
Practicable Date, one Remuneration and Appraisal Committee
meeting was held on April 6, 2022 at which the Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee reviewed the existing remuneration policies
and structure for Directors and senior management, and put
forward suggestions to the Board on the remuneration of Directors,
supervisors and senior management in 2022. All members of the
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee attended the meeting.

SREARE

BARARTR2022F3 A31H £ » #{220215F12
R31BILFE  BRZESUWARBHREMRNEE -

EREAREREEREERATHE BZE8
FER2022F4 A6 HBRIT—AE#% - 8L BEZE
B BB B K TR BT #2021 8
et B ER T ASEEE2021F12A31 B ILF
EREEZGAMBHRE  -BREE8SMELARA]

=
ZEEMARBEHEHESE

FMREREES

ARBEKRUHMEEZZE S  HEROREHLE
A EMRAFEI. 255K LR AIER 14 TR
XBRTA - FHEERZEEHEAREAK
BRENZBIUIKTEETELERL - RERE
£ - GAO Feng#HEMR#BEHE - —2WTESR
FHELERMEIFRTESHEEE RITHEL
RBBHBECEZTAFTHREZZEGER - ¥
MEEZZEEZTERERNELRENEZRS
REEBOFMBERLERE W E TR ZHHE
R - KEBHEE  BUMEE  EFNFHM
HEFSRBEFHEESZZEaNERERETE °

BERARRIN202243 318 £ » H#E20214F12
A31BLLFE  FHEEXZESWRBITEMNS

=3
AR °

BEREHREREERABERA{TEHE  HEEZE
ZEEGEN2022F4 A6 A BRIT—NEH - @ L
FHEEZZE S BH T RTESAaAEHEY
FHER SR R 2808 - W 2022 EE  BEERaME
BEFMRAZESSREES - FTHEEZZE SN
ERNEHBLERESE -

93



Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.

94 TammemEERGERAR

/

Corporate Governance Report | i
EEERRE

The remuneration of the members of senior management by band  #ZE2021F 12831 HILFE - S REEA & i B
for the year ended December 31, 2021 is set out below: FEFIIOT -

Number of senior

Remuneration to the senior management
management by bands (RMB) SREBEABTMEE (ARY) EREEBAY
4,000,000 - 5,000,000 4,000,000 - 5,000,000 1
7,000,000 - 8,000,000 7,000,000 - 8,000,000 2
8,000,000 - 9,000,000 8,000,000 - 9,000,000 2
76,000,000 — 77,000,000 76,000,000 - 77,000,000 1
Total 5t 6

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, Supervisors and
senior management for the year ended December 31, 2021 are
set out in notes 8 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report.

Nomination Committee

Our Company established the Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.27A of the Listing
Rules and the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee consists of five
members, including one executive Director, namely Dr. LIU Yong,
one non-executive Director, namely Dr. FENG Tao, and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Professor GAO
Feng, Mr. LIANG Guodong and Dr. XIA Lijun. Dr. LIU Yong, the
Chairman of the Board, has been appointed as the chairman of
the Nomination Committee. The primary duties of the Nomination
Committee are to make recommendations to our Board on the
appointment and removal of Directors of our Company.

As our Company was listed on March 31, 2022, no Nomination
Committee meeting was held during the year ended December
31, 2021.

Since the end of the Reporting Period and up to the Latest
Practicable Date, one Nomination Committee meeting was held
on April 6, 2022 at which the Nomination Committee reviewed
and evaluated the current Board composition. All members of the
Nomination Committee attended the meeting.
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In order to enhance the effectiveness of our Board and to maintain
the high standard of corporate governance, we have adopted the
Board Diversity Policy which sets out the objective and approach
to achieve and maintain diversity of our Board. Pursuant to our
Board Diversity Policy, we seek to achieve the diversity of our
Board through the consideration of a number of factors when
selecting the candidates to our Board, including but not limited to
gender, skills, age, professional experience, knowledge, cultural,
education background, ethnicity and length of service. The
ultimate decision of the appointment will be based on merit and
the contribution which the selected candidates will bring to our
Board.

We have taken, and will continue to take, steps to promote gender
diversity at all levels of our Company, including but not limited to
our Board and the senior management levels. In particular, our
chief financial officer, who is responsible for financing activities,
investor relationship, internal auditing and control and corporate
governance of the Group, is female and forms part of our senior
management team. Going forward, we will continue to work to
enhance gender diversity of our Board. Our Board will appoint a
female director within one year from the Listing Date.

Our Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity
of our Board members. Our Nomination Committee will monitor the
implementation of our Board Diversity Policy, and will review our
Board composition at least once annually taking into account our
Board Diversity Policy as a whole. When making recommendation
on Board appointments, our Nomination Committee will adhere
to our Board Diversity Policy with the ultimate goal of achieving
greater gender diversity to the Board. We will also continue to
ensure that there is gender diversity when recruiting staff at mid
to senior level so that we will have a pipeline of female senior
management and potential successors to our Board in due time
to ensure gender diversity of our Board. Our Group will continue
to emphasize training of female talent and providing long-term
development opportunities for our female staff. As of the Latest
Practicable Date, the number of female employees in our Group
has accounted for approximately 51% in the total number of our
employees.
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Our Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and skills and
obtained degrees in various majors. We have four independent
non-executive Directors with different industry backgrounds,
representing one-third of the members of our Board. Furthermore,
our Board has a balanced age representation. Taking into
account our existing business model and specific needs as well
as the different background of our Directors, the composition of
our Board satisfies our Board Diversity Policy. Our Nomination
Committee will review and monitor the implementation of our
Board Diversity Policy from time to time to ensure its continued
effectiveness.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for determining corporate governance
policy of our Company and performing the functions set out in
Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. The Board reviews our
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of the Directors,
Supervisors and senior management, our Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
and our Company’s compliance with the CG Code, our Company’s
code of conduct applicable to its employees and Directors,
and disclosure in its Corporate Governance Report during the
Reporting Period.

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. The joint company secretaries of our Company may
from time to time and as the circumstances required, provide
updated written training materials relating to the roles, functions
and duties of a director of a company listed on the Stock
Exchange.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting in
Respect of Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
audited consolidated financial statements of our Company for the
year ended December 31, 2021.

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation
of financial statements of our Company with a view to ensuring
that such financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group and relevant statutory and regulatory
requirements and applicable accounting standards are complied
with as well as such internal control as the Directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements
that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

The Board has received from the senior management of our
Company the management accounts and such accompanying
explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board
to make an informed assessment for approving the financial
statements.

Oversight by our Audit Committee

In accordance with the duties and responsibilities set out under
its terms of reference, the Audit Committee assists the Board by
providing objective review of our Company’s accounting policies,
financial position, financial reporting procedures and financial
controls as well as the integrity, accuracy and fairness of our
Company'’s financial statements. In addition, the Audit Committee
discusses any questions or doubts that may be raised by the
external auditors and review the external auditors’ independent
letter of audit and other proposals to the senior management of
our Company.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing
their effectiveness. We are subject to various risks during
our operations, the details of which are set out in the section
headed “Risk Factors” in the Prospectus and the section headed
“Directors’ Report — Principal Risks and Uncertainty” in this annual
report. Our Company has established a comprehensive risk-
management system and relevant policies and procedures which
we consider suitable for our business operations. Our policies and
procedures are aimed at managing and monitoring our business
performance. We have adopted, or will continue to adopt, among
other things, the following risk management measures:

. establish the Audit Committee to review and supervise our
financial reporting process and internal control system.
Our Audit Committee consists of three members: Dr. XIA
Lijun (the chairman of the committee), Professor YUEN
Ming Fai and Dr. ZHOU Hongbin. For the qualifications and
experiences of these members, please refer to the section
headed “Biographies of our Directors, Supervisors and
Senior Management” in this annual report;

o adopt various policies to ensure the compliance with
the Listing Rules, including but not limited to policies in
respect of risk management, connected transactions and
information disclosure;

o provide regular anti-corruption and anti-bribery compliance
training for senior management and employees in order to
enhance their knowledge of and compliance of applicable
laws and regulations; and

° arrange our Directors and senior management to attend
training seminars on Listing Rules requirements and
the responsibilities as directors of a Hong Kong-listed
company.
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As a crucial part of our internal control system, we have adopted
stringent procedures to protect the confidentiality of clinical trial
data we collected. Sensitive patient data we obtained in our
clinical trial is stored in the Internet data center established and
owned by us. Our clinical operation department is responsible
for supervising the data protection practice during clinical trials.
We have kept all patient data such as personal information since
they enrolled in our clinical trials for an indefinite period unless
deletion of such data is required by relevant laws and regulations
or requested by the relevant users. We also provide on-board
training with respect to the handling of personal data to all of our
employees when they join us.

-
~
-

l

We have also adopted a set of anti-corruption policies. Our
management team and audit committee are responsible for
designing and implementing our anti-corruption policies and
procedures as well as overseeing our anti-corruption practice.
Our employee handbook and code of conduct sets standard
requirement for our employees in relation to anti-corruption
policies. We have also established a whistle blower program to
encourage employees to report any suspicious conduct and we
will initiate our internal investigation on such suspicious conduct
if necessary. Any employee found in breach of the relevant anti-
corruption policies faces termination of employment. We also
provide anti-corruption training to our employees on an annual
basis.

We value the environmental, social and climate-related impact that
our operations may have during our daily operations. Our senior
management are responsible for overseeing our environmental,
social and climate-related practice. We also encourage our
employees to report any issues or risks in this area they spot in
daily operations. We have also implemented stringent procedures,
which cover crucial aspects of our operations, to ensure that
our environmental, social and climate-related practice complies
with the applicable PRC laws and regulations. We value the well-
being of our employees and we have also adopted a series of
procedures to ensure that our health and safety practice complies
with applicable PRC laws and regulations. We also adopt a
whistle-blowing policy through which our employees can report
any health or safety related incidents on an anonymous basis.
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We have also adopted an information disclosure policy, through
which our Directors, senior management and employees are
provided with thorough guidance on the internal approval
procedures as well as the disclosure and/or Shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules and other
applicable laws and regulations in relation to inside information,
notifiable transactions, connected transactions and other material
events concerning our Group.

Prior to the Listing Date, we have appointed an internal control
consultant to review the effectiveness of our internal control
measures related to our major business processes, to identify the
deficiencies for improvement, advise on the rectification measures
and review the implementation of such measures. During
the review process of our internal control consultant, certain
internal control matters were identified and we have adopted
corresponding internal control measures to improve on these
matters. We have adopted the recommendations made by the
internal control consultant, and our internal control consultant has
completed the follow-up procedures on our internal control system
with regard to those actions taken by us in June 2021 and has not
identified any material deficiencies in our internal control system.

Risk Management and Internal Control

(a) The Company has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined
authority for implementation by key business processes
and office functions. All departments conduct internal
control assessment regularly to identify risks that may
impact the business of the Group and various aspects
including key operational and financial processes,

regulatory compliance and information security.

In accordance with the risk-oriented principle, the
Company has determined the main units, businesses and
events and the high-risk areas included in the scope of
assessment. There are four main units, i.e. the Company
and its majority-owned subsidiaries. The main businesses
and events include four aspects, i.e. internal environment,
major control activities, information communication
and internal supervision. The high-risk areas of focus
mainly include capital management, engineering project
management, seal management, contract management,
human resource management, procurement and payment
management, asset management and information system
management.

/

BATRABERBEERR - BBZEE - RAINE

- ERERABREETRANELEFARE
MRABTHRER KR RIERERBEARE
HE ATRNRS  BREXZRPEANEEZE
EREMOEMERER R ERT2EES] -

RE™BEHR - RS RES LA BPIEH R
BEFTHRMEREHIMIZNE R A ERIEH i
WAL UHEFEURENTEZR @ REEN
HENER  YESZFHENERBR - M
MAMEGIERNESRES  BERTETRE
BRI - RIS AL RET AR B P B R I e SR 2R
EREEE - HMIEARMA T ARMES ERE
o WA B ERC IR 202146 A
FEREREYTT B SE R A BRI B R AT R B AR /7 - B
IR IR B F R EM E AR

2 B B R A A R4

(a) ARFCHERRRZIERRE BIEF RIE
5 WEBTBEBKRIELMAEBEERTE
EMER o S E8FIHE BETARBEE
B ABRIR R ERNSEXEBLERER
BERMBRE  EEARMERLZEZER
2875 R E R o

ARRIZRERER R ANEEXATELE
EEBMN EBMERERSREBREE - £
EEURAARRERFABRMER - T2X
BNFEBEAMERE - TEEHED - 5
BRBIAREBNETE - ARERET
MERRESIERRESER - Ti21AAR
B HEERE AREE  ANBERE
B2 RBRARERE  BERTEMNEE RS
B o



/

Annual Report 2021
—E=—FEH

— Corporate Governance Report

k"\

-
~

J SO

-

I

' 3 (ST ’<,E//
(c) According to the requirements of the regulation system
on internal control of enterprises for the identification of
material deficiencies, important deficiencies and ordinary
deficiencies, with reference to the Company’s size,

Al

I

industry characteristics, risk preference, risk tolerance and
other factors, the Board distinguished between internal
control over financial reporting and that over non-financial
reporting and has established the specific identification
criteria for internal control deficiencies applicable to the
Company. The Board acknowledges its responsibility
for the risk management and internal control systems
and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or omission.

(d) The Company has set up an internal audit department to
report to the Audit Committee for assisting the Board in
leading the management and supervising the assessment
and improvement of the Company’s internal control system,
and make recommendations accordingly.

The internal audit department, in coordination with other
departments, assesses the likelihood of risk occurrence, provides
response plans and monitors the risk management progress,
and reports to the Audit Committee and the Board on all findings
and the effectiveness of related systems. The management
has reported to the Board and the Audit Committee on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
for the Reporting Period.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the
management, annually reviewed the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems, including the financial,
operational and compliance controls, for the Reporting Period,
and considered that such systems are effective and adequate.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to its Directors, supervisors, senior management
and relevant employees in handling confidential information,
monitoring information disclosure and responding to enquiries.
Control procedures have been implemented by the Company to
ensure that unauthorised access and use of inside information are
strictly prohibited.
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Auditors’ Remuneration

The statement of the external auditors of our Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the financial statements is set out in
the “Independent Auditors’ Report” on pages 106 to 114 in this
annual report.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the fees for audit services
and non-audit services rendered by our external auditors, Ernst &
Young were as follows:
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ARBINERBENBRARSRBRYBRREEZE
PAHENAFEREE 1062 114 B0 [ B Z AR
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HZE2021F12A31HIEFE © BIMNEZEED Lok
DRI ESATIR M 2 R RS FOE R B REH E A
e

Fees

(RMB’ 000)
EA
(AR®TT)

ZH RS
LB RTS

Audit services
Non-audit services

5,064.00
420.00

Note: The fees disclosed above include those incurred during the

Company’s Global Offering.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Our Company appointed Ms. CHEN Qingqging (Ff& &) and Ms.
LAU Jeanie (2/&%])) as our joint company secretary on June 28,
2021. The current primary contact person of the Company with
Ms. Lau Jeanie is Ms. CHEN Qingqing. For biographical details
of our joint company secretaries, please refer to the section
headed “Biographies of our Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” in this annual report. Ms. Chen and Ms. Lau will
undertake no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 71 of the Articles of Association, the
shareholders individually or jointly holding more than 10%
(including 10%) of total shares with voting rights of our Company
have the right to propose an extraordinary general meeting
to the Board, the Board shall provide a written feedback on
whether to convene the meeting. In the case of disapproval, or no
written reply of the Board is given within 10 days, the foregoing
shareholders may submit a written request to the Supervisory
Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting. If the
Supervisory Board fails to issue an notice of general meeting
within 5 days, the foregoing shareholders on their own may
convene an extraordinary general meeting.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Unless otherwise provided in the Articles of Association, the
shareholders holding, individually or jointly, more than 3% of our
Company’s Shares may submit an general meeting proposal to the
Company and has the right to submit a proposal to the convener
before 10 days ahead of the date of the shareholders’ general
meeting.

As regards the procedures for Shareholders to propose a
candidate for election as a Director, the detailed procedures are
available for viewing on our Company’s website (www.recbio.cn).

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

To promote effective communication, our Company maintains a
company website at www.recbio.cn, where up-to-date information
and updates on our business operations and developments,
financial information, corporate governance practices and other
information are available for public access.

Annual Report 2021
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The general meetings of our Company provide a forum and
an important channel for communication between the Board
and the Shareholders. The Chairman of the Board as well as
chairmen of the Nomination Committee, Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee and Audit Committee or, in their absence,
other members of the respective committees, will be available
at the annual general meeting and other relevant shareholder
meetings to answer questions. In addition, during the periods of
interim results and annual results release, our Company may hold
conference calls and/or non-deal roadshows for ensuring effective
and timely communication with Shareholders and investors.
Shareholders and investors may also write to our Company at
its principal place of business in Hong Kong or China or via our
Company’s website for any enquiries. Our Company normally also
accommodate Shareholders’ and investors’ request to site visits
and management meetings to the extent reasonably practicable.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Our Company did not declare or pay dividends on our Shares
during the Reporting Period. Our Company currently expects to
retain all future earnings for use in the operation and expansion of
our business and do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the
foreseeable future. The declaration and payment of any dividends
in the future will be determined by our Board, in its discretion,
and will depend on a number of factors, including our earnings,
capital requirements, overall financial condition and contractual
restrictions. If our Company pays dividends in the future, in order
for our Company to distribute dividends to its shareholders, it
will rely to some extent on any dividends distributed by our PRC
subsidiaries. Any dividend distributions from our PRC subsidiaries
to us will be subject to PRC withholding tax. In addition,
regulations in the PRC currently permit payment of dividends of
a PRC company only out of accumulated distributable after-tax
profits as determined in accordance with its articles of association
and the accounting standards and regulations in China. We are
subject to PRC governmental controls on currency conversion,
and the fluctuation of the Renminbi exchange rate may materially
and adversely affect our business and our ability to pay dividends
to holders of H shares. In the future, we may rely to some extent
on dividends and other distributions on equity from our principal
operating subsidiaries to fund offshore cash and financing
requirements. We are subject to PRC governmental controls
on currency conversion, and the fluctuation of the Renminbi
exchange rate may materially and adversely affect our business
and our ability to pay dividends to holders of H shares.
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The Dividend Policy of our Company provides that our Company
in general meeting may declare dividends in any currency but no
dividends shall exceed the amount recommended by the Board.
Subject to the Company’s shareholders’ resolution, our Company
may also pay half-yearly or at other intervals to be selected by it
any dividend which may be payable at a fixed rate if the Board is
of the opinion that the profits available for distribution justify the
payment.

CONTACT DETAILS

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: Room A217, Vaccine Engineering Center, China
Medical City, Taizhou City, Jiangsu Province, the
PRC

Fax: 0523-88820888

Email: ir@recbio.cn

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide
their full name, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Except that the Articles of Association has been amended with
effect from the Listing Date, there has not been any change in
the Articles of Association from the Listing Date to the date of this
report.

MATERIAL CHANGES AFTER THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD

This corporate governance report has taken into account any
significant changes that the Board is aware since the end of the
Reporting Period to the date of approval of this report.

By order of the Board

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
Dr. LIU Yong

Chairman

Jiangsu Province, the PRC
April 20, 2022
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To the shareholders of Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Jiangsu
Recbio Technology Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 115 to 223, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31,
2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at December
31, 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that,
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

in our professional

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANETNAEERRETSE

Impairment assessment of goodwill and in-progress
research and development technology

The Group had goodwill and in-progress research
and development (“R&D") technology, arising from
the acquisition of Beijing ABZYMO Biosciences Co.,
Ltd., amounting to RMB9,305,000 and RMB22,120,000,
respectively, as at December 31, 2021.

R2021F12A318 - ESEBRBELIRTZEBEYREER
NAEENHELABERWHE ([HE]) RT3 AARE
9,305,000t K A R#22,120,0007T °

The Group is required to perform impairment test of
goodwill and in-progress R&D technology at least on
an annual basis. The impairment tests are based on the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU”")
to which the goodwill is allocated, and the recoverable
amount of in-progress R&D technology. The recoverable
amount of the CGU has been determined based on a
fair value less cost of disposal method using cash flow
projections.

BEEEAZ P RFUHHERFAEPHERIMETRERNR - K
EAAERNEDERENREELEM ((REELEM]) WA
WElEEARRERHERMOAIKESHE - ReEEEMN
A ESE T RAR SR ERRIE A ER L ERATTNEETE °
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Our procedures included, among others:
HMNEFEE (HReHE)

Obtaining an understanding of key internal controls
related to impairment assessment of goodwill and in-
progress research and development technology;

THRERERFAET R ERMREN B BOREREAE
i

Evaluating the competence and objectivity of the
independent valuer engaged by the management;

HEEEEMREE L GEMNEN REEIE

Evaluating the management’s identification of the CGU
to which the goodwill is allocated;

HEEEEHRE KB ENRSEEEMNER

Assessing whether the management’s impairment
assessment model is appropriate with the involvement
of our valuation specialists by reference to industry
practices and valuation techniques;

DETEEPRMGETE - EHEZERS
MEFEEEREEAE

HETFHEEREN
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANETNAEERRETSE

Management established the impairment assessment
model with the involvement of an external independent
valuer and prepared a recoverable amount calculation
to estimate the future cash flows taking into account key
assumptions, including estimated revenue growth rate,
budgeted gross margin, terminal growth rate and pre-tax
discount rate, and management considered no impairment
loss was necessary as at December 31, 2021 based on the
impairment assessments being performed.

EREEIBBLAEMNZETERENERE - Witk
BRBR(BEATRRERE  BEEEMNEX  REBEREXR

Tmuﬁﬁﬁf){éﬁﬁ%ﬂ&@%éﬁﬁ TR AR ERE B
EIEEENDETARENGHRADENR2021F12 8315
TERERE -

This matter was significant to our audit considering the
impairment tests process were complex and involved
significant judgements and estimates.

ENRENABREEMAL Y RERAB MG - WEZFRBE
* o

The Group's disclosures about the impairment tests of
goodwill and in-progress R&D technology are included in
note 2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies, note 3
Significant accounting judgements and estimates, note 15
Goodwill and note 17 Other intangible assets.

ELmlﬁfﬁﬁiﬁﬁfiﬁ?’éqﬂﬁﬂ?‘&mﬂ@ R E 4R R SR M RE 2.4
SETBRME - MESEARS T HE R fAET - ME15mE
&M\T%‘EW,H\{M%EZ%E c

Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions
used in the cash flow projections, including the
estimated revenue growth rate and gross margin, by
comparing them with the industry research report,
forecasts and actual performance of similar products
within the industry; and

BEFRSRERAMEANERER (BEGHRAER
KREMNE) BITEMRERSE REABRUERNOTRNRER
REELE - FHEZEBRRNEEMLE Rk

Evaluating the appropriateness of the pre-tax
discount rate and terminal growth rate adopted
with the involvement of our valuation specialists by
benchmarking market data and comparable companies.

TS 8ER AT AL B AREREE A ERNZET
FHAFTRAT R IR R R RRIBRRHEE M -

We also focused on the adequacy of the disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements.

BB EAR A M SRR P PIERBH RO -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Cut-off of R&D costs

The Group incurred significant R&D costs of
RMB472,953,000 in the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2021 which mainly
consist of clinical trial expenses and service fees paid to
outsourced service providers, staff costs and others. The
R&D activities with these service providers are typically
performed over multiple periods.

EEEREZE2021F 12 A1 B ILFEMNGAEMERRPEL
BARMBERAAREA72,953,0007T ' TEBHEBERABRAX
AR FINHRBEEEOREE - BTRAREAM - 8152
ZREHEEOAEETBRE N SR MHETT -

This matter was significant to our audit given the amount of
R&D costs was significant and allocation of these costs to
the appropriate reporting period based on the progress of
the R&D projects involved judgement.

ENMEXRNTTEEARRBREBNEEE ERMZFRADE
EREREHS AL - RRERERMNETBEXN -

The Group’s disclosures about R&D costs are included in
note 2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies and
note 3 Significant accounting judgements and estimates.

EEEBERMERANRBEHE N M T2 4T ESEABERGEEZ LM
AESEAE A HIE R fAE o
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Our procedures included, among others:

B EE (BheR)

Reviewing the key terms set out in agreements with the
outsourced service providers;

2 B O FI AR TS U FE RO P RT SZ h % L 51 Y B B2 16K

Evaluating the progress of the research and
development projects based on inquiry with project
managers, inspection of supporting documents and
obtaining confirmations from the outsourced service
providers, on a sample basis, to determine whether
these costs were recorded in the appropriate reporting
period; and

ER(AIR B LEARE - REFAX RERIMNIRBHER
IR MR EAEEENER  UEBEZSKAREE
REEREHAR K

We have also performed search for unrecorded liabilities
procedure subsequent to the year ended December 31,
2021.

B EHEZ2021F12 A1 HIEFEZ BN AARER
EITES -
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

18 M A% B
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lung Wai, Shun.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

April 20, 2022
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i./ g —
o A [\ 52 | Year ended December 31, 2021
=) Elfi £} ) HZE2021F 12831 BILFE
A sy =
2021 2020
202145 20204
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
k=3 AR®T T AR®EF T
Other income and gains i N6 5 27,810 9,551
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAX (3,461) -
Administrative expenses THHAX (143,045) (18,416)
Research and development expenses R (472,953) (130,519)
Other expenses HEmAx 5 (9,609) (2,904)
Finance costs B TSR AN 7 (56,308) (37,112)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BRELAIES IR 6 (657,566) (179,400)
Income tax expense Fris i 11 - =
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FREER (657,566) (179,400)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FREZEBELE (657,566) (179,400)
FOR THE YEAR
Attributable to: THALFER :
Owners of the parent BAREAR A (657,561) (179,400)
Non-controlling interests eV AR A (5) -
(657,566) (179,400)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE BRAREEEREEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS EihERESE
OF THE PARENT
Basic and diluted (RMB) EAREE (ARE) 12 (1.56) (0.58)
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December 31, 2021 | 52 ‘ A () A
2021412 A31 H B Elf =
- ="
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
120215 R 2020%F
12831 H 12A31H
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
Bt AR¥T T ARBET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRENEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BEREE 13 416,334 128,500
Other intangible assets BB EE 17 22,120 22,120
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14 55,274 57,675
Goodwill BES 15 9,305 9,305
Other non-current assets HEMIERBEE 18 121,616 120,038
Total non-current assets IEMENE ELERE 624,649 337,638
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 19 23,549 7,762
Prepayments, other receivables and TERTFIE - HAbEUGRIAE R H 16 88,460 19,903
other assets & E
Financial assets at fair value through RATEFABSNEREE 20 - 325,890
profit or loss
Cash and bank balances He MIRTTHEH 21 1,182,562 355,821
Total current assets RBEERRE 1,294,571 709,376
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Trade payables 2 5 A 22 16,816 1,987
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 7,862 4,334
Other payables and accruals H R R IE R ERT &R 23 114,615 51,160
Total current liabilities mE B EREE 139,293 57,481
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFHE 1,155,278 651,895
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERRBEE 1,779,927 989,533

LIABILITIES
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As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
120215 R 20204F
12H31H 12A31H
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
Bt AR¥T T ARBET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTEERITIER 24 50,000 =
Redemption liabilities on owners’ capital BB AELRAE 25 - 1,952,874
Lease liabilities HEBE 14 18,857 21,791
Deferred income PRIE A 26 32,244 18,122
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFHIBEEE 27 5,530 5,530
Total non-current liabilities EMEBEETE 106,631 1,998,317
Net assets FEE 1,673,296 (1,008,784)
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners of the parent &R FHEE AEIGHEZS
Share Capital N 28 448,250 =
Paid-in capital BEHRA 28 - 36,069
Reserves fEE 29 1,225,051 (1,044,853)
Non-controlling interests IR ER (5) =
Total equity e 1,673,296 (1,008,784)

Yong Liu
25
Executive Director

HITEE

Bu Li

=

Director

BEF
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Year ended December 31, 2021

HE2021F12 A31BILFE

e Ls

<

& [ a—
Attributable to owners of the parent
BLRIER ARG
Share Paid-in Capital Other Accumulated
capital capital premium reserve losses Total
e BHRE BAGE Hibf# 2iER bk
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT AR®TR ARETR
(note 28) (note 28) (note 28) (note 29)
(Hit28) (Hiites) (Hit28) (Hit29)
At January 1, 2020 202051 A1H - 29,356 492,846 (647,874) (193,875) (319,547)
Loss for the year FREE = = = = (179,400) (179,400)
Total comprehensive loss for FHNZEEREE - = = = (179,400) (179,400)
the year
Capital contribution from series B B&H g &4 = 6,713 679,543 = = 686,256
financing
Recognition of redemption ERBHRER AERL = = - (1,214772) - (1,214,772)
liabilities on series B BRARE
owners’ capital
Debt forgiveness from series A's AR ARNEK 2R - = = 18,679 = 18,679
owners
At December 31, 2020 1202012 A31H = 36,069 1,172,389  (1,843,967)  (373.275)  (1,008,784)
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i ‘ r‘\l [\ - ﬁ’? ‘ Year ended December 31, 2021
== Elf g) BZE2021F12A31 HILEE
=7 -
Attributable to owners of the parent
BNREE AR
Share-based Non-
Paid-in Share Capital Other ~ payments Accumulated controlling Total
capital capital  premium* reserve* reserve* losses* Total interests equity
NRGAER
B4RA Ra  RAEE* AftRE  BARRE  RREE BE FEREE  ERAE
RMB’'000 RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETT ARETR ARETR ARMTR AR¥Tn ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
(note 28)  (note 28)  (note 28)  (note 29) (note 30)
(Wit2s)  (WiH28)  (Wid28)  (HiE29) (H#30)
At January 1, 2021 R2021%51 718 36,069 - 1,172,389 (1,843,967) - (373,275)  (1,008,784) - (1,008,784)
Loss for the year EnEi - - - - - (657,561)  (657,561) (5)  (657,566)
Total comprehensive loss ~ FR2AEEEE - - - - - (657,561)  (657,561) (5)  (657,566)
for the year
Capital contribution from ~ B+¥ @& & 1,519 - 198,481 - - - 200,000 - 200,000
series B+financing
Capital contribution from ~ EEHETATE 1,898 - 27,052 - - - 28,950 - 28,950
employee incentives
platforms
Termination of redemption & IFA% RB&EA A - - - 2,007,905 - - 2,007,905 - 2,007,905
liabilities on series A RANEOAE
and B owners' capital
Conversion into a joint BRRNERAR (39,486) 40,000 (514) - - - - - -
stock company (TERLET])
(“Capitalization Issue”)
Capital contribution from ~ CEEVERTEE - 4,825 960,277 - - - 965,102 - 965,102
series C financing
Share/capital premum  EBERAHRD / - 403425  (403,425) - - - - - -
transferred to share RAEE
capital
Share-based payments MR AERMF - - - - 137,689 - 137,689 - 137,689
At December 31, 2021 R2021%512A31A - 448,250  1,954,260*  163,938* 137,689*  (1,030,836)* 1,673,301 (5) 1,673,296
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves  * ZERBROFBFEAMBIRARANES FE
of RMB (1,226,362,000) (2020: RMB (1,044,853,000)) in the AR#(1,226,362,000)7T (20204 : AR

consolidated statement of financial position. (1,044,853,000)7L) °
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Year ended December 31, 2021 ﬂ}f} 1 A [ ‘;;
BZE2021F 12831 BILEE 5/ E r}: ==,
~ a7y
2021 2020
202145 2020%F
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
e AR¥TT ARBEFTT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHFEBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax B Bl &S 18 (657,566) (179,400)
Adjustments for: K
Finance costs BTGP 7 56,308 37,112
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME - BER 5 19 24
plant and equipment RBEIEE MEE
Bank interest income RITHIBUA 5 (10,355) (2,625)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEREETE 6/13 14,903 6,556
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 6/14 7,555 6,207
Net gains from changes in fair value of BRATEFABGNEREE 5 (11,216) (5,405)
financial assets at FVTPL AT ESEELENFRE
Foreign exchange losses, net b 57 [ 185 58 5 8,490 2,880
Share-based payments LA RS9 A 20 8 5 3K 30 137,689 =
Increase in inventories FEEM (15,787) (399)
Increase in prepayments, TEfTFRIE  H A U GRIE 2 (57,147) (5,668)
other receivables and other assets H &
Increase in trade payables B 5 e R IAIE N 14,829 247
Increase in other payables and accruals — H /b & 718 & fE5+ & A N 27,329 52,013
Increase in other non-current assets H M IETREN B EE N (2,094) -
Decrease in deferred income R E W 2= R, 14,122 18,122
Net cash flows used in operating activities &Z/EFBFABR S REFH (472,921) (70,336)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BRETBMESHRESRE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received B U F & 5 10,355 2625
Purchases of items of property, plantand BEEW%  BERRHIER (237,867) (138,288)
equipment
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME  BEKR - 6
property, plant and equipment %18 B S A
Prepayment of leasehold land THE T HFER FRIE - (32,445)
Purchase of time deposits BEEHFXR 18/21 (40,000) (50,000)
Proceeds from time deposits TE B TF TS A - 50,000
Decrease/(Increase) of financial products ~ sF ARAFEF AEBZEA 325,000 (95,000)
included in financial assets at FVTPL TREENDRE®D
(g m)
Proceeds from investment income of ST AR A FERF ABRED 11,216 4,515
financial products included in TREENSREMIRE
financial assets at FVTPL WA T3 3R
Net cash flows from/(used in) WEEEE,(FTA) 68,704 (258,587)
investing activities REemEFHA
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= e
of A () 572 Year ended December 31, 2021
==\ EIf = HZE2021F12A31BILFE
& =7 =
2021 2020
202145 20204
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
k=3 AR®T T AERBTTT
CASH FLOWS FROM METHREHRERE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Receipt of bank loans IWEURITE R 24 50,000 =
Repayment of lease payments EEAEMNK 14 (6,420) (5,871)
Proceeds from series B financing B gl & TSR 29 - 686,256
Proceeds from series B+ financing B+¥m gt & FT1S A 29 200,000 =
Proceeds from employee incentives & BB & TS kIR 29 28,950 =
platforms
Proceeds from series C financing CHpt & Fr5 5IA 29 965,102 =
Payments of listing expense T EWRE (8,184) =
Net cash flows from/(used in) RMEEEAE (FTA) 1,229,448 680,385
financing activities REnEFE
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND HeRESESEYEMFEE 825,231 351,462
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at FYRERIFREEEYD 21 355,821 7,239
beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes fERFFHH TR (8,490) (2,880)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FERESRBESEEY 21 1,172,562 355,821
END OF YEAR
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF RERREEB/YNERDN
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances R MRITAEH 21 1,182,562 355,821
Time deposits with original maturity of JREVER B =1{E A AR EY (10,000) -
less than three months TEBRTF K
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in HERERFYIRA 1,172,562 355,821

the statement of cash flows

R RRSEED
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Year ended December 31, 2021 i/
HZE2021F12A31BILFE L,
1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) is
a joint stock company with limited liability incorporated in
the People’'s Republic of China (“PRC”). The registered
office of the Company is located at Room A217, Vaccine
Engineering Centre, China Medical City High-tech
Development Zone, Taizhou, Jiangsu Province, PRC.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
research and development of vaccines in Mainland China.

The Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on
March 31, 2022.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

[ )
n |

) =

Elf =

o L&/

P4
ARAREEER
AEmRBHEMBEMRMDBRAT ([RQF])
BRREARLFME ([HE])F MO
MBRAT « ARG FEMBEERMAFH
IERERMMARBER SRR ERRE
BIRARDA2I7TE °

FA - ARRREMBAR (ST AER])
FERPFEAMN ERETE -

NAFIR2022%63 31 BEFBMALT HFT
BRAR ([BRAT]) ERLET -

MELRER
ARABEEZMBRRNFELT

follows:
Percentage of
equity attributable
Place and date to the Company
of incorporation/ AAREM
registration and place Registered BEADL
Name of business capital  Direct Indirect Principal activities
HMKY Bt BKA
a8 LR B HEMER Ef# Mg FEER
Beijing ABZYMO Biosciences PRC/Mainland China RMB11,032,500 100% - Research and development
Co., Ltd.* (“Beijing ABZYMOQ”) March 7, 2011 AR11,032,5007 R
TREZABENRRERRA RE /BN
([tREAE]) 2011E3A7H
Wuhan Recogen PRC/Mainland China RMB 10,000,000 55% - Research and development
Biotechnology Co., Ltd.* September 28, 2021 AK#10,000,0007T g
RERREENRRERAF HE/ RER
2021F9 A 28R
Wuhan Recbio PRC/Mainland China RMB 100,000,000 100% - Research and development
Technology Co., Ltd.* September 28, 2021 A& #100,000,0007C F
RERRAEDRMAERAR" HE/ RER
2021F9 A28 H
* The English name of the entity registered in Mainland * AR EECEMEFEXEHE R

China represents the best efforts made by the
management of the Company to directly translate its
Chinese name as the entity did not register any official

English name.

The Company’s subsidiary registered in the PRC is a

limited liability company under PRC law.

B MR BRNEXLERBAR
AEREABFEEQRRAEAEL R

=Pl

* AR AR AR B AT A T X B35 A rh Y
FERETHERBEERR -
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BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”), which include all standards and
interpretations approved by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”). They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention. These financial statements
are presented in RMB and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand (RMB’'000) except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
December 31, 2021. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2.1

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark
|IAS 39, IFRS 7, Reform — Phase 2
IFRS 4 and IFRS 16
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

the financial statements.

Amendment to IFRS 16

Amendments to IFRS 3

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

IFRS 17

Amendments to IFRS 17

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1
and IFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IFRS 17

Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to IAS 16

Amendments to |IAS 37

Annual Improvements

to IFRS Standards
2018-2020

Annual Report 2021
B FR

Notes to Financial Statements

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Insurance Contracts®
Insurance Contracts® ®°

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current®

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies?

Definition of Accounting
Estimates?®

Initial Application of IFRS 17
and IFRS 9 — Comparative
Information®

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction®

Property, Plant and Equipment:

Proceeds before
Intended Use?
Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?
Amendments to IFRS 1,
IFRS 9, Illustrative Examples
accompanying IFRS 16, and
IAS 412
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2.3

2.4

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after April

1, 2021

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2022

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2023

- No mandatory effective date yet determined but
available for adoption

J As a consequence of the amendments to IFRS 17

issued in June, 2020, IFRS 4 was amended to extend
the temporary exemption that permits insurers to apply
IAS 39 rather than IFRS 9 for annual periods beginning
before January 1, 2023

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these new and revised IFRSs upon initial
application. So far, the Group considers that these new
and revised IFRSs may result in changes in accounting
policies and are unlikely to have a significant impact on the
Group’s results of operations and financial position.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the
event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability
is measured at fair value with changes in fair value either
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and
other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised

in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at December 31. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in
a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s CGUs, or groups of
CGUs, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or
groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the CGU (group of CGUs) to which the goodwill
relates. Where the recoverable amount of the CGU (group
of CGUs) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment
loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a CGU (or group of
CGUs) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of
is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the CGU retained.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, derivative
financial instruments and equity investments at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or
by selling it to another market participant that would use
the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

measurement (continued)

based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting

period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets, financial
assets, investment properties and non-current assets/
a disposal group classified as held for sale), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’'s or CGU’s value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which
the asset belongs. In testing a CGU for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g.,
a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual CGU
if it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis
or, otherwise, to the smallest group of CGUs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;
and the sponsoring employers of the post-
employment benefit plan;
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) (continued)

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for
a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Over the shorter of the
lease terms and 5 years

Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery 3-10 years
Furniture and fixtures 2 years
Computer and office equipment 2-3 years
Motor vehicles 10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

The depreciation expense incurred related to the right-of-
use asset for the building lease during the construction
period is expensed when incurred.

Construction in progress represents a building under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on
related borrowed funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for use.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Intellectual property

Intellectual property with finite useful life is amortised using
the straight-line basis over the commercial lives of the
underlying products, commencing from the date when the
products are put into commercial production.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale,
its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the
asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits,
the availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which
does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains
a lease component and non-lease components, the Group
adopts the practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components and to account for the lease component and
the associated non-lease components (e.g., property
management services for leases of properties) as a single
lease component.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised,
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of
the assets as follows:

Leasehold land
Properties

50 years
2-5 years
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the lease
term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments
of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change
in the lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

B S ¥R R B

Year ended December 31, 2021
HZE2021F 12831 BILFE

EXREHBERE (F)

HE (&)
REEERFAHEN (B)

(a)

EREEE (&)

MR IERAERSHEEEN GRS
EEAEBAXNARKREBEENTT
% FEARBEEN G AIERF
HiEtE -

HEREREERNKE R RAEBNE
HEHEENRREER - HENKE
EERNK (SEEERNIR)BE
] FE U B 2B IR - BURR 58K
) 2 g AT B A B N FUA K TR BRI R
HEEERTINNEZE - HEMR
MERAEESEITENEERER
HTTHE(E R I R AR AR SR I IE
TTHRKIEHERERER - BRKLH
EXMEEIR o THURNHE B
RSN KL R B RN RS
MR G BRI AER AL

REFERENHNRER - AREE
AAEMETHEE  BAKEER
HEF G B HIR)IE EE R XRHE -
REABBE#E  BEABESEAOEM

RERF S AIE I - WA NEEK
s d o pEoh - A Em & (B

HEE - HEMREE (fan4EEE
RN BEEHHRREENREE
) ABERBEENEREENG
MEE)  RIEHMFEHEERENKE
EfE °

137



138

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
STERPENRRBERAR

Notes to Financial Statements

B 5 ¥R R B

T —
Year ended December 31, 2021 i/
HZE2021F12A31BILFE g/

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of buildings (that
is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets
to leases of motor vehicles that are considered to
be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which
are not held within the aforementioned business models
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include
deposits and other receivables included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash

flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement,
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation
of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash
flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral
held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).

For those

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial
assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at
the reporting date (but that are not purchased
or originated credit-impaired) and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables,
other payables and accruals and lease liabilities.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade payables, other payables and
accruals and lease liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost.
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Gains and losses

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and form an integral part of the Group'’s
cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
each reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of each reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the country in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of each reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in a subsidiary
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

2.4

B S ¥R R B

Year ended December 31, 2021
HZE2021F 12831 BILFE

EXREHBERE (F)

Frig®t

P8t BRI RRERN IR - B8 aE M%
HERIA B RS RN B s AIMER -
REM KB KR ST R

Eﬂﬁ%félﬁﬁ?&ﬁi%?ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁéf)ﬁ“*%?ﬁﬂ&
AXmME NS EFE  ERERS
%%XH‘JE%E%YfEEﬁE%E’WR—P (&%R
) BARAREEEBMERRNRITZA
BEEMEE -

BREBIERBERE  REBEMREER
BENEEEM SRS MR EMERNKRE
BE2RHAEERZEA RS -

RIET IR ERLPT A AR T 258 T AR
[ﬁ ’ﬂiWQE?ﬁi

. ERXBEHNXHTIRERNE
EXREELREAERSEERIRY
SFDENRERV G N NERELS
EMELHERE &

. HREMBARRERENERTE

IRy 22 50 - 40 5% T Iy 2 R B 2 (O] A R T
SAJ ) Bl 5 B A AT TR R
E%ﬁ%@ °

145



146

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
STERPENRRBERAR

Notes to Financial Statements

B 5 ¥R R B

T —
Year ended December 31, 2021 i/
HZE2021F12A31BILFE g/

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in a subsidiary,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that
the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are
expensed.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released to
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant
asset by equal annual instalments and released to profit or
loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share award scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) and non-
employees of the Group receive remuneration and rewards
in the form of share-based payments, whereby employees
and non-employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
at which they are granted. The cost of equity-settled
transactions with non-employees is measured by reference
to the fair value of the services they provided unless
the fair value of the equity instruments granted is more
reliably determinable. The fair value is measured at the
market value of the shares, adjusted for the exclusion of
expected dividends to be received in the vesting period,
further details of which are given in note 30 to the financial
statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to profit or loss for a period represents the movement
in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning
and end of that period.

Service conditions are not taken into account when
determining the grant date fair value of awards, but the
likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as
part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because service
conditions have not been met, no expense is recognised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Other employee benefits
Pension scheme

The employees of the Group which operates in Mainland
China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government.
The subsidiary operating in Mainland China is required to
contribute a certain percentage of its payroll costs to the
central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the central pension scheme.

Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in RMB, which
is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of each reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses incurred on the
Group’s medical device product pipelines are capitalized
and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the
technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset
so that it will be available for use or sale, the Group’s
intention to complete and the Group’s ability to use or sell
the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
pipeline and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
during the development. Research and development
expenses which do not meet these criteria are expensed
when incurred. Determining the amounts to be capitalized
requires management to make assumptions regarding the
expected future cash generation of the assets, discount
rates to be applied and the expected period of benefits. All
expenses incurred for research and development activities
were regarded as research expenses and therefore were
expensed when incurred.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period.
Intangible assets not ready for use are not subject to
amortization and are tested annually for impairment, or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that they might be impaired. Other non-financial
assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a
CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is
based on available data from binding sales transactions in
an arm'’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows
from the asset or CGU and choose a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the recoverable amount of CGU to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the recoverable amount requires
the consideration of the best expectation by market
participants of the CGU and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill
at December 31, 2021 was RMB9,305,000 (2020:
RMB9,305,000). Further details are given in note 15.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Useful lives residual values of property, plant and
equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and
related depreciation charges for its property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. The Group will
increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are
less than previously estimated lives.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the losses can be utilized.
Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.
Further details are contained in note 11.

Share-based payments

The Group has set up two employee incentive platforms for
the Company’s directors and the Group’s employees. The
fair value of the restricted shares are determined by the
discounted cash flow model at the grant dates. Valuation
techniques are certified by an independent valuer before
being implemented for valuation and are calibrated to
ensure that outputs reflect market conditions. Some
inputs, such as the discount rate for lack of marketability
(“DLOM"), discount rate and terminal growth rate, require
management estimates. Should any of the estimates and
assumptions change, it may lead to a change in the fair
value to be recognized in profit or loss. Further details are
contained in note 30.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR
is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have
to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiary that does not
enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for
example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as
the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the purpose of resource allocation and performance
assessment, the Group’s chief executive officer, being the
chief operating decision maker, reviews the consolidated
results when making decisions about allocating resources
and assessing performance of the Group as a whole and
hence, the Group has only one reportable segment and no
further analysis of this single segment is presented.

The Group did not record any revenue during the year and
the Group’s non-current assets are substantially located in
the PRC, accordingly, no analysis of geographical segment
is presented.
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FA - AEEHERSEARE  TAEEN
FRBEERBOMUNPE - At WES
53032 5 EBAHT
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OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, AND OTHER 5.

EXPENSES

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

B S ¥R R B

Year ended December 31, 2021
HZE2021F 12831 BILFE

Hib AR W URER X

HWA Rz A T

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31BLEE

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREET T

Other income Hiplr A
Government grants* related to income (i) B A B BB () 6,199 1,458
Bank interest income RITHBULA 10,355 2625
Others HAh 40 63

Gains W 3
Gain on fair value changes of SRIEEATEZH NG 11,216 5,405
financial assets

Other income and gains E b U A R e 27,810 9,551

*(0)

The government grants and subsidies related to income

have been received to compensate for the Group’s
research and development expenditures and business

operations.

An analysis of other expenses is as follows:

B URER S5 A\ A8 8 2 TR 4 B K% 4 B R
RHEEREENAER S REBEE -

HRAXH 2T

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLEE

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE - WEMEEEE WEE 19 24
plant and equipment

Foreign exchange losses, net bE 55 B 185 58 8,490 2,880

Others Efb 1,100 =

9,609 2,904
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B 5 ¥R R B

Year ended December 31, 2021
HZE2021F12A31BILFE

LOSS BEFORE TAX

\

|
J "t

(=

7
|

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/

[
gl
BRATSBLATAS 18

AEENRBABES NG GEA) TH%

(crediting): I8 :
Year ended December 31,
BZ12A318LEE
2021 2020
20215 2020%F
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’'000
i3 ARET T AREEFTT
Depreciation of property, plant and Yz - BER 13 14,903 6,556
equipment* REEBTE
Depreciation of right-of-use assets* FAEEERE" 14(a) 7,555 6,207
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEF S 14(b) 1,277 697
Expense relating to short-term leases* BRIEHA SR 14(c) 490 432
Research and development costs 8 AR AN 472,953 130,519
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE  BE& 5 19 24
plant and equipment RBIEE REE
Gain on fair value changes of CREEQATESE NS 5 (11,216) (5,405)
financial assets
Government grants related to income  ERUT A & BEHI IR T 7 BY 5 (6,199) (1,458)
Foreign exchange differences, net P& X ZRRF R 5} 8,490 2,880
Bank interest income HRITFEUA 5) (10,355) (2,625)
Auditor’'s remuneration 2 Gl 451 15
Listing expense rFiEX 21,936 =
Employee benefit expense* EEREAFAZ
(excluding directors’, (TREES -
chief executive’s and HRITBAER
supervisors’ remuneration): EENHM) :
Wages and salaries TERFH® 100,522 43,460
Share-based payments expense LARRD BETR A 3 47,545 =
Pension scheme contributions, BARSEHEEE - H2EH 8,716 363
social welfare and other welfare R H At 42 A
Interest charge for redemption fBE & EMHEH 25 55,031 36,415

liabilities

The depreciation of property, plant and equipment,

depreciation of right-of-use assets and employee
benefit expenses for the year are set out in
“Administrative expenses” and “Research and
development expenses” in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

BRFANYE  BERREBINE &
REEEFERERRMNFAXEHNES
BEabHEtEREERTTHRAS X

[FEms] -
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7. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

B S ¥R R B

Year ended December 31, 2021
HZE2021F 12831 BILFE
& R AR
BER A DT -

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31HLLEE

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBT T

Interest on bank borrowings RITREFE 1,604 =

Less: Interest capitalized B BAMEFIB 1,604 =

Interest on redemption liabilities on wE ARAER A ( 55,031 36,415
owners’ capital (note 25) KF B (H15E25)

Interest on lease liabilities (note 74) HEBENS (MaF14) 1,277 697

56,308 37,112

8. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

Directors’, supervisors’ and chief executive's remuneration
for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules,
section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, is as follows:

EE ESRRSTHAESHMH

BEE EERESTBRABRERNME
RIEEMRE - HEQAEFIE383(1)(a) »
(b) * () M(NEARAF (HEEHEEEF
RER) BOIFE2PHRTELT ¢

Year ended Year ended

December 31, December 31,

2021 2020

B Z2021F HZE2020%F

12H31H 12H31H

LFE IEFE

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBT T

Fees e 837 160
Other emoluments: Hie :

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e FRREYH = 4,088 2,038

Performance related bonuses FIRMARTIEAL 4,111 2,326

Share-based payments (Note 30) LARRAD = BT B 3R (M 2£30) 90,144 =

Pension scheme contributions RIRE T B IR 283 22

99,463 4,546
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Year ended December 31, 2021 F—j\‘ —_—
HZ2021F 12031 LFE Q/

8. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF 8. BE EENERSTHAESEMNN(E)
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (continued)

Directors 2=
Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme  Share-based Total
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions payments  remuneration
e R =5 Eike DS

e REDNE BB sHEIE ERAMR wias
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL  ARBTL  ARETR  ARETT  AREBTL  ARETR

Year ended December 31, HZE2020%

2020 12A31BLEFE
Executive directors: HITES -
Mr. Yong Liu () 2IBE%H(a) = 549 938 8 = 1,495
Mr. Yue Yu (1) FREE() = 412 465 2 = 879
Mr. Jianping Chen (b) BT LE(D) = 463 621 = 1,088
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Mr. Hongbin Zhou (d) RN (d) = = = = = =
Mr. Hui Zhao (e) HIELE(e) = = - = = S
Mr. Wei Du (e) TR 4 (e) = = = = = =
Mr. Tao Feng (d) EERE) 80 = = = = 80
Mr. Jianhang Wang (i) IRMILE() = = = = = =
Mr. Yanfa Tang (k) BRELEK) = = = = = =
Mr. Xingfa Li (j) FEELE() - - - - - -
80 1,424 2,024 14 - 3,542
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Year ended December 31, 2021
HZE2021F 12831 BILFE

&

8. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (continued)

8. EE EERR

BITBRASHM (&)

Directors (continued) == (&)
Salaries,
allowances Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Share-based Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions payments remuneration
e 28 £ 3] RBikg DN G
e  REWAE R SRR ERNGR e
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRE AR%®Trn AR¥Tn ARETRT AR®TR  AR%Tx
Year ended December 31,  EZ2021%
2021 12A31HILLEE
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Yong Liu (a) 2B %4 (a) - 1,265 1,717 53 73,747 76,782
Mr. Jianping Chen (b) B FEEE (D) - 739 995 53 6,698 8,485
Mr. Bu Li (c) EHEE(0) - 573 740 52 6,868 8,233
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Mr. Kunxue Hong (q) S8 (q) - 500 467 31 2,165 3,163
Mr. Tao Feng (d) #EBREW) 160 - - - - 160
Mr. Feng Gao (q) GAO FengZt4£(q) 169 - - - - 169
Mr. Guodong Liang (q) REBR L) 169 - - - - 169
Mr. Minghui Yuan (q) REELE() 169 - - - - 169
Mr. Lijun Xia (r) BUBEA() 133 - - - - 133
Mr. Jinlong Guo (p) Jinlong GuoZt4(p) 37 - - - - 37
837 3,077 3,919 189 89,478 97,500
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8.

Year ended December 31, 2021 F—j ‘ ~ A /*} 7 ‘
EEo021 E12A31BILERE \ Q/ Elf =\
- el 77
DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF 8. EX - -EBEERESTHAESHH (&)
EXECUTIVE’'S REMUNERATION (continued)
Supervisors E=x
Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme  Share-based Total
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions payments  remuneration
e 28 =R Bike WAk 1A &
e  REDNE TEETEA SRS EROAR e
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFT ARBFL ARBTL ARBTT ARBFL
Year ended December 31, HZ2020F
2020 12A31BLEFE
Ms. Hong Qin (m) F 24 (m) = 122 31 3 = 156
Ms. Hongyang Wang (g) =T L(g) = 412 61 5 = 478
Mr. Yaming Xu (h) RTIAEEN) = = = = = =
Mr. Gang Chen (f) BRI = = = = = =
Mr. Zhongcai Gu (f) BERBI ST AE(f) = = = = = =
Ms. Yangyang Zhang (n) REBHL(n) - 80 210 - - 290
Mr. Tao Feng (o) EBRA(0) 80 = - = = 80
80 614 302 8 - 1,004
Salaries,
allowances Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Share-based Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions payments remuneration
e 2ZH 3 Bike MR A
He  REWIG A GHEftE  ERMAR Fr s
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTR ARBT ARETR ARBT R ARBT R
Year ended December 31,  EZ20215
2021 12A31ALFE
Ms. Hong Qin (m) R+ (m) - 287 50 24 221 582
Ms. Hongyang Wang (g) FRFLL() - 27 66 32 49 418
Mr. Yaming Xu (h) REAEE() - - - - - -
Mr. Gang Chen (f) BRI () - - - - - -
Mr. Zhongcai Gu (f) BREEE( - - - - - -
Ms. Weiwei Qiao (s) BEERZL(s) - 453 76 38 396 963
Ms. Ranting Qian (t) BERETL() - - - - - -
- 1,011 192 9 666 1,963
There was no arrangement under which a director or FRN BEESXERITBEAENEXEE

the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year.

MEEMME R -
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DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (continued)

Supervisors (continued)

Notes:

(a) Mr. Yong Liu was appointed as an executive director
on January 25, 2019, and is also the chief executive
officer of the Company.

(b) Mr. Jianping Chen was appointed as an executive
director on November 5, 2020.

(c) Mr. Bu Li was appointed as an executive director on
March 27, 2021.

(d) Mr. Hongbin Zhou and Mr. Tao Feng were appointed as
non-executive directors on November 2, 2020.

(e) Mr. Hui Zhao and Mr. Wei Du were appointed as non-
executive directors on January 24, 2019.

(f) Mr. Gang Chen and Mr. Zhongcai Gu were appointed
as supervisors on November 2, 2020.

(9) Ms. Hongyang Wang was appointed as a supervisor on
January 24, 2019.

(h) Mr. Yaming Xu was appointed as a supervisor on
August 7, 2019.

(i) Mr. Jianhang Wang was appointed as a non-executive
director on January 24, 2019, and resigned from the
position on November 2, 2020.

(j) Mr. Xingfa Li was appointed as a non-executive director
on January 24, 2019, and resigned from the position on
November 2, 2020.

(k) Mr. Yanfa Tang was appointed as a non-executive
director on January 24, 2019, and resigned from the
position on November 2, 2020.

B S ¥R R B

Year ended December 31, 2021
HZE2021F 12831 BILFE

B ESKESTHRAEHM (&)

B ()

HisE -

(@) EIBEAER2019%1 25 AREES
HITHE - A BRI ARARNTHES
%ﬁo

(b) PR fE S S AR 20205 11 ASHER T A
HITESE o

(c) THAER2021FE3 27 BEZ T A
1TEE -

(d) B A MR ER2020F 11 A2
HEZMTAIENTES -

(e) HEIB ST AT R E RN 20194 1 24 H
BRIEAIRTES -

() FR I 50 4 I BB B B 5 £ 7R 20204F 11 A 2
HERTAES -

(9) THEZTR2019F 1 B24BEZ T A
B o

(h) BRI ER2019F8 A7THERT A
BEE o

(i) FEMEAN2019F1 B4R EZEA
EMITEEW N 2020511 B2 BEBHE »

(1) ZEI LA TR2019F 1 H24BEZR T A
IEMITEEW N 2020511 B2 BBHE »

(k) B AN2019F1 B4R ELRT A
JEMITEEW N 2020511 B2 BEBHE
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Year ended December 31, 2021 52 |
BE20214612A31 A ILFE Q/

8. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (continued)

Supervisors (continued)

Notes: (continued)

M

Mr. Yue Yu was appointed as a non-executive director
on January 24, 2019, and resigned from the position on
November 2, 2020.

Ms. Hong Qin was appointed as a supervisor on
November 30, 2018, and resigned from the position on
May 9, 2021.

Ms. Yangyang Zhang was appointed as a supervisor
on January 24, 2019, and resigned from the position on
November 6, 2020.

Mr. Tao Feng was appointed as a supervisor on August
8, 2019, and resigned from the position on November 2,
2020.

Mr. Jinlong Guo was appointed as a non-executive
director on May 9, 2021 and resigned from the position
on June 28, 2021.

Mr. Kunxue Hong, Mr. Feng Gao, Mr.Guodong Liang
and Mr. Minghui Yuan were appointed as non-executive
director on May 9, 2021.

Mr. Lijun Xia was appointed as a non-executive director
on June 28, 2021.

Ms. Weiwei Qiao was appointed as supervisor on May
9, 2021.

Ms. Ranting Qian was appointed as supervisor on May
25, 2021.

E=x(#E)
Hrat - (&)

)

(m)

(0)

(a)

TFREAN2019F1 A24HEZRT A
HITEEW N 2020511 A2 HEHT -

ZW L+ R20185F11 B30BELT A
ELE=Y 20215 A9HBHT -

RIS L EHR2019F1 24 REZEA
B 202011 A6 HEHT »

BEESEEN2019F8 ASHELR T AR
W 2020F 11 A2 HEHAE -

Jinlong Guo%t £ 1202165 A9REZE
ERIERITESWMN2021F6 A28 HE
£ o

MBS A - GAO Fengftd ~ ZEIR
TERRBELENR2021FE5 A0RE
LZEAIFRITES -

EVELANR2021F6 28 BEZ T A
FEITES ©

BREZLTN2021FE50BEZ T A
BEE o

BRIEL TN 2021F5 25 B BRI A
BEE o
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
two directors (2020: three directors), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2020:
two) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor
chief executive of the Company are as follows:

B S ¥R R B

Year ended December 31, 2021
HZE2021F 12831 BILFE

hERETMES

FR IEEaFHEECREREES
(2020%F : =RESE)  EFHMFRBHNR X
MsE8 - £ - 82 N =4 (20204 : WA) I
HRAREESTRTRAENTSEHHE
BB NT ¢

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLEE

2021 2020

202145 20204

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBT T

Salaries, bonuses, allowances and e BA - REEREMA G 1,477 649
benefits in kind

Performance related bonuses RIBREIELL 1,685 875

Share-based payments VAR 7 B E TR B 15T 3R 17,559 =

Pension scheme contributions RIKEFTEIEK 116 3

20,837 1,527
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued) 9. IhEESFMES (&)
The number of non-director and non-chief executive T AEFNEERNMIEZESRIESRITHRA
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the &= HEE AR
following bands is as follows:
Number of employees
EBEAH
Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31HLEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBEFTT
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000/ 7T - 2
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 6,500,001 727,000,000 7T 1 -
HK$8,500,001 to HK$10,000,000 8,500,001 72 10,000,000/%8 7T 2 -
During the year of 2021, shares were granted to certain 20214 » gt A AREBEERRIRBERE T
highest paid employees in respect of their further services EEFMESRDRG - E—LFFBEEN
to the Group, further details of which are set out in note 30 BT IEES0 - BB M ERIBRMNZ
to the financial statements. The fair value of such awarded ERERONAFEDRAREBHEE - M
shares, which has been recognised in profit or loss over AEEMPBREAMBS BT ALMTETH
the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant Bi{E B B Zr B4R 5E o
and the amount included in the financial statements for
the current year is included in the above highest paid
employees’ remuneration disclosures.
10. DIVIDEND 10. RE

No dividends have been paid or declared by the Company
during the year (2020: Nil).

FR - ARAWERNSHEIREAEE
(20204 : #) -
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INCOME TAX

The Group’s principal applicable taxes and tax rates are as

follows:

(a)

No provision for Mainland China income tax has
been provided for at a rate of 25% pursuant to
the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC and
the respective regulations (the “CIT Law”), as the
Group’s PRC entities have no estimated assessable
profits during the year.

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the
PRC and the respective regulations (the “CIT Law”),
the Company is subject to CIT at a rate of 25% on
the taxable income. Beijing ABZYMO obtained its
certificate of high-technology enterprise on October
15, 2019 and is subject to income tax at 15% for
three years of 2019 to 2022.

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable
to loss before tax at the statutory rate to the tax
expense at the effective tax rate is as follows:

11.

Fri&
ZS-S

B S ¥R R B

Year ended December 31, 2021
HZE2021F 12831 BILFE

B
BEX2ERABRBEEHRENT

FR - ARASE R EE I EY
STERBEF  WMEREPEAR
HMBEAEFERERER ([16
¥RMBHE]D P BERAERIR
25% M T AT IR o

REREAREIMBACEMESHER
HRER ([REMBRIA]) « AAR]
AL E R RN AL 25% KT R 1
EREH o EREZABR20195F10
A15 BB aRHRMEFE - 2019
FE2022F = FANALR15% KT XK
BURFTS R -

BORER R HIR BB R 2 @A
HRXBRERRERGFEZRBERS
ZHERINT

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
BZE12H31H #HZE12A31H
IHEE IEFE
20215 2020%F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Loss before tax bR RIEE (657,566) (179,400)
Tax at the statutory tax rate (25%) RETE B EFTERTIE(25%) (164,392) (44,850)
Lower tax rates for specific provinces — HFE & 17 kit 5 # R B M A 8,691 4,962
or enacted by local authority RIRR X
Expenses not deductible for tax AR HIR A 2 48,872 9,339
Additional deductible allowance for & BRI KRR RN (69,844) (22,203)
qualified research and AT HRL B
development costs
Tax losses and deductible temporary RIERIEBE KX 176,673 52,752

differences not recognized

AR E R =

Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate

BEASEERHEAED
MRS
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Year ended December 31, 2021 - ‘
HZE20216F 128318 HFE S

11. INCOME TAX (continued)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
the following items:

11.

A () =)
) (&

Frig®i ()
BB EE M AR T 578 B #ER

As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
n20214 20204
12A31H 12HA31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBF T

Tax losses HIEESE 234,859 75,114
Deductible temporary differences AMREREER 27,155 11,014
262,014 86,128

The Group has tax losses arising of RMB1,063,757,000
and RMB367,007,000, as at December 31, 2021 and 2020.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be
utilised.

MN20214F K 2020128310 » REBEE
EMIEEED B A ARK1,063,757,000
TR ARE367,007,0007T - HRZEER
W R B K O] B A FE SR B % F A B DA SR 5 7t
BEE QT ERZSEERRELCHEE
g{ °
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LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

On May 9, 2021,
stock limited liability company. A total of 40,000,000 shares
of par value of RMB1.00 each were issued and allotted to
the respective shareholders of the Company according to
the paid-in capital registered under these shareholders on

the Company was converted to a joint

that day. The conversion of paid-in capital to share capital
with par value of RMB1.00 each is applied retrospectively
for the year ended December 31, 2020 for the purpose of
computation of basic earnings per share.

The Company had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the each of the years presented.

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on:

12.

B S ¥R R B

Year ended December 31, 2021
HZE2021F 12831 BILFE

BAREERERAARLERERE

HK2021F5H89H » XAREABRHBRA
7] * & #£40,000,000 % F R AEEAREE1.00
TTHROHERIEE AR RMERRS T
MEHRABETRESE TZERTR - B E
BRERRFNME  BHERAEAEREE
AR¥E1.00TTHI IR AN A 28 M FE AR B £ 2020
F12A31HILEE -

RE2IFE ARAMESHITRELE
HRENERK -

AESREREBRIIER

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
BZE12H318 #HZE12H31H
ILFEE ILEE
202145 20204
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBETTT
Loss &8
Loss attributable to ordinary (SN Lﬂx%zﬁﬁjx/ TR (657,561) (179,400)
owners/ordinary equity holders of BB AEBMGEE  ARETE
the parent, used in the basic and Hﬁ%l‘&ﬁ&?ﬁﬁiﬂﬁ
diluted loss per share calculation (AREBTIT)
(RMB’000)
Shares gy
Weighted average number of RARFTESRER LB EEE 421,443,519 308,530,830
ordinary shares assumed to be in issue HERBRE BETEERD
during the year used in the basic and I8
diluted loss per share calculation
Loss per share (basic and diluted) HREE (EARES (1.56) (0.58)

(RMB per share)

(BIRAR%TT)
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T 5y | ;I
Year ended December 31, 2021 F—j ‘ ~ A /*} e ‘
BZ2021E12 831 A ILFE E El T
= =7
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y% BERXRE
The Group AEH
Computer
Leasehold Plant and Furniture and office Motor ~ Construction
improvements machinery  and fixtures  equipment vehicles in progress Total
HENXEE  HERER  GARRE SERBORE AE ERIR &3t
RMB'’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARBTR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETT  ARETR
December 31, 2021 202151273318
At January 1, 2021: R221F1A1R
Cost A 15,635 62,223 5 1,194 1,266 57,485 137,858
Accumulated depreciation S TERAE (1,117) (7,505) (28) (532) (176) - (9,358)
and impairment
Net carrying amount FHFE 14,518 54,718 P 662 1,090 57,485 128,500
At January 1, 2021, net of Ro01E1A1A 14,518 54,718 27 662 1,090 57,485 128,500
accumulated depreciation TRZNERAE
and impairment
Additions AE 322 58,301 121 2,176 912 240,923 302,755
Disposals -3 - (17) - (1) - - (18)
Depreciation provided during ENfTERR (5,509) (8,328) (34) (638) (394) - (14,903)
the year
Transfers &3 13,250 18,423 - - - (31,673) -
At December 31, 2021, net of R2021E12A318 22,581 123,097 114 2,199 1,608 266,735 416,334
accumulated depreciation TRZNERAE
and impairment
At December 31, 2021 Ro021E12A31H
Cost A 29,207 138,859 176 3,361 2,179 266,735 440,517
Accumulated depreciation ZHERAE (6,626) (15,762) (62) (1,162) (57) - (24,183)
and impairment
Net carrying amount FEEE 22,581 123,097 114 2,199 1,608 266,735 416,334
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. ¥1%¥  BERRE (&)

(continued)
The Group (continued) AEE ()
Computer
Leasehold Plant and Fumiture and office Motor ~ Construction
improvements machinery  and fixtures equipment vehicles in progress Total
BEMERE  ERERER  GARKE SERPLRE ot ERIR @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR  AR¥TR  ARETR  ARETRT  ARBTR  ARETR
December 31, 2020 2020512531
At January 1, 2020: R2020F1A18 :
Cost A - 41,932 KY) 762 691 15,766 59,183
Accumulated depreciation ZiMERAE = (2,843) (5) (191) (51) = (3,090)
and impairment
Net carrying amount KEAE = 39,089 a 57 640 15,766 56,093
At January 1, 2020, net of R20205181A - 39,089 2 571 640 15,766 56,093
accumulated depreciation TREHHERRE
and impairment
Additions AE = 20,577 23 465 575 57,354 78,994
Disposals LE - (29) - ) - = (31)
Transfers g3 15,635 - - - - (15,635) -
Depreciation provided during ERfEERE (1,117) (4919) (23) (372) (125) = (6,556)
the year
At December 31, 2020, net of R2020F 128318 - 14518 54718 2 662 1,090 57,485 128,500
accumulated depreciation TREHHERRE
and impairment
At December 31, 2020 R2020% 128317
Cost AR 15,635 62,223 55 1,194 1,266 57,485 137,858
Accumulated depreciation ZiERAE (1,117) (7,505) (28) (532) (176) - (9,358)
and impairment
Net carrying amount KEAFE 14518 54,718 a 662 1,090 57,485 128,500
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BE2021412831BILEE Elf
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y% BERKRE (&)
(continued)
The Company AATE
Computer
Leasehold Plant and Furniture and office Motor  Construction
improvements machinery  and fixtures  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
BENERE  BEREM  GARKE ERRBORE & ERIE &3t
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT  ARETR ARET R ARET R ARET AEETT  ARMTR
December 31, 2021 2021%12831H
At January 1, 2021 R02151A18
Cost A 15,635 55,779 3 752 1,266 49,521 122,985
Accumulated depreciation ZHRERAE (1,17) (5,609) (14) (343) (176) - (7,259)
and impairment
Net carrying amount BEAE 14,518 50,176 18 409 1,090 49,521 115,732
At January 1, 2021, net of R2021E181A 14,518 50,176 18 409 1,090 49,521 115,732
accumulated depreciation TREHHERRE
and impairment
Additions hE 322 38,107 48 1,526 912 235,590 276,505
Disposals L& - () - 1) - - (6)
Depreciation provided during EnfERE (3,376) (7,326) (18) (394) (394) - (11,508)
the year
Transfers gz - 18,423 - - - (18,423) -
At December 31, 2021, net of 20215128318 - 11,464 99,375 48 1,540 1,608 266,688 380,723
accumulated depreciation TREHHERRE
and impairment
At December 31, 2021 R2021%12831H - - - - - - -
Cost A 15,957 112,300 80 2,259 2,179 266,688 399,463
Accumulated depreciation ZERAE (4,493) (12,925) (32) (19) (57) - (18,740)
and impairment
Net carrying amount KEAFE 11,464 99,375 48 1,540 1,608 266,688 380,723
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Year ended December 31, 2021
HZE2021F 12831 BILFE

13. ¥1%¥  BERRE (&)

(continued)
The Company (continued) AR (E)
Computer
Leasehold Plant and Fumiture and office Motor ~ Construction
improvements machinery  and fixtures equipment vehicles in progress Total
BEMERE  ERERER  GARKE SERPLRE ot ERIR @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
December 31, 2020 2020512531
At January 1, 2020: R2020F1A18 :
Cost A = 36,998 18 522 691 15,766 53,995
Accumulated depreciation ZiMERAE - (1,206) ) (118) (51) = (1,377)
and impairment
Net carrying amount KEAE = 35,792 16 404 640 15,766 52,618
At January 1, 2020, net of R20205181A - 35,792 16 404 640 15,766 52,618
accumulated depreciation and TREHHERRE
impairment
Additions AE = 18,814 14 230 575 49,390 69,023
Disposals LE - (5) - - - - (5)
Transfers g3 15,635 - - - - (15,635) -
Depreciation provided during ERfEERE (1,117) (4,425) (12) (225) (125) = (5,904)
the year
At December 31, 2020, net of 20205128318 14,518 50,176 18 409 1,090 49,521 115,732
accumulated depreciation TREHHERRE
and impairment
At December 31, 2020: R2020F 128318 :
Cost A 15,635 55,779 3 752 1,266 49,521 122,985
Accumulated depreciation ZERAE (1,117) (5,603) (14) (343) (176) = (7,259)
and impairment
Net carrying amount KEAFE 14518 50,176 18 409 1,090 49,521 115,732
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LEASES 14. #HE
The Group and the Company as a lessee AEERAEQABERFEBEA
During the year, the Group has lease contracts for FRN - AEERHLERPERNSEEE LS
various items of leasehold land and properties used in HMEMETLHESY - BRAEL —XME
its operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront NRAREERBERE i - A AS0F
to acquire the leased land from the owners with lease MBEZE L HEENER - §T2REX
periods of 50 years, and no ongoing payments will be ERRIE - MERE—REHR2ESF -
made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of —BiME  AEETSEREBINEER
properties generally have lease terms between 2 and 5 EHEEEE - BIESSEHBEAEIEN
years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning MAS#HENFKMNEESY -
and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group. There
is no lease contract that includes extension and termination
options and variable lease payments.
(a)  Right-of-use assets (a) (EHERE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use FA - AEBEFREEENRAAERE SN
assets and the movements during the year are as T
follows:
The Group AEEH
Leasehold
land Properties Total
HELH LY st
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®T R ARBTT AR®TT
As at January 1, 2020 R2020F1H1H - 5,667 5,667
Additions NE 32,445 25,770 58,215
Depreciation charge TEX W (487) (5,720) (6,207)
As at December 31, 2020 R2020% 12 A31H 31,958 25,717 57,675
As at January 1, 2021 R2021F1A1H 31,958 25,717 57,675
Additions NE - 5,934 5,934
Disposals k= - (131) (131)
Depreciation charge TEZ W (649) (7,555) (8,204)
As at December 31, 2021 R2021%F 12 A31H 31,309 23,965 55,274

The leasehold land is pledged for the interest-
bearing bank borrowing in note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.

HE M EE M RERM 2405 SR
TR -
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14. HE (&)
The Group and the Company as a lessee (continued) AEERAQIBMEAERBEA (&)
Right-of-use assets (continued) (a) (EAEELE (&)
The carrying amounts of the Company's right-of-use FRN - AREEAEEENREER
assets and the movements during the year are as g -
follows:
The Company /N
Leasehold
land Properties Total
HELTi S et
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR¥T T AR®ETF T AR®T T
As at January 1, 2020 R2020F1H1H - 2,696 2,696
Additions NE 32,445 7,225 39,670
Disposals k= (487) (1,437) (1,924)
As at December 31, 2020 R2020% 12 A31H 31,958 8,484 40,442
As at January 1, 2021 MH2021F1A1H 31,958 8,484 40,442
Additions NE - 210 210
Disposals k= - (131) (131)
Depreciation charge TEX W (649) (2,393) (3,042)
As at December 31, 2021 R2021412 A31H 31,309 6,170 37,479
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14.

LEASES (continued)

7
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g |
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The Group and the Company as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

The Group

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the

14.

Al
& =
HE (1E)
FEBRAQTELSEBA (&)
(b) HHEEEF
M

FR HERENREEREHN

movements during the year are as follows: Nk
Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
BZE12A31H #&ZE12A31H
IEFE IFFE
202145 20204
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T
Carrying amount at January 1, ®1A1BMEREE 26,125 5,529
New leases FHEE 5,934 25,770
Addition of a subsidiary B ARIARE - -
Accretion of interest recognized FNE R F EIEM 1,277 697
during the year
Disposals & (197) -
Payments E7S (6,420) (5,871)
Carrying amount at the end of the year FRAIIREE 26,719 26,125
Analysed into: DT
Current portion mENER D 7,862 4,334
Non-current portion IEmEN IS 18,857 21,791

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed

in note 37 to the financial statements.

The Group applied the practical expedient to
account for a forgiveness or waiver of lease
payments as a variable lease payment to make a
corresponding adjustment to the lease liabilities, in
effect derecognising the part of the lease liabilities

that has been forgiven or waived.

HERBENIHOT NP BEIRRMEI7 I

o

e
pur

AEBECETERBEMER 2GR LE

ENFIERAEBEENR  NEHEEEE
TTHEAE MR IEBERADWRERIARR

WHERERD °
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The Group and the Company as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The Company
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14. FHE (E)

(b)

The carrying amount of the Company’s lease
liabilities and the movements during the year are as

follows:

AEERADIAMERFAA (F)

HEERE (&)
LA

7 AATEE R EEEERS
BT

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
BZ12A318 #HZE12A31R
LLFE IEFE

20214 20204

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Carrying amount at January 1, ®1A1BMERAEE 8,874 2,721
New leases MHE 210 7,225
Accretion of interest recognized FRERERFSIG M 405 204
during the year
Disposals L& (197) =
Payments (=N (872) (1,276)
Carrying amount at the end of the year FRAIIREE 8,420 8,874
Analysed into: DL
Current portion MBS 2,937 717
Non-current portion IEmEN I D 5,483 8,157
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14. LEASES (continued) 14. FHE (&)

The Group and the Company as a lessee (continued)

(c)

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation (c)
to leases are as follows:

n [
i)

| ~
-¢
-
[A—

AEERARQAEREEA (H)
RESEREEEAEOSENT ¢

Year ended Year ended

December 31, December 31,

2021 2020

BZE12A31H #&ZE12A31H

ILEE IFEFE

20214 2020%F

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®ET T ARBT T

Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 1,277 697

Depreciation charge of right-of-use FREEERES 7,555 6,207
assets

Expense relating to short-term leases*  BRIGHA SR 490 432

Total amount recognised in profit or loss KB ERLERE 9,322 7,336

Included in “Administrative expenses” and
“Research and development expenses” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

The total cash outflow for leases is set out in note (d)

31 to the financial statements. 53

1o

* SPAGERELEMEEKERATT
BRs ) R [# 8RS ] -

HERR SR AR M5 RK
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GOODWILL w8
Goodwill
meE
RMB’ 000
AR¥TR
As at January 1, 2021, ®2021F1 /818 9,305
Acquisition of a subsidiary Ui — M B A A
Cost and net carrying amount at December 31, 2021  #2021412 A31 BAR AR EEFE 9,305
As at December 31, 2021: R2021F 128318
Cost %N =
Accumulated impairment 2EPRE -
Net carrying amount BREFE 9,305

Goodwill was acquired from the acquisition of Beijing
ABZYMO on January 8, 2019.

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the Group as the CGU (“CGU”) for impairment
testing.

The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined
based on a fair value less cost of disposal (‘FVLCD”")
method using cash flow projections which has considered
the highest and best use by market participants. The cash
flow projection covering a 20-year period reflects current
market expectations about the Group’s future amounts.
Using a 20-year forecast period in the goodwill impairment
test has considered the best information reasonably
available that the market participants would use. It was
appropriate because it generally takes longer for a vaccine
company to reach perpetual growth mode, compared to
companies in other industries, especially when its products
are still under clinical trial and the market of such product
is at an early stage of development with substantial growth
potential.

EEEN2019F1 ASH KBt RL A BT
UTER o

BERERE

BBRERBAHBBORESREEAKEE
RREAANRSELEN([REELE
fiz]) e

REeELEMNEWESRETIRERFER
HERA (TAFEREERAK ) 75 AIE A
RenE8RAFE ZRUSZETSL2 A
EFNRDREERE  ME20FHNEER
ERARREATSEARERRSENTE
B REABREANATEMR0FEAHEE
BHS2RENSEERNRKEEN - 1))
BIRE  AREEMITENRFMAL  &E
NEEBOKERERER —RFEREE - LHE
EEHEMDEREBRZARER - B%Em
HWmsRNERVABLEERAERES -
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15.

g e
=
GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

The following describes inputs that were used in the
FVLCD of the CGU as at December 31, 2020 and 2021 for
its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill:

Revenue - The basis used to determine the projected
revenue which is based on market participant’s expectation
of when to launch the Group’s products and also the
expectation for future market. The Group’s product
candidates, HPV 9-valent vaccine and Covid-19 vaccine,
are at the clinical trial stage, and the market participants
expect the Group to submit the Biologics License
Application (“BLA”) to the National Medical Products
Administration (“NMPA”) for HPV 9-valent vaccine in 2025
and Covid-19 vaccine in 2022. The compound growth rate
of revenue was estimated based on information available
at the time of assessment, disregarding information that
became available after the assessment. Such information
includes current industry overview and estimated market
development of related products.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the projected gross margins was
the average gross margins that would achieve when
the product candidates are commercialized, and would
be increased for expected improvements of production
efficiency and market development.

Terminal growth rate — The forecasted terminal growth rate
is based on market expectations of the industry growth rate
and does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for
the industry relevant to the CGU.

Discount rates — The discount rates being used were 16.0%
as at December 31, 2020 and 14.5% as at December 31,
2021 which were before tax and reflected the risks relating
to the relevant unit estimated by market participants.

Based on the impairment assessment conducted by the
Group utilising the above key assumptions, the recoverable
amount of the CGU estimated from the cash flow forecast
exceeded the carrying amount of goodwill and no
impairment was considered necessary.

15.

f o
,

14 rf/ i
ol -4
Vrﬁ/
e (E)
BERENE ()
LT pETEmEREARNEeRER
B EREEEEMPN2020F £2021F12
A31 B AFER T &R AEARE

Wik~ ETEE RS EETERMISSH
HIEH MRS H RSB ER A RKRRTES
MTEH - REFNREER (HPVABES
RFEEE) EREBKARKE  mi58H
EFBEIANEE S N 2025 F A B R 45 5 B B
ERR([BREER]) BRIHPVNERE &
R2022 F IR IR ARG ET A 75
(EYVERFAIRB]) - WABESERETD
RIBFH SR ] SN EREE - mMAEEF
MEAESHER - ZEEHABBERN
EATTEME RIS HE -

BHEFNE - BEHETFEREN RO EE
FRANEEAREERSERBEL - A
REERNERTSRRAMERNTHE
R -

BimiE R R — FAIKOR G R KR RN TS
TREREZWEY YA BRRRECELS
AT RRIF I RE -

ALEE & — PTAALIE R A7 2020612 A31H
H116.0% A B R 2021412 831 HAI14.5%
BARBAIRRMTELEEGTHEEE
IR °

RIFALE A Lt 2RBETHRIER
it REREBRMMAETNREELEMA
Yol & BB B RO AR (E - MR RBAE
HRE °
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GOODWILL (continued) 15. BE (&)
Impairment testing of goodwill (continued) EERENR (&)
The values assigned to the key assumptions on market RERBEERMSERN T EHRREBA
development of related products and the pre-tax discount EEEETE’]T S (EHINBERIRR—E -
rate are consistent with external information sources.
Sensitivity to changes in key assumptions: ARBREHHHRE :
The management of the Company has performed sensitivity ARAREREDBBREERKEN1% - F
test by decreasing 1% of expected revenue, deceasing 1% RIEEEREM1% - FEKIFEREN1%
of budgeted gross margins, decreasing 1% of the terminal S IE DA AT BG IR R A9 1 % EATHURE ORI -
growth rate or increasing 1% of the pre-tax discount rate, MEABEMBRRRENE - REELBMNM
with all other assumptions held constant. The impacts on e cEBEYEEMENTE (F2) 0
the amount by which the CGU'’s recoverable amount above ™
its carrying amount (headroom) are as below:
Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
BZE12H318 #HZE12H31H
IHFE IEFE
202145 20204
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBETTT
Headroom pe ] 9,068,281 3,853,044
Impact by decreasing expected revenue FRETEE I = 2 (132,563) (86,671)
Impact by decreasing budgeted REBEENENTZE (421,033) (132,855)
gross margins
Impact by decreasing terminal growth rate PR {EARIFIE K R F 2 (46,200) (34,700)
Impact by increasing pre-tax discount rate & 1% A BLIR RO R 2 (773,750) (455,143)
Considering there was still sufficient headroom based BRBRIRFFEDERMNFE - ARRIERE
on the assessment, the management of the Company ERRLEEER2BNAEAEEH TS
believes that a reasonably possible change in the above HRGELBUMERHEBLETKRES
o

key parameters would not cause the carrying amount of the
CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.
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16. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

OTHER ASSETS

-
A

16. FENFNE - AttEBRHRERAEMEE

The Group AEE
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
M12H31H M®12H31H
20215 2020%F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Prepayments for raw materials R R R TR IR 14,996 712
Prepayment for research and M R IR 5,126 4,693

development expense

Advance lease payments TEfT R ERE 262 26
Deposits TR 2,958 3,287
Value-added tax recoverable A Y Bl B E R 51,939 11,127
Deferred listing expenses BEE EMAX 11,410 =
Others HAb 1,769 58
88,460 19,903

The financial assets included in the above balances relate
to receivables for which there was no recent history of
default and past due amounts. As at the end of each of the
reporting periods, the loss allowance was assessed to be
minimal.

Value-added tax recoverable represents input VAT related
to property, plant and equipment acquired and research
and development expenses incurred which are expected
to be recovered either through refund from tax bureaus
or to be utilized in the future to offset the output VAT. The
amounts that are expected to be recovered within one
year are recorded as current assets, while those that are
expected to be recovered after one year are recorded as
non-current assets.

FRALAEHN SR EESI NS EHER K
BHRERENERFIREE REREH
R BEBBERFEREETAK -

AR EIREREREBEYE - BE MRE
AR B EERMIT XA B EREER
BEEHE BB BERKKE K A & BRER
SHIRIE(ET - TR AR —F AU @ RIRE
ERENEE - MR RN —FRKE /KR
AEHEIERBEE -
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16. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 16. FEfMRE  HttEKWRERHEMEE
OTHER ASSETS (continued) (&)

The Company AATE

As at As at

December 31, December 31,

2021 2020

M12H31H ®12H31H

20215 2020%F

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBEFTT

Prepayments for raw materials R R R TR IR 13,215 588

Prepayment for research and M R IR 5,126 4,634

development expense

Advance lease payments TEfT R ERE 159 15

Other receivable from Beijing ABZYMO* FEUAL % B s o) HL R IE - 137,369

Deposits e 901 826

Value-added tax recoverable AU B E(E 47,241 8,061

Deferred listing expenses BE Emx 11,410 =

Others Hth 246,404 48

324,456 151,541

The financial assets included in the above balances
relate to receivables for which there was no recent
history of default and past due amounts. As at the end
of each of the reporting periods, the management of
the Company assessed that the occurrence of losses
from non-performance by the counter parties of other
receivables was remote and the expected credit.

A L R E & B E FE S AT SR 3
REBHFIAC N EWFIRGE -
BRERKR - AAREERERNG - HEf
M FENR5EF I T EITEBHE
RBEEXRE - B EKEIANTESRE
ERETK -
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17.
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—

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Group

[
n |
S

4l

& =/

. /_/
HEtEEEE
AEH

155>

In-progress
research and
development

technology

B 2% B BT B S 40T

RMB’ 000

AR¥T T

As at January 1, 2021 R2021€1A1H 22120

Acquisition of a subsidiary Ue B — M B A 7 =

At December 31, 2021 MR2021F12H31H 22,120
At December 31, 2021 7"2021%12831H

Cost IBFN 22,120

Accumulated amortization BT =

Net carrying amount BRMEFE 22,120

Impairment testing of intangible assets

The intangible assets represented the in-progress research
and development (“R&D”) technology acquired in relation
to Beijing ABZYMO acquisition.

The in-progress R&D technology is amortized using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives
when available for use. The recoverable amount of in-
progress R&D technology has been determined based
on a FVLCD method using cash flow projections having
taken into account of the highest and best use by market
participants. The cash flow projections covering a 20-year
period reflects current market expectations about the future
amounts of the in-progress R&D technology. Using a 20-
year forecast period for the in-progress R&D technology
impairment test is appropriate because the technology
is still in progress and its useful life is expected to be
20 years which is estimated by considering the period
of the economic benefits to the Group. It generally takes
longer for the HPV 9-valent vaccine to be launched in the
market and generate benefits to the Group, compared to
companies in other industries, especially when the Group’s
product candidate — HPV 9-valent vaccine is still under
clinical trial and the market of such product is at an early
stage of development with substantial growth potential.

BREERERR

BIEERARPWEILRRZ B BABNR
R RO ER ([HF 3 ) B

5 8% PR A BT S5 R I A2 2 B 4 AR AR AR R IR T
FAFHBREAEGEEN - AEP R
Rtk BB hE kM2 RERER
MEEMRESREEANE - BREAFERT
ERAFTRNETE - ME20FHNRERETE
BB E RIS E AR SRR RS
BEHTEH - AREMDERFEREE - B8
BRI A SR A204 » AIEERALEBENK
S F 2 BRI AT - MU R B R OB 2R TR
ERHFA0FEEANBIRE - EBHEMITE
KARIAEL  HPV N ERBBE R EERE
MAE MU AREBELEND  LEER
EEMERERHPVNER B NERERH
% BUHBEERNTMSEREERELERE
RGP HAPRER -
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OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
Impairment testing of intangible assets (continued)

Revenue — The basis used to determine the projected
revenue, which was based on market participants’
expectation of when to launch one of the Group’s
product candidates — HPV 9-valent vaccine, and also the
expectation of the future market. HPV 9-valent vaccine is at
the clinical trial stage, and the market participants expect
the Group to submit the Biologics License Application
(“BLA") to the National Medical Products Administration
(“NMPA") for this vaccine in 2025. The compound growth
rate of revenue was estimated based on information
available at the time of assessment, disregarding
information that became available after the assessment.
Such information includes current industry overview and
estimated market development of related products.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the projected gross margins was
the average gross margins that would achieve when
the HPV 9-valent vaccine is commercialized, and would
be increased for expected improvements of production
efficiency and market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates being used were 17.0%
as at December 31, 2020 and 15.5% as at December 31,
2021 which were before tax and reflected the risks relating
to the in-progress R&D technology.

Based on the impairment assessment conducted by the
Group utilizing the above key inputs, the recoverable
amount of the in-progress R&D technology estimated from
the cash flow forecast exceeded its carrying amount and
no impairment was considered necessary.

17.
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HitEEEE (&)
B EERENR (H)

W — EE AN S EE T ER TS 6
HTEEA SR AR EREER 2 — —HPV
NEEERARRTISEMELS - HPVEZRE
BREBRARMREE  EmMBELHEEBHRAS
ER2025FMBEREREEEER ([ HRE
ERDRREMERF R ([EMEME
AEHFE]) c MABABER BB
ESNERMLR - MAE B GHE A ESHD
BE e ZEEHOEEEERNERMITER
BEREFTIRER -

EHEFE - BEHEFENENEOMEE
F B A HPV AL E B A %L -
TGN E R A RAR TS RERENT
EF|E -

BRI K — FTABRIRE AR 2020F 12 A31H
F)17.0% KR 2021F 12 A31HK15.5% -
RBRTLAT I R B P A I S R e R R o

IRIEAN SR B A bt = 2 o A BUBE 1T RO
B - et RERSRERANAEDH
BRI O S BB EREE - 53
RBAELRE -
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17.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
Impairment testing of intangible assets (continued)

Sensitivity to changes in key assumptions:

The management of the Company has performed sensitivity
test by decreasing 1% of expected revenue, deceasing 1%
of budgeted gross margins, or increasing 1% of the pre-tax
discount rate, with all other assumptions held constant. The
impacts on the amount by which the recoverable amount of
the in-progress R&D technology above its carrying amount
(headroom) are as below:

17.

—
i
~ [

a

[f—<

!

HtB P EaE (&)
BREERENR (8)
MRBREBHOHRE

ARBEREDBBREERKEN1%
EEEENEKH1% - jU")JWRH‘JESEEIE']
1% ETHREH - MABEMRRERT
o MEPNIMERMO AT RESEBHE
REENTZECFE) T

Year ended Year ended

December 31, December 31,

2021 2020

BZE12H31H #HZE12H31H

LFE IFFE

202145 20204

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®T T AR®ET T

Headroom FE 1,713,400 878,040

Impact by decreasing expected revenue FHETE Bl e B o 2 (19,570) (20,520)

Impact by decreasing budgeted BREBEEMENFE (37,570) (29,680)
gross margins

Impact by increasing pre-tax discount rate & hnFi AT EL IR R g2 £ (178,820) (121,460)

Considering there was still sufficient headroom based B RBE A RN TR KNSR

on the assessment, the management of the Company EBRAE LM FELX2YNESBAEEH T8

believes that a reasonably possible change in the above
key parameters would not cause the carrying amount of
the in-progress R&D technology to exceed its recoverable
amount.

B O E R REER L E TR
BHE
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18. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 18. HMFRBEE

The Group AEE
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
1202145 R 20204
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARBT T
Time deposits* TEHATF 3R> 80,000 50,000
Prepayment for purchase of property, BEME - BERKEHBEMNFIE 39,764 70,038

plant and equipment

Prepayment for long-term insurance** R AR TE AT SRIE 1,852 =
121,616 120,038

The Company VN |
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
120215 20204
12H31H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARBEFIT
Time deposits* TEBRE R 80,000 50,000
Prepayment for purchase of property, BEYE  BFERRENTENKIE 35,613 63,507

plant and equipment

Prepayment for long-term insurance** RHEREBAOTE S FHIE 1,852 =
117,465 113,507

As at December 31, 2020 ' time deposit include (i)

RMB50,000,000 starting from December 28, 2020 with
a maturity date on December 28, 2023 is with a fixed

interest rate of 4.10%.

2020128318 » EHEFEREE()
BH2020F 12 A28 HEZE 2023512 A
28 B X #im A R#50,000,000 7T -
EMER410% °
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18. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS (continued) 18. HhFERBEE (FE)
As at December 31, 2021, time deposits include (i) R2021F12A831H » THEREBRE()E
RMB50,000,000 starting from December 28, 2020 with a 202012 H28 A £ 2023F 12 28 H
maturity date on December 28, 2023 with a fixed interest | Hig AR ¥ 50,000,000 © BEEFEA
rate of 4.10%; (ii) RMB10,000,000 which started from 4.10% : (ii)B2021F2 23 HEE2024F
February 23, 2021 with a maturity date on February 23, 2 A23HE#i89 AR #10,000,0007T + EE
2024 with a fixed interest rate of 3.99%; (iii)) RMB10,000,000 T &3.99% : (iii)E2021F4 A20HERE
which started from April 20, 2021 with a maturity date on 20243 A31H X/ EA AR 10,000,000
March 31, 2024 with a fixed interest rate of 3.99%; (iv) gL EEMEAE3.99% ¢ (iv)EH2021F6
RMB10,000,000 which started from June 2, 2021 with a A2HBZE2024F6 A2HEBHMARY
maturity date on June 2, 2024 with a fixed interest rate of 10,000,0007T * EFEFZEA3.41% ©
3.41%.
For all the time deposits as at December 31, 2021, interest 2021 F12 A31 BH A EHF M
income is then settled using current interest rate only if to = MAMEEREIE R ZATRE - B A
withdraw before corresponding maturity date. ERAIFIRGEER BMA -
o This is the prepayment of long-term insurance, which is ** I ARBREHTEMNKIE - RE2.54F
amortized over its service period of 2.5 years. B AR TS EA B 8 o
19. INVENTORIES 19. =&
The Group AEE
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
20215 720204
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBETTT
Raw materials R4 23,549 7,762
The Company AN
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
®2021%F 720204
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBETTT
Raw materials R 23,417 7,702
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HZE2021F 12831 BILFE

20. BRATVEFABZENSMEE

The Group and Company AEERADT
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
#2021 5 20204
12H31H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBEFTT
Wealth management products O E - 325,890
- 325,890

At December 31, 2021 the financial assets at FVTPL
represented floating return wealth management products
issued by certain banks, with expected return rates ranging

from 1.35% to 3.85% per annum.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

R2021F 128318 @ HMAFEFABZEH
SREERE THRITHITNZIBIRSEY E
G FBEARISREN FEH1.35%23.85% °

21. RERWITER

The Group AEE
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
72021 F R2020F
12H31H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®ET T
Cash at banks RITE 1,172,562 355,821
Time deposits* TEHATF K> 10,000 =
Cash and bank balances B RIRI TR R 1,182,562 355,821

Denominated in: LAT%IT8 B 5HE -

RMB AR 494,104 28,192
usD e 688,458 327,629
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21. CASH AND BANK BALANCES (continued) 21. B RBITEH (E)
The Company b N
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
720214 MR 20204
128318 12H831H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Cash at banks RITFER 1,162,082 354,071
Time deposits* T BfE R 10,000 =
Cash and bank balances Be RIRITH R 1,172,082 354,071
Denominated in: A58 B 5HE -
RMB AR 483,625 26,443
UsD o 688,457 327,628

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

ARBIABEBRLBRABEMER - A - R

R B R OB B IR AR D)) I (AR EE

EE

RISEEEMRE)  AEEAEARBER
REITINERFORITHARB LB EAM

-

RITFFREARITERN R ZZBN RR
S - |RITEKERNEERFRIHY
T R AR BV ERTT o
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22. TRADE PAYABLES 22. EZRENNE
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of REBREHR  BHRNFIBBRBEEZAH
each reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as HRRE ST T -
follows:
The Group AEE
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
"202145 20204
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
Trade payables 2 SR RIE 16,816 1,987
The Company AT
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
72021 F R2020F
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Trade payables =) AN S 15,534 1,092
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22. TRADE PAYABLES (continued) 22, EZEMARE (&)
The Group AEE
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
1202145 220204
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARBET T
Within 1 year —FR 16,739 1,928
Over 1 year i —F 77 59
16,816 1,987
The Company NN |
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
120214 R20204F
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARBT T
Within 1 year —FR 15,473 1,092
Over 1 year B —F 61 =
15,534 1,092
Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally ZBEEMNTIERNE  —RRIET L EFEE

settled within the normal operating cycle.

Ny
NEEH
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OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 23. HMttENREBERESEHR
The Group AEE
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
20215 R 20204
12H31H 12A31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBET T
Deposits received from vendors BE SR ize 420 180
Payable for property, plant and equipment  E¥% - BE MR HRIE 7,523 1,081
Accrued listing expense FERT X 9,429 =
Accrued research and JEEHI 3R 2 29,151 23,117
development expenses
Accrued renovation and JEETRE R RERX 38,440 11,157
construction expenses

Staff payroll, welfare and bonus payables — JEfT B TH B - &8F RIEA 24,310 11,942
Tax payables FESBEIE 687 2,173
Accrual rental expenses T HERE 910 =
Other accrued expenses Hib gzt &M 2,654 1,378
Other payables H fth AT 5RIE 1,091 132
114,615 51,160
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23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 23.

(continued)

A
[

2
-

-¢

-

— ]

ot 2

——

HttEARERETER (&)

The Company AATE
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
720214 20204
12H31H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Deposits received from vendors BE SR iRe 420 180
Payable for property, plant and equipment  FEf% - KR &% #7008 6,932 1,081
Accrued listing expense JEEF ETAX 9,429 =
Accrued research and FEETIEE R X 29,151 21,605

development expenses
Accrued renovation and JEETRERBERERY 37,999 9,167
construction expenses

Staff payroll, welfare and bonus payables B8 T « @F R4 14,205 5,374
Tax payables FEREIR 427 1,069
Accrual rental expenses FERTHERY 910 =
Other accrued expenses HibfERE A 2,131 898
Other payables H fth JE A 5RIE 830 38
102,434 39,412

Other payables and accruals of the Group and the
Company are non-interest-bearing and have an average

term of three months.

RE B R AR R e E A B 5R0E M R B A
RRESAFEMBEA=A -



y

Annual Report 2021
B FR

Notes to Financial Statements

B S ¥R R B

" g S e
of / [\ - 52 \ Year ended December 31, 2021
—) E (n =y EHZE2021F12 A31 B ILFE
L =/ ~
24. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 24, FFEBITER
The Group and Company AEERARQT
As at December 31, 2021
"2021F12H31H
Effective
interest rate
per annum % Maturity RMB’ 000
B FEFIZE (%) ZEA ARET T
Non-Current FEENHA
Bank loans — secured IRITEH — FiEH 4.65% 2028 50,000.00
Analyzed into: AT
As at
December 31,
2021
2021 F
12A31H
RMB’ 000
AR¥T
Bank loans repayable: EEZERITER
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FIEFSF  BIEEEME 50,000
50,000

On January 26, 2021, the Company entered into a seven-
year real estate mortgage agreement with Shanghai
Pudong Development Bank Co.,
The total facility under this mortgage agreement
was RMB200,000,000. The Company withdrawn
RMB10,000,000, RMB10,000,000, RMB10,000,000 and
RMB20,000,000 separately under this agreement on
February 8, 2021, June 4, 2021, August 11, 2021 and
November 11, 2021, which should be repaid since June
30, 2024. The borrowing was secured by leasehold land,

and bear a floating interest rate.

Ltd. Taizhou Branch.

iy

o
7y

MR2021F1H26H » AARE FEHRE
BIETRMHERAGFMNS T LA
FMEMERBEREZ  KBHBEETIHRE
“eFEAARE200,000,0007T ° 2021
F2H8H ~2021F6H4H * 20214F8A
11BK2021F11 A1 8 - BERHZE  AQ
A7 AlIRE AR 10,000,000t « AR
10,000,0007T + AR# 10,000,000t X AR
#20,000,0007T * FE H202446 A30H (&
& o BRUEE T EERIR - mE B ARG
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25. REDEMPTION LIABILITIES ON OWNERS’ 25. EEARTXHNELRNERE
CAPITAL

The Group and Company AEERADT
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
7A20214F 20204
12A31H 12A31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’'000
AR®T AR®ET T
Series A Al - 626,365
Series B Bim - 1,214,772
Interest payable related to HEDAERENENTE - 111,737

redemption liabilities

= 1,952,874

Pursuant to a capital contribution agreement dated
January 24, 2019 entered into among series A investors
and all our then Shareholders, the series A investors
agreed to subscribe the increased registered capital
of RMB12,763,462 of the Company at an aggregate
consideration of RMB500,000,000. Also pursuant to an
equity transfer agreement dated on August 7, 2019,
certain series A investors acquired registered capital of
the Company in a total amount of RMB2,702,541 from
then shareholders at an aggregate consideration of
RMB145,044,532 (together as “Series A Agreement”).

Pursuant to a capital contribution agreement dated
November 2, 2020, entered into among series B investors
and all our then Shareholders, the series B investors
agreed to subscribe the increased registered capital
of RMB6,712,730 of the Company at an aggregate
consideration of RMB686,256,000. Also pursuant to an
equity transfer agreement dated on October 19, 2020,
certain series B investors acquired registered capital of
the Company in a total amount of RMB8,368,151 from then
shareholders, including certain series A investors, at an
aggregate consideration of RMB855,173,912 (together as
“Series B Agreement”).

RIBFABIREENR 201941 A24 H EHE BT
ERFET LR EERE  ABKREERER
BARNAFEIMERARE12,763,462
T BREABARK500,000,0007T ° Uk
Hh 0 IRIEBHEIB2019F8 A7 HA M EEE
i BETARBREEREARTZMER
WEAANRE2 70254170 BREAAR
#145,044,5327 (B[ Aminagl)

B BB A2020F 11 A2HMB®HIRE X
HENMARRI VN TIERZE  BHIX
EERAERBARANEAMERAARKE
6,712,7307T * BRE R AR 686,256,000
JC ° AN - RIFEH B A2020F 10 H19HH
RiEE RS & TRMEEANRERMNR
R (BEETARKRESE) BARAAGME
REHEARYS, 368,151 AREAAR
#855,173,9127T (578 [ B tnakl) o



Annual Report 2021
TR —FEH

Notes to Financial Statements

140 | =
=) =~
REDEMPTION LIABILITIES ON OWNERS’
CAPITAL (continued)

Significant terms of the capital contribution agreements
regarding to Series A and B financing above that will
impact the accounting treatment of the Company are
outlined below:

Redemption rights (effective from January 2019 and
updated in November 2020)

Pursuant to the Series A Agreement, series A capital
contribution and related shares being transferred in
accordance with Series A Agreement shall be redeemable
by the Company upon the occurrence of certain contingent
events which cannot be controlled by the Company,
including (i) The HPV nine valent vaccine developed by the
Group has not been approved by the State Administration
of pharmaceutical production before December 31,
2024. (ii) Neither Herpesvirus vaccine or growth hormone
developed by the Group has been approved for clinical
trials and is in the process of phase lll clinical trials before
December 31, 2024. The price at which shares of series
A contribution is redeemed shall be an amount that would
give holders of series A a fifteen percent (15%) internal
return rate for its investment in the Company plus all
accrued but unpaid dividends.

Redemption rights (effective from November 2020)

Pursuant to the Series B Agreement, series B capital
contribution and related shares being transferred in
accordance with Series B Agreement shall be redeemable
by the Company upon the occurrence of certain contingent
events which cannot be controlled by the Company,
including (i) The HPV nine valent vaccine developed by the
Group has not been approved by the State Administration
of pharmaceutical production before December 31,
2024. (ii) Neither Herpesvirus vaccine or growth hormone
developed by the Group has been approved for clinical
trials and is in the process of phase Ill clinical trials before
December 31, 2024. The price at which shares of series A
and series B contribution is redeemed shall be an amount
that would give holders of series A and series B a twelve
percent (12%) simple interest rate for its investment in the
Company plus all accrued but unpaid dividends.

25.
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BAEARENEDSE (F)

FitARm ABHREBEABNIE MR EZ R
FEHARFNEGTREESATE - Bdm
™

BEEER (2019F1 A £ M B R2020F11
BEH)

RIBAGRGZ  ARBRETHNARIENUR
ARG EE  ARRBREERQRESL
THNETRASHRED - BEHAER
FERHPV NLEZE MR 2024512 A 31
HAIEERZEREBEERIE - (i) AER
HENSREZEBRERAEZN2024F
12 A31 BATREA EETRARR - AER
AR R B AR - ARRERARMERD
NEBBARBAEAEARRBRENENZ
+H(15%)AEPEHE - LB RFER
SRR -

BEERER (BH2020511 BREEX)
RIEBEw %  BRipEETHBREEURK
R MEZE AR RFRBEELRRQREE
THNE TRASHERED - 8EO)AER
FEBHPV NLEZ E MR 2024512 A 31
HATERR & RE SR BiE - () AEE
HENTREZEBRERMEN2024F
12 A31 BATAREREETRAAER - BER
HEARR R A 5 B2 - Al KB RD
BRI ERAARMKBIRIEE AELRRGIRE
HBEDZT=(12%)EF - i EmREZFTE
AEAFRIREE -
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25. REDEMPTION LIABILITIES ON OWNERS’
CAPITAL (continued)
Presentation and classification

The redemption obligations give rise to financial liabilities,
which are measured at the net present value of the
redemption amount. The movements of redemption
liabilities during the Relevant Periods are set out below.

The movements in redemption liabilities on owners’ capital

25. BEARANEEZSRE (F)

EXT) &

A [\
rIJfr:

=y

BoOETELASRAE  REOSEMNRE
FRATE - BREEEREHENRNEBHT

wmr e

AEEREHBHNHEEABEABLEEE

of the Group during the Relevant Periods are as follows: AT ¢
Series A Series B Total
A% B st
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBT AR®ETF T AR®T T
At January 1, 2020 20201 A1H 720,366 - 720,366
Recognition of redemption ERAREASAELRD = 1,214,772 1,214,772
liabilities on series A owners’ BB & (fita)
capital (Note a)
Debt forgiveness (Note b) BEBEE (Hitb) (18,679) = (18,679)
Interest charge FMEZ W 17,577 18,838 36,415
At December 31, 2020 and R2020F 12 A31H & 719,264 1,233,610 1,952,874
January 1, 2021 2021F1A1H
Interest charge MBI 5,053 49,978 55,031
Termination of redemption rights 4R [FEEEIER] (A7itc) (724,317) (1,283,588) (2,007,905)

(Note c)

At December 31, 2021 MH2021%12A31H

(a) Pursuant to the Series A Agreement and Series B
Agreement, the redemption obligations of the Company
were applicable to holders of Series A and Series
B. The net present value of redemption amount is
recognized as a financial liability and debited to equity
simultaneously.

(a) BEABBERBHIGE  AAFNE
CHEBERANABRBHAOFTAA - &
BERNREFARERRERELE -
I R AR AR AR -
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REDEMPTION LIABILITIES ON OWNERS’
CAPITAL (continued)

Presentation and classification (continued)

(b)

Pursuant to the Series B Agreement, the interest rate
being used to calculate the redemption price of series
A contribution was changed from fifteen percent (15%)
to twelve percent (12%) which resulted to a decrease
of the net present value of the redemption amount
immediately prior to and subsequent to the Series B
Agreement date. The decrease of the financial liabilities
was deemed as the debt forgiveness from series A’s
owners and was credited to equity simultaneously.

In March 2021, Series B+ shares capital contribution
agreement (the “Series B+ Agreement”) was signed
by and between the Company and all existing owners.
Pursuant to Series B+ Agreement, the obligation of
the Company with regard to the redemption rights
of holders of Series A and Series B was terminated.
Accordingly, the carrying amount of the financial
liabilities of all redemption liabilities was derecognized
upon the termination of the term.

DEFERRED INCOME

The Group and Company

B S ¥R R B

Year ended December 31, 2021
HZE2021F 12831 BILFE

25. BEAREANEEDSRE (H)

23R8 (&)

(b) REBHHE  BRAEARERNE
BERNNEOABED ZTH(15%) 8B
Bazt=(12%)  EREEBHEHH
BHA R ERNERREFERD - 2
REENRORRRARES ANES
Rk - WRKE AR -

(c) R2021F 38 - ARREMBREHE
BABRFB+WRATE % ([B+R 1
#]) o BIEB+TiHE - AARIGEARK
DEBHBRMNFBBEAZERNE L ZEAED
BiE-EAt - TEEREENESRARE
IREENF AR IERRIERER -

EFEWR A
AEBRART

26.

As at
December 31,
2020
R20204F
12H31H
RMB’000
ARBT T

As at
December 31,
2021
R2021F
12A31H
RMB’ 000
AR®ETF T

Government grants

B BY

32,244 18,122

Government grants received for compensation for the
Group’s research and development costs which has not
yet been undertaken are included in deferred income
and recognized as income on a systematic basis over the
periods that the cost, which it is intended to compensate,
is expensed. Government grants received relate to assets
invested in laboratory equipment and plant were credited
to deferred income and are recognized as income over the
expected useful lives of the relevant assets.

A7 55 B PR 1 A 1 0 R R 4 B B 38 B AS P UR
EREVBR AT/ By st AR FE WA - SR R e &
ERE A E RS S S R AR B -
B R 5 4 BY BN B B I AR U B R B Y
BERM SHABRTERA XRBEEEN
B ERFHAERREA -
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27. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 27. EEBEEE
Total
st
RMB’ 000
ARBT T
As at January 1, 2020 M2020F1H1H 5,530
Fair value adjustments arising from acquisition of BB AR EEN AT EFE -
a subsidiary
As at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2021 2020612 A31H & 2021412 H31H 5,530
28. SHARE CAPITAL/PAID-IN CAPITAL 28. BRA& EBHBRAX
The Group and Company AEERAEAAQT
Paid-in capital BAHRAE
Total
st
RMB’ 000
AR¥T T
As at January 1, 2020 R2020F1H1H 29,356
Capital contribution from series B financing (Note a)  BERgt & x & (ffita) 6,713
As at December 31, 2020 and January 1, 2021 72020 12 A31 B X 202141 A81H 36,069
Capital contribution from employee EE BT AR EE (KiEb) 1,898
incentives platforms (Note b)
Capital contribution from series B+ financing (Note ¢c) B+t & x& (ftstc) 1,519
Issue of ordinary shares upon conversion into RE RGN AR A RE (39,486)
a joint stock (Note d) BITL B (HEd)

As at December 31, 2021 R20214F12 A31H
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28. SHARE CAPITAL/PAID-IN CAPITAL (continued) 28. R4 EHKA (&)

i
‘ / } : 572 ‘ Year ended December 31, 2021
— Elf gJ/ BE2021F12A31AILEE

Share capital &N
Shares gl
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
120215 720204
12A831H 12A31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Issued and fully paid: BEEITREE
448,250,000 (2020: nil) ordinary shares 448,250,000 % 448,250 -
(20204 : &) T@K
A summary of movements in the Company's share capital RAGIRAZEBHIN T -
is as follows:
Total
st
RMB’ 000
ARBTT
Issued and fully paid as at January 1, 2020 and R2020F1 A1H K20214F1H1H -
January 1, 2021 EEITREZE
Issue of ordinary shares upon conversion into RESRMARAFIEEITEBR 40,000
a joint stock company (Note d) (Htezd)
Issue of ordinary shares upon conversion into RE RN ARAFIEEITEBR 4,825
a joint stock company (Note e) (Hiite)
Share capital transferred from capital premium (Note f) R% 7S [BE R AL (Fi 1) 403,425
As at December 31, 2021 RK2021612 431 H 448,250
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28.

SHARE CAPITAL/PAID-IN CAPITAL (continued)

Share capital (continued)

Notes:

(a)

Pursuant to a capital contribution agreement dated
November 2, 2020 entered into among the series B
investors and all other owners of the Company, the
series B investors agreed to subscribe the increased
registered capital of RMB6,713,000 of the Company at
an aggregate consideration of RMB686,256,000.

Pursuant to a capital contribution agreement dated
March 24, 2021 entered into among the employee
incentives platforms and all other owners of the
Company, the employee incentives platforms agreed
to subscribe the increased registered capital of
RMB1,898,000 of the Company at an aggregate
consideration of RMB28,950,000.

Pursuant to a capital contribution agreement dated
March 27, 2021 entered into among the series B+
investors and all other owners of the Company, the
series B+ investors agreed to subscribe the increased
registered capital of RMB1,519,000 of the Company at
an aggregate consideration of RMB200,000,000.

On May 9, 2021, the Board passed resolutions
approving, among other matters, the conversion of
the Company from a limited liability company into a
joint stock company and the change of name of the
Company from Jiangsu Rec-Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (/T
wInEHE M AT AR A A]) to Jiangsu Recbio Technology
Co., Ltd. OI&FmEHEMEMARMDBR2AR). Al the then
existing owners approved the conversion of the net
assets value of the Company as of March 31, 2021
into 40,000,000 Shares of the Company. Upon the
completion of the conversion, the registered capital
of the Company became RMB40,000,000 divided into
40,000,000 Shares with a nominal value of RMB1.00
each, which were subscribed by all the then existing
shareholders in proportion to their respective equity
interests in the Company before the conversion.

28.

BA& EHRA (&)
R ()

Hist -

(a)

RIEAARBWHEEERTAEME
BAR2020F 11 A2 HAT LA E &
% BHEBREAEREUNAREARE
686,256,000 T RE AR AIFEEME
RNAR#6,713,0007T °

RikEE BB T AEARARMBEEME
BAR2021FE3 A24BT A EE
& EEABTEREUBREARE
28,950,000 L RIEA A AR FT & &
RNARH1,898,0007T °

REARRB+HIEEE LB HME
BAR2021FE3 A27 BT A E &
# B+BmBEAERBEUBRREARYE
200,000,000 7T R AR R 7] &1 5
BEARANREE1,519,0007T °

MN2021E5 90  EEL€RBRER
(P BE)BARARAERETAR
BERMERARRBAARZEAT
EInCHEYIRITER AR EE AL
RHAEMEM ARG BRA A - R20214F
3A31H - ERFBHAE ABIERR
A A& EFESEIR AN A F]40,000,000
BEAR 1D - MEH]TERE - AARIKE
&R A AR40,000,0007T ' 55
40,000,000 % TR EE A K% 1.007TH)
BH - mABERKRREESSERE
BATR A A AR AR L I 3R RE -
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SHARE CAPITAL/PAID-IN CAPITAL (continued)
Share capital (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(e) Pursuant to a capital contribution agreement dated May
24, 2021 entered into among the series C investors
and all the then shareholders, the series C investors
agreed to subscribe the increased registered capital
of 4,825,000 shares of the Company at an aggregate
consideration of RMB965,102,000.

(f) On June 29, 2021, the registered capital of the
Company increased from RMB44,825,000 to
RMB448,250,000. During the said capital increase,
403,425,000 Shares were allotted and issued to all
the then existing shareholders of the Company on
the basis of one share for every nine shares allotted
according to their then shareholding, using part of the
share premium resulted from series C financing (“Share
Allotment”).

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s reserves
and the movements therein for the current and prior years
are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 9 and in the statement of financial position
of the Company on page 60 of the financial statements.

28.

29.

B 5 ¥R R B

Year ended December 31, 2021
HZE2021F 12831 BILFE

BA S BHEA ()
B ()
itk (&)

(e) BIRCEINE & HE R A R R 2021
FE5A24 BTN RIS ClIRE
ERENBREARK965,102,0007T
REEARQ B IL M E 44,825,000 %

Bt o

() R2021F6H29R8 » ARQAIMFEME
RN ARM 44,825,000 T MMEAR
#448,250,0007T ° R L utiE & iR -
403,425,000 &5 12T AR 5 B — A%
MEERBERSEHHORESR - B
Cimgh & FTE £ M5 IR0 % B i % &
BOTFALAERZERE ([RHE
ED o

f#E

MAFERBEFE » NEEKAKRRAHRF
BERELREINVBERRFIAGEESE
PREFEOERR A BEARRKRETD -
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30.

|
A

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted share award schemes (the
“Schemes”) for certain personnel in order to recognize
and reward the contribution of certain directors and
employees (“Granted employees”) to the growth and
development of the Group, and retain eligible employees
for the continuous operation and development of the
Group. During the Relevant Periods, the Group granted
equity interests of the Company under the Schemes
through Lianyungang Ruiwenshibole Biotechnology
Partnership (L.P.) (“Ruiwenshibole”), Lianyungang Ruibaitai
Pharmaceutical Technology Partnership (L.P.) (“Ruibaitai”)
and Lianyungang Ruibaihe Pharmaceutical Technology
Partnership (L.P.) (“Ruibaihe”). All of the Ruiwenshibole,
Ruibaitai and Ruibaihe are controlled by the general
partners of the partnerships.

On March 25, 2021, 2.2% of the then equity interest in the
Company were granted to 41 selected employees of the
Company for a consideration of RMB12,738,000 through
Ruiwenshibole. There was no vesting period for these
equity interest granted.

On March 25, 2021, 2.8% of the then equity interest in the
Company were granted to 41 selected employees of the
Company for a consideration of RMB16,212,000 through
Ruibaitai.The vesting period and vesting condition of the
scheme were as follows.

In May 2021, 0.1038% of the then equity interest
(equivalent to 46,544 shares before the Share Allotment,
and 465,436 as adjusted after the Share Allotment) in the
Company were forfeited due to the resign of one employee,
and were transferred to another employee as newly granted
share awards.

During July to November 2021, 0.0175% of the then equity
interest (equivalent to 78,533 shares) in the Company were
forfeited due to the resign of two employees, and was
transferred to another employee as newly granted share
awards.

30.

[
.
.

,/—j;r/

!

s

R 10 82 b =t &

ARRRETABRAT KO EZBEE (T
) URELEBDETESENEER ([#
RERDBUAKERERERNER > LA
AEENRHELERERRECERES -
REBHRE FAEBEBBEEEE XFELE
EYEMmaBeE (BRAX) ([EXFE
%)) EEEMBFBEENRABLEE (B
Ra®) ((maZk]) MEEHEH B ME LR
REBEE (BRAER) ([REM]) 8T
BT ARRINEE - BXFHESY - WAHRR
WAMSHABEE T ERABAES -

R2021F3A258 * AREERR2.2% %
ERIEBE B AR 12,738,000 7THY
REBRFARAMIBRTET  ZSERRK
W EBE -

RK2021E3H250 - ARAEFRR2.8% %
ERBERATUARYE16,212,000 TR E
BRPAREIMNZETRE LT EIMNEBHS
RAGHIT »

M2021F5H  B—REBFBRMIKER
7]0.1038% &Y & By A i (482 P A 17 B 3% Al
H46,544 8% (D - R RH LA & TR
465,436 %) + WE AR KM RE MR
TR—%ES -

R2021F7 3 E11 A  EMBZEEHFEM
RILARTR0.0175% M E B AR (BHE R
78,5338 % 1) + WIEAFIR L&D BE
EETS—HES -



y

o
~J

)

30.

Annual Report 2021
B FR

Notes to Financial Statements

B S ¥R R B

A &
Al - 52 \ Year ended December 31, 2021
Elf g/\ BHZE2021F12A31ALFE
SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued) 30. KRB E (E)
On September 27, 2021, 1.1% of the then equity interest MR2021F9A27H KRR A%MERA
(equivalent to 4,925,832 shares) in the Company were W (FEE R 4,925,832 /%15 ) i 1B B B A1 LA
granted to 19 selected employees of the Company for a AR¥EQ9,572 000 MR ER FTART195
consideration of RMB9,572,000 through Ruibaihe. The 1.1% BTEEE - L1 1%BRECHIBLEE
equity interest aforementioned was transferred from Mr. E-OMBABRECREBRBGMG  BWZER
Yong Liu which has met the vesting condition and thus was EWAR R H AR 22E) -
regarded as newly granted share awards.
The vesting period and vesting condition of the granted FRmERERAMNERERENFTBHK
equity interests through Ruibaitai and Ruibaihe were as BRI o
follows.
Vesting % Vesting Period
FE LB SES
20% (i) if employment with the Group exceeds two years: 20% of the share awards granted can
be vested at grant date; (ii) otherwise, the vesting period is defined as grant date through
the date reaching two years’ employment with the Group
(VHAEERERBBBAMFE : REROREH20%IRELAHER : ()G BEHRAT AR
HHE  BEEASEERABRRAMEA
20% 3 years
35
60% 5 years

5
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30. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued) 30. RpEBEE (E)
The fair value of services received in return for a share BB AR BT RIS AT ETE2ZE
award granted is measured by reference to the fair value B R B D T ER A R B AR E
of the share award granted less the consideration received FTE o HEMRMEEAN A FEZRRMHED
by the Group. The fair value of the share award granted is BEMMiZEEFNE  WHEAMBRERESRA
measured as the market value at the grant date, which is ANETF FERR(BEMEX KRKER
determined using the discounted cash flows approach. Key RRMZTISREUEITINR) ERAQAE
assumptions including the discount rate, terminal growth FELASEMFERE -
rate and DLOM are required to be determined by the
directors of the Company with best estimate.
Grant date
RHAH
On On On On On
March 25, May 24, July 31, September 27, November 18,
2021 2021 2021 2021 2021
20215 20215 R2021F 20215 R2021F
3A25H 5A24H 7TH31H 9RA27H 11A18H
Discount rate HRE 16% 15% 14.5% 14.5% 14.5%
Terminal growth rate RimE R % 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
DLOM RE MR HIE 15% 1% 9.5% 8.0% 7.0%
During the year ended December 31, 2021, share based REZE2021F12A31BIEFE - LAKRD A
payment of RMB137,689,000 was charged to profit or loss. ERHTRARK 137,689,000 LA Bz
31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 31. #AGReaR&RERMHTE

OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
RMB5,934,000(2020: RMB25,770,000), respectively,
in respect of lease arrangements for properties.

The Group had non-cash additions to administrative
expenses, selling and distribution expenses and
research and development costs of RMB67,738,000,
RMB877,000 and RMB69,074,000 respectively, in
respect of share award schemes.

() TEXBEXS

FRN - AEESMERSETHHNER
BEERHEABNIERSAIES
BAERMS5 034,000 (20204 : A
R#25,770,0007T) °

RGO REFEIME - AEBTHHA
¥ HE RS HEAS R ARIE
ReREN R AARKE7,738,000
7T AR¥877 000t R AR
69,074,0007T °
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 31. SR&EBRE&RERME (&)
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) RETBHELENEEESHY
activities
Redemption
Payable liabilities
Bank Lease for listing  on owners’
loans liabilities expenses capital Total
BN BEAREH
RITER HERE b BE&E st

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBTR AR®TR ARETRT AR®TR AR®ETR

At January 1, 2020 R2020%1A1H - 5,529 - 720,366 725,895
Changes from financing BERETEE - - - - -
cash flows
Interest expense FIBREY - 697 - 36,416 37,113
Additions NE - 25,770 - 528,515 554,285
Debt forgiveness BB E = = = (18,679) (18,679)
Proceeds from series B financing BEi g4 {578 - - - 686,256 686,256
Payment R = (5,871) = = (5,871)
At December 31, 2020 and R2020F12A318 K& - 26,125 - 1,952,874 1,978,999
January 1, 2021 202151418
Additions NE 50,000 5,934 - - 55,934
Disposals HeE - (197) - - (197)
Interest expense MBS 1,604 1,277 - 55,031 57,912
Payment (OF - (6,420) - - (6,420)
- Changes from financing - REREREED - - (8,184) - (8,184)
cash flows
- Changes from operating - RERETRERE - - (15,733) - (15,733)
cash flows
— Changes from investing - RERGRELD (1,604) - - - (1,604)
cash flows
Increase in deferred BT ETBSE - - 11,410 - 11,410
listing expenses
Listing expenses Niili53 - - 21,936 - 21,936

Termination of redemption rights B EIHER|4& 1F - - (2,007,905)  (2,007,905)

At December 31, 2021 2021512 A31H 50,000 26,719 9,429 = 86,148
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 31.

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the

A
[

REREREBERMWEE (H)

HERSRHARE

SFARERERMNHENRSRLA

statement of cash flows is as follows: EEP NN
Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
BIZ12A31H #HZE12H31H
HEE IEFE
20214 20204
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBET T
Within operating activities RN A 490 432
Within financing activities MEEHN 6,420 5,871
6,910 6,303
32. COMMITMENTS 32.
The Group had the following capital commitments at the REER - AEEOEREELWT ¢
end of the reporting period:
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
1202145 R 20204
12H31H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T AR®ET T
Contracted, but not provided for: ELRT 418 A AR
Buildings EF 99,342 150,879
Plant and machinery BB M i 25 65,397 56,250
164,739 207,129
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Names and relationships

Name of related parties
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33. BEHAEXSE
(a) BERBERE

Relationship with the Group
BEAREEE HY BE R

Jiangsu Dajun Biotechnology Co., Ltd.
TFREREYMBRBR AT

Significant related party transactions

Except as disclosed elsewhere in the financial
statements, the Group had no transactions with

has significantly influenced by Mr. Liu Yong
XABLEEATE
(b) EXBABLIRS

BB MR EME D AREES - F
NASEBEEBB T ETENR

related parties during the year. 5

Outstanding balances with related parties: (c) EEEBAREBNELR

The Group had no outstanding balances with related AEBEBEB S EREENERS -
parties.

Compensation of key management personnel (d FEEBEBEEASHM

of the Group:

The remuneration of directors, supervisors and the

B EERESTBRABRSTHREE

chief executive of key management was as follows: BAERFHFEWT :

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31ALLEE

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Salaries, bonuses, allowances e B4 B REYA S 8,199 6,416
and benefits in kind

Pension scheme contributions RIKEFTEIHK 283 32

Share-based payments LA 4 20 8 51 3K 90,144 =

Total compensation paid to XNTHRARERASD 98,626 6,448
key management personnel ez

Further details of directors’, supervisors’ and the
chief executive’s remuneration are set out in note 8

to the financial statements.

BRES  EERESTHRABFHM
HYHE — BN TS MR RES



208

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
STERPENRRBERAR

Notes to Financial Statements
B R -

Year ended December 31, 2021 | 52
HZE2021F12A31BILFE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of each of the reporting periods
are as follows:

The Group

As at December 31, 2021

34.

A [ - S
E

RERESHEWMIA

REBREHR  SHREBRITANEEER
™~
A%H

72021512431 R

Financial assets SHEE

Financial

assets at
amortised cost Total

R R AR
FTENESREE st
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARET T AR¥T T
Financial assets included in prepayments, st AFENFKIE » £E& K 3,704 3,704

other receivables and other assets HEMERHIENSREE
Time deposits TEHIFER 90,000 90,000
Cash and cash equivalents HekBeZEEY 1,172,562 1,172,562
1,266,266 1,266,266
Financial liabilities sEes
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
2 8 68 R AR
FTENESREE
RMB’ 000
AR¥T
Trade payables B S RIE 16,816
Financial liabilities included in other payables FTAHAMMEMKIERERTE AR 9,034
and accruals cRAaE

Interest-bearing bank borrowings T EERITIERK 50,000

75,850
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 34. RERZ/sMERITA (&)
(continued)
The Group (continued) AEE ()
As at December 31, 2020 R2020%F 12 A31H
Financial assets TEMEE
Financial
assets at
FVTPL
Mandatorily Financial
designated assets at
as such amortised cost Total
o Il 75 7E A
BAFERTA TR SE R AR
BalemiE HENSEE et
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARKET T AR®ET T AR®ET T
Financial assets included in sTATER A - = 3,299 3,299
prepayments, other receivables B WGRIE 2
and other assets HEMmEENSREE
Wealth management products IR BT EE i 325,890 = 325,890
Time deposits EBER = 50,000 50,000
Cash and cash equivalents REeERRSEZEY - 355,821 355,821
325,890 409,120 735,010
Financial liabilities = =R
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R SH R R
FFENERAE
RMB’'000
AR®ET T
Trade payables B S EIE 1,987
Financial liabilities included in other payables FTAH BN KIERETE AR 1,393
and accruals =L
Redemption liabilities on owners’ capital BEBEANEANERAE 2,006,130

2,009,510
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 34. RERB/MEHMIT A (E)
(continued)
The Company AATE
As at December 31, 2021 A2021F12A31H
Financial assets SHMEE
Financial
assets at
amortised cost Total
R R AR
FTENESREE st
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR¥T T AR¥T T
Financial assets included in prepayments, st AFENFKIE » £E& K 1,357 1,357
other receivables and other assets HMEWFIENEREE
Time deposits TEHIFER 90,000 90,000
Cash and cash equivalents HekBeZEEY 1,171,082 1,171,082
1,262,439 1,262,439
Financial liabilities sHes
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
2 8 68 R AR
FTENESREE
RMB’ 000
AR¥T
Trade payables B S RIE 15,534
Financial liabilities included in other payables ST A A BT RUE R T B A A 8,181
and accruals cRAaE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T EERITIER 50,000

73,715
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 34. RZRERIZSsHNERMIE (&)
(continued)
The Company (continued) AR (E)
As at December 31, 2020 R2020%F 12 A31H
Financial assets SHMEE
Financial
assets at
FVTPL
Mandatorily Financial
designated assets at
as such amortised cost Total
SR IE T A
BAFERTA bi7g: £ic) )@
BENEMEE ENEREE et
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF T ARBFT AREFT
Financial assets included in sTATER A - = 138,207 138,207
prepayments, other receivables B WGRIE 2
and other assets HEMmEENSREE
Wealth management products IR BT EE i 325,890 = 325,890
Time deposits EBER = 50,000 50,000
Cash and cash equivalents REeERRSEZEY - 354,071 354,071
325,890 542,278 868,168
Financial liabilities SRMAERE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R SH R R
ArENEemRARE
RMB’'000
AREFIT
Trade payables B S EIE 1,092
Financial liabilities included in other payables ST A A BT RUE R EET B R A 1,298
and accruals =L
Redemption liabilities on owners’ capital BEBEANEANERAE 2,006,130

2,008,520
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35.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair values

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
bank balances, trade payables, financial assets included
in prepayments, other receivables and other assets, and
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
short-term maturities of these instruments. The fair values
of the other non-current financial liabilities which including
interest-bearing bank borrowings and redemption liabilities
on owners’ capital have been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities and the fair values approximate to their carrying
amounts.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of time deposits
and interest-bearing bank borrowings have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair value
as a result of the Group’s own non-performance risk for
interest-bearing bank borrowings as at December 31, 2020
and 2021 were assessed to be insignificant. Management
has assessed that the fair values of the non-current portion
of time deposits and interest-bearing bank borrowings
approximate to their carrying amounts.

The Group’s finance department is responsible for
determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. At the end of each
of the reporting periods, the finance department analyses
the movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
directors review the results of the fair value measurement
of financial instruments periodically for financial reporting.

35.
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n |
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THMITANAFERAIFEER
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ERECHG  T2HRRETANEHE
HHE  BeRRTHES  BHENFE -
FEATENFR - Rt EKRFCARE M EER
TRVEE AR AR RN RIA R ER B A
WemaEREREEASESE - HMIER
BeRAE (BRABRITEARBEAAE
AWELEE) HAFEBSRER  FER
@ N R BR ERIR 77 m AR LA T A /9 3R B A 3 A
X RRRARARBSREFNHE - R FEREE
FREEESE -

SMAEREE2ATHENEFERSH (8
A B ERI) BRI RS FRIAZT
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FiE -
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FETIRIER - FERR & F &R 5 8
B TR A9IR Al AR R IR B AR RIE €
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value

Group and Company

B S ¥R R B

Year ended December 31, 2021
HZE2021F 12831 BILFE

35. ERTENAFERAFEER (&)

D FEER

TRITAEESHITENRAVEFEE
&

B FlEFTEMEE
REBRAAT

Fair value measurement using

AREFERA
Quoted

prices in Significant Significant

active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

EXTEBE EATUBE

ERTERE BAHE BAHE
(E14%) (%E24%) (%E3#) st
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®BTR ARETT AR®BTT AR®BTR

December 31, 2020 2020%12A31H
Wealth management products ~ EHE R

= 325,890 = 325,890

December 31, 2021 2021%12831H
Wealth management products B Em

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at the end of each of the reporting periods.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and
financial liabilities.

REBRERR  AEELEEAZQFEFENS
BmEE-

FA FIREF2RHABAFEFEES &
MEERSRABTEATEFEBEANELES
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35.

36.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Assets measured at fair value (continued)

Set out below is a summary of the valuation technique
to measure the fair value of financial instruments as at
December 31, 2020 and 2021.

Valuation technique

fRER M

35.

Al S
& =

ETHMITANAFERATFEER (&)

D FEER (K]
B FEFTENEE (&)

AT AR20204F k2021612 A31 B E®
BMTARQFENGERMHTE -

Wealth management products

Discounted cash flows — Future cash flows are estimated based on

expected return, discounted at a rate that reflects the risk of underlying

assets
B Em BRBERE — RKRE
HO | = BE T

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash
and cash equivalents. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities
such as trade and other payables, which arise directly from
its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain cash and cash equivalents
denominated in foreign currencies, mainly United States
Dollars (“USD”), which are exposed to foreign currency
risk. The Group has not hedged its foreign currency risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of each reporting period to a reasonably possible change
in the USD exchange rate, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s loss before tax and equity (due to
changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities).

A=
SrA ==

36.

TR BIE R E R LG - Wi RRIBREEER R

MEEREERERBER

FEENTIESRMIAPERS IR ESEE
e ZEERMTANTIZENERAEEN
BEEEET AEEBEZEEMEMEE
RAE MERREHEENE S REME
KA -

AEEeRTAEEANEIZRARA/INER
% EERRMEEBECRR  EFGRF
LRAZEEZERBROERE - EMEHNT -

SNE LB

AEERBEETUNINE (EBERET([X
T FENRERRESEEY  SHEI
PEREE o AREBBE L REIMNERR

TREINEREHRR  £EMCEERTT
BOERT  AREGRRAIEREAREEY
ELEXZAEAREHNGRE (REAAE
REBUHEERBENATFEES)
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Foreign currency risk (continued)

B S ¥R R B

Year ended December 31, 2021
HZE2021F 12831 BILFE

36. HBEREERFERBEK (&)

SME R B ()

Increase/

(decrease) in
the rate of Increase/ Increase/
foreign  (decrease) in  (decrease) in
currency loss before tax equity
SMEERIEIM  BRELATAS RIS b0 REZIE
/(R2) /CR2) ae: 2
% RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

% ARBTR ARBTR

December 31, 2021

2021$12831H

If RMB weakens against US$ BEARKHETEE 5 34,423 34,423

If RMB strengthens against US$ EARERETHE (5) (34,423) (34,423)
December 31, 2020 20209 12AH31H

If RMB weakens against US$ EAREHETRE 5 16,381 16,381

If RMB strengthens against US$  BAREE K ETHE (5) (16,381) (16,381)

The Group trades only with recognized and creditworthy
third parties. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure

to bad debts is not significant.

AEBEERERIRBEENE=1X5 -
o - EUWGRIARE SR ER B - MAKE
HERAIZRIT T EKX o
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36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit
risk. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents
and other receivables and other assets included in the
statement of financial position represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets.

As at the end of each of the reporting periods, cash and
cash equivalents were deposited in banks with high credit
rating without significant credit risk.

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains the level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management of the Group to finance the
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

36.

-
A

BEEBEERRRBEK ()

FERR

AEEHBEEXRETNERERAR - 5t AR
BIRR RIS MRS SE WAL H R
FEMEMBEERASERAESREEME
R RAEERRKRO

REBEMR R RBREEEYDHFEAGH
AEmEYEENEERBRARIT -

REBESERE
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AEEEEERREANASMNREEEY
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 36. HMERMEEBZERECK (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) rEBESERE (&)
The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as REBEHRR - XEEIREORMBENKG
at the end of each of the reporting periods, based on the ENeRaEINEHERIT ¢
contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:
Group AEH
As at December 31, 2021 MA2021F12A31H
On Within 1 year to Over
demand 1 year 5 years 5 years Total
RER 15 1FE55F 5FHUE - H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR¥TR AR¥TR ARBTRT AR®BTR
Financial liabilities included A AR RRIE K 9,034 - - - 9,034
in other payables and Bt ER®
accruals TREE
Trade payables B S ENRE 16,557 - 258 - 16,815
Interest-bearing bank and FTERITREAER - 50,000 - - 50,000
other borrowings
Lease liabilities HEBE - 7,862 18,857 - 26,719
25,591 57,862 19,115 - 102,568
As at December 31, 2020 K2020F 12 831H
On Within 1 year to Over
demand 1 year 5 years 5 years Tota
REK 1R 1F5E54F 5F M E et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000  RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARETRT ARBTT ARBTET
Financial liabilities included SHAE A FETRIE R 1,393 - - - 1,393
in other payables and B EAN AR
accruals
Trade payables B SR RIA 1,928 - 59 - 1,987
Redemption liabilities on BEREARAERDEE = - 3,109,918 ~ 3,109,918
owners’ capital
Lease liabilities HEAE - 5,588 23,651 - 29,239
3,321 5,588 3,133,628 - 3,142,537
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36.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 36. HEEKREEBERBUIK (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) rEBESERE (&)
Company ¥ /N
As at December 31, 2021 72021512831 H
On Within 1 year to Over
demand 1 year 5 years 5 years Total
RER 15 15%85F 58Nk #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥ETR AR%¥®TR ARBTR AR®TR
Financial liabilities included FEAE A B IR K 8,181 - - - 8,181
in other payables and JEEE A
accruals cREE
Trade payables 2 S HIE 15,396 - 138 - 15,534
Interest-bearing bank and FHERITREMMER - 50,000 - - 50,000
other borrowings
Lease liabilities HEAE - 2,937 5,483 - 8,420
23,577 52,937 5,621 = 82,135
As at December 31, 2020 R2020F12H31H
On Within 1 year to Over
demand 1 year 5 years 5 years Total
BEX 1FR  1FE5F 5FL £ #Et
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB’'000
ARBETT ARBTT ARETRT ARETT AREBTT
Financial liabilities included ST AE M FE 5 BRI K 1,298 - = = 1,298
in other payables and EFtER®
accruals SRR
Trade payables 2 S HRIA 1,092 = = = 1,092
Redemption liabilities on HEEARAEREE - - 3,109,918 - 3,109,918
owners’ capital
Lease liabilities HEBE - 1,121 8,859 - 9,980
2,390 1,121 3,118,777 - 3,122,288
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital as at the end of each of
the reporting periods.

36.

B S ¥R R B
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HZE2021F 12831 BILFE

BEEBEERRRBEK ()

EXEE
AEEERERNTZ2ANARERNERR
BRENMBHBEERLL RN - X
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37.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

37.

A
[

A BB B HEAR R 2=

2
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— ]
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RI|EMR - ARR WA R K E R D

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: N
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
R2021F 20204
12H31H 12H31H
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
i3 AR®ET T ARBTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRENEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE REE 13 380,723 115,732
Right-of-use assets FAEEE 14 37,479 40,442
Investment in a subsidiary R B AR NRE 21,533 11,033
Other non-current assets HMIEREEE 18 117,465 113,507
Total non-current assets IEMENE ELERE 557,200 280,714
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories ca=s 19 23,417 7,702
Prepayments, other receivables and TEfTFRIE - H A B FRIE 16 324,456 151,541
other assets MEAMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BATFEFABRN SR 20 - 325,890
BE
Cash and bank balances ] e MBI T 21 1,172,082 354,071
Total current assets M EELREE 1,519,955 839,204
CURRENT LIABILITIES i A=k
Lease liabilities HEBE 14 2,937 717
Trade payables B 5 e IR 22 15,534 1,092
Other payables and accruals H b AT RUE R IERT & 23 102,434 39,412
Total current liabilities mBBEREE 120,905 41,221
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFRE 1,399,050 797,983
TOTAL ASSETS LESS REERTBAS 1,956,250 1,078,697

CURRENT LIABILITIES
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (continued)

37. ARDTANUMBMRRE (F)

Year ended December 31, 2021
HZE2021F 12831 BILFE

As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
A20214F 20204
12A31H 12A31H
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
k3 ARET T AR®ET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FkREBEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T ERITIERK 24 50,000 -
Redemption liabilities on owners’ HEARANERDGE 25 - 1,952,874
capital
Lease liabilities HEBE 14 5,483 8,157
Deferred income FEIEU T 26 32,244 18,122
Total non-current liabilities BB EBRE 87,727 1,979,153
Net assets FEE 1,868,523 (900,456)
EQUITY S
Equity attributable to owners of BARHE AELER
the parent
Share capital [N 28 448,250 =
Paid-in capital BEHAER 28 - 36,069
Reserves (ke 29 1,420,273 (936,525)
Total equity Mz 485 1,868,523 (900,456)
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 37. ZAAQAFMNEMBEARRE ()
COMPANY (continued)
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: RArIRBESENT
Share-based Total
Paid-in Share Share/capital Other payment Accumulated (deficit)/
capital capital premium reserves reserve losses equity
K/ HRGAER (E4)/
BARA & RARE AR MAREE ZitFE RERaE
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARETT  ARBTR ARETR AR¥Tn ARETR  ARMTR  ARETx
(note 28) (note 28) (note 28) (note 29) (note 30)
(Myskos) (zr2s) (fzras) (Kfzk29) (Hzk30)
At January 1, 2020 R2020%1418 29,356 S RETT (B45044) S (133834)  (260,845)
Loss and total comprehensive loss  FREERZAFELE - - - - - (129,774)  (129,774)
for the year
Capital contribution from series B~ BEREETE 6,713 = 679,543 = = = 686,256
financing
Recognition of redemption liabilities BB A A ER4) - - - (1.214772) = - (1,214,772)
on series B owners' capital EOafE
Debt forgiveness from series A's ~ ABREA ANEE LR = - o 18,679 o = 18,679
owners
At December 31, 2020 R2020%12A31R 36,069 - 1168220 (1,841,137) - (263608  (900,456)
At January 1, 2021 H2021E181R 36,069 - 1168220 (1,841,137) - (263608  (900,456)
Loss and total comprehensive loss  EREER - - - - - (569,355)  (569,355)
for the year *EERER
Capital contribution from series B+ B+&@& T4 1,519 - 198,481 - - - 200,000
financing
Capital contribution from series C ~ CEHEEHTE - 4,825 960,277 - - - 965,102
financing
Capital contribution from employee EE BT ATE 1,898 - 27,052 - - - 28,950
incentives platforms
Termination of redemption liabilities & IFA% RBE&EA A - - - 2,007,905 - - 2,007,905
on series A and B owners' capital  RAHEDARE
Capitalization Issue BALE (39,486) 40,000 (514) - - - -
Share premium transferred to BRERANRDEE - 403,425 (403,425) - - - -
share capital
Share-based payments MR AN - - - - 137,689 - 137,689
At December 31, 2021 #2021 £12A31 8 - M8250 1950091 166,768 137,689  (832,963) 1,869,835
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38. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 38. HEHEREER
On March 31, 2022, the shares of the Company were M20226F3A31 A + RRFIRGRERZFTE
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, where R E 30,854,500 HIRIZBIAR
30,854,500 shares of RMB1.00 per H Share were issued #5100 BT R T I 24 80 T HIER R
and subscribed at a price of HK$24.80 each. The fE o EHAERIEABEARTORERT -
gross proceeds arising from the listing amounted to MBRBRHBITRZERMERIBLR7T2E
approximately HK$765 million. The proceeds, net of share BB - BHEEFARRRBRARERAR
issuance expenses, amounted to approximately HK$672 ®RFE -

million will be credited to the Company’s share capital and
capital reserve account accordingly.

39. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 39. #EMKIRRE

The financial statements were approved and authorised for R R AESZTEMR2022F 4 A20H#tt AR
issue by the board of directors on April 20, 2022. BRETIEE o
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DEFINITIONS

“Annual General Meeting” or “AGM”

[FEBRRAE]

“Articles of Association” or “Articles”

[AEsE=I2AmA ) [ 4nA )

“associates”

[BEA

“Beijing ABZYMO"

Bl -a=) -

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

[EFg]

“CDE”

“CG Code” or
“Corporate Governance Code”

[feRERTH

Lo o (o
= ) 2
) Al =

B=

the annual general meeting of our Company proposed to be held on
June 17, 2022;
RNAFERIR2022F6 A17THETNFERRAE :

the articles of association of our Company adopted on June 28, 2021
and with effect from the Listing Date;
RARFR2021F6 H28 AERMAEHMTIZAMA] - 7 L B HIRR AR ;

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules;
AR EHRAM A0 RE

Beijing ABZYMO Biosciences Co., Ltd. (It L BBEVEIEBRAF),
a limited liability company established in the PRC on 7 March 2011
and our wholly-owned subsidiary;

ERLZABEMRERERLIE - —KR2011F3A7REFEKIZHNER
BERA - BARARNZEMBAR ;

the board of Directors of our Company;

ARBEES :

the Center for Drug Evaluation of NMPA (BI5 % RS %R E
by, a division of the NMPA mainly responsible for review and
approval of IND and BLA;

HREREEERERERETTL  AERELRETHOIKE  £2
BEAINDRBLAMEZ RALAE

the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from
time to time;

T RAIM ST AT R E e T A (BTRHEET - #R s ARt g
)



Annual Report 2021
TR —FEH

Definitions and Glossary of Technical Terms

[

~M*

— !
(

) [
= El|

|
,\f;-rf"

“China” or the “PRC”

[ | i}

“Code Provision(s)”

ISEUCS'd b

“Companies Ordinance”

INSICSUN &

“Company Law” or
‘PRC Company Law”

[REDE]R[FERBNE] b

“Company” or “our Company”

AVNCIN i}

“connected person(s)”
[FAEAL i

the People’s Republic of China, but for the purpose of this annual
report and for geographical reference only and except where the
context requires, references in this annual report to “China” and the
“PRC” do not include Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative
Region of the PRC and Taiwan;

PEARANE  BERAFREBAMWERENE - ERXESEME
Sh e RERFRAN[HE W ABEFEES  RFIFITTEHR R EEH
&

the principles and code provisions set out in the CG Code;
REERSFAIPTE Y R A K <P AR

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time;
AP 622F CR ARG (ENRAERT ~ RSk AE 77 e

the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China (% AR £ AE
ATE), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time

to time;
(RZEARKMBERRNE) (BRRHEE] « TRz AR M N I82)

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd. (T &IsEHEMEMTAR DB R A R),
a joint stock company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability on
25 May 2021, or, where the context requires (as the case may be),
its predecessor Jiangsu Rec-Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (T & mEHAE T
iTAMAA]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 18
May 2012;

LEIRBHEMRMRMDAERAR - —KKR202145 425 AR EFMK
WIRMAERAT - KIANXEFIE RIBERAME)  TEHGRHEMRTERA
B(EATE) - —RKK2012F5 A18BEFREAMAIMNBREE LA :

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules;
AR FHRAM T mEeRE
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“Core Product”

[ 1200

“Director(s)” or “our Directors”

[EF A HMNES]

“Domestic Share(s)”

[AER

‘FDA”

[FDAJ

“Dr. Liu”

-l

“Global Offering”

[ 2R E ]

“Group”, “the Group”,
“our Group”, “we” or “us”

RS NEAE: AN

2 i - A [ B

has the meaning ascribed to it in Chapter 18A of the Listing Rules; for
the purpose of this annual report, our Core Product refers to REC603,
a recombinant HPV 9-valent vaccine candidate;

BB FTHRRAE1BATRE THANKRE  AFHRME - RANZOER
FEREC603 (— X EAAHPV N EREZEH)

the director(s) of our Company;

RRFESE

ordinary shares in the share capital of our Company, with a nominal
value of RMB1.00 each, which are subscribed for and paid up in
Renminbi by domestic investors;
RARIRAFEREABEARE1.00THEBR - HIRAKREEAARER
BB

the United States Food and Drug Administration;
FEREMEREEEER

Dr. LIU Yong, the executive Director and general manager of our
Group;
AEERTEZRBLIELBEL

the global offering of 30,854,500 H Shares (subject to over-allotment
option) as described in the Prospectus;

BIRER T 2 TR 3 E 30,854,500 R HAR (1R F B R AL IRIETT (1B 0 M
E)

our Company and all of our subsidiaries or, where the context so
requires, in respect of the period before our Company became the
holding company of its present subsidiaries, the businesses operated
by such subsidiaries or their predecessors (as the case may be);
RARNEAAMEBAR - SR XEME - SEARFIK AR E AR A
WIERA R Z AN AEM S - ZEWBARKEA & (RIEAME) g
OES
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“H Share(s)”

[HE

“H Share Registrar”

[HEE S E LR

“HK$” or “Hong Kong dollars”
“HK dollars”
[Tl

“Hong Kong”
(&%

“IASB”
[BEFRE st EREEE ]

“IFRS”

[ B % Bt 75 s 5 22 )

“Latest Practicable Date”

[ERRERR AT A H

overseas listed foreign share(s) in the share capital of our Company,
with a nominal value of RMB1.00 each, which are listed on the Stock
Exchange and traded in Hong Kong dollars;
RRAFRAFGREEARE1.007THIRIN ETINER - REERFT BT R
IAETLR S

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited;
BEAPREFSFELAERAR

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong;
EEEEEEET

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC;
PEEBRAIITRE

International Accounting Standards Board;
FR gt R RS

the International Financial Reporting Standards, which as collective
term includes all applicable individual International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards and
Interpretations issued by the IASB;

R s SR 2B e EEE et LRI E S B EH AT A E A E R
B A S S v - B g E LR R

April 15, 2022, being the latest practicable date for the purpose
of ascertaining certain information in this annual report prior to its
publication;

2022F4 A158 » BVARFIRNEAEEZE R AEE TERNRRER AT
HE
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“Lianyungang Ruibaihe”
[EEEImAMN]

“Listing”

[ ]

“Listing Date”

[ £ A H

“Listing Rules”
[ £ A
“Main Board”
[Ek]

“Model Code”

‘NMPA”

=
S
B
i
2l

2 i - A [ B

Lianyungang Ruibaihe Pharmaceutical Technology Partnership
(Limited Partnership) (EEXmBMNBERMEAELCE (BRE)), a
limited partnership established in the PRC on 30 July 2021;
BEEBRAMNBENREBEEX (FRERE)  —RN2021F7 A30BEF
BRI BREBEE

the listing of our H Shares on the Stock Exchange;
HARABEAZ P £ 7

March 31, 2022, on which dealings in our H Shares first commence
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange;
202293 A31H - BIHRBEREMZAERMABEEN B

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time;

ERMAERIMERLTES EHAA (BAKER] - MR AEMT R
B2

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the
Stock Exchange, which is independent from and operated in parallel
with the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange;
BMRXEENBSFR A (TEEBETS) - BB NBR M Growth
Enterprise Marketif 82 7 174 & :

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time;

FTARAIMSE TP E EREITAESETEF R IHNEETAD (BT
FrEa] ~ Mz AE M R sek)

the National Medical Products Administration of the PRC (BIZ
BmEEEEIE ) and its predecessor, the China Food and Drug
Administration (X RmEREBEERLR);
BEREMEEEERAEMIBEREMEMREEEERR

T
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“Nomination Committee”

[fRREE®]

“Prospectus”

[ ERE ]

“Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee

[FMEERZE S

“Reporting Period”
[ H ]

“RMB” or “Renminbi”
[AR¥E ]

“SFO”

[ &7 R AE P

“Share(s)”

[ Btn ]

“Shareholders”

[ B3R

“State Council”

[ B 756 |

“Stock Exchange”
[BsE 22 T |
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the nomination committee of our Company;
AARREEAE

the prospectus issued by our Company on March 21, 2022 in relation
to our Global Offering and Listing;
RARMBIREE R EMAATIE A HR2022F3 H21 BRHBIREIR

the remuneration and appraisal committee of our Company;

the year ended December 31, 2021;
HZE2021F12A31HIEEFE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC;

hEIEEEBARE

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from
time to time;

EREPIESTIEZFRAEKO (BTREET - R AR XE
%)

shares in the share capital of our Company, with a nominal value of
RMB1.00 each, comprising our Domestic Shares, Unlisted Foreign
Shares and H Shares;

RABIRAFHEREBEARE.00THRG - BEAER « IFLEWINER
MHAR

holders of our Shares;

BDFHEA

State Council of the PRC (R A R FEH#);
REAREMBEEBSE

the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited;
BEMERXGMAERIR
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“subsidiary(ies)

[H A

“substantial shareholder(s)”

[T2RR]

»

“Supervisor(s)

(8%

“Supervisory Board”

[BEEE]

“Taizhou Baibei”

ELEREN

“Taizhou Guquan”

E S

“Taizhou Yuangong”

[ZMITT

“United States” or “U.S.”

[ 5B )

g

s>

= =/ (A
=) A(p
S, el
has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 15 of the Companies
Ordinance;

BB R EHEBIFE 151G T %A HRE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules;
BB FmARAE T %A RE

supervisor(s) of our Company;

AAREEE

the board of Supervisors of our Company;
RNARIEES

Taizhou Baibei Biology Technology Partnership (Limited Partnership)
(EMNEEEDRIEARELE (BRAE%)), a limited partnership
established in the PRC on September 10, 2018;
FMNEEEDRREREE (BRER) - —RN2018F9 10 AR HEIK
THEREBEE

Taizhou Guquan Biology Technology Partnership (Limited Partnership)
(EMNEREMBREEREE(BRE®)), a limited partnership
established in the PRC on September 10, 2018;
FMNEREYBREBEE (BRER) - —RN2018F9 10 ARFEIK
UHEREBEE

Taizhou Yuangong Technology Partnership (Limited Partnership) (2=
MITITRIEABNE (BRAE)), a limited partnership established in
the PRC on September 13, 2018;

BEMITIRRAEREE (BREE) - —HKMN2018F9 A 13BAEF BIKILH
BREBDRE

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all
areas subject to its jurisdiction;
ENRERE  HEL  BUMRIRREGZEEENMER ;
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“Unlisted Foreign Shares”

[BFEMmINE ]

“U.S. dollars”, “US$” or “USD”

e
“VAT

[ {ER

“Wuhan Recbio”

[EOEmRB Y]

“Wuhan Recogen”

[ £

ordinary shares issued by our Company with a nominal value of
RMB1.00 each and are held foreign investors and are not listed on
any stock exchange;

RAFRETHERMEARE1.00THEER - WHBIMREERE B
WEPMEAIEF R ST B

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States;

EXBUEERERET

Value Added Tax;
SBMER

Wuhan Recbio Technology Co., Ltd. (REHREYEIMTER AR, a
limited liability company established in the PRC on 28 September
2021 and our wholly-owned subsidiary;

REmBHEYRMARAR - —KR20214F9 A28 BEFEIK AR
Al BREMHZENBAF]

Wuhan Recogen Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (R ZHEIEEMEIHE
R/ 7)), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 28
September 2021.

RERB AWM BR AR - —KKR202159 A28 HAEH BRI A B IR

NG

Certain amounts and percentage figures included in this annual AFHRAEMNE TEHERB DB FEIFLE -
report have been subject to rounding adjustments.

For ease of reference, the names of the PRC laws and regulations, &7 20 - MEDEEER - BUFEFT - #5E - 8
governmental authorities, institutions, natural persons or other AAZHMEE (BEAQFNETHERR) HH
entities (including certain of our subsidiaries) have been included — EXZWBHEHARFR » iR ESRAAF E @
in this annual report in both the Chinese and English languages & * BELAR XhRZAR A% o B 75 9 X4 T8 A 38 X 2
and in the event of any inconsistency, the Chinese versions shall ~ ZHAR#E5I °

prevail. English translations of official Chinese names are for

identification purpose only.
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GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

“ADE"

[ ADE]

“adjuvant”

[ ]

“adjuvant system”

[MER &5t

N

[TREM]

“AIDS”

[307%5 |

“antigen”

[HUR ]

Lo o (o
= ) 2
) Al =

B fi 7 B

antibody-dependent enhancement, a phenomenon in which binding
of a virus to suboptimal antibodies enhances its entry into host cells
and replication;

TUEBKREIN SR ER - BERESRRNENEBNAESIER T HEATBTARRE
B

a substance that may be added to a vaccine to enhance the body’s
immune response to an antigen;

—RAIAINE R E R AL R ARENRORRRENDE

formulations of classical adjuvants mixed with immunomodulators,
specifically adapted to the antigen and the target population;
S EPURAM B IR AR S BB E R ASEDR S W RA

adverse events, any untoward medical occurrences in a patient
or clinical investigation subject administered with a drug or other
pharmaceutical product during clinical trials and which do not
necessarily have a causal relationship with the treatment;
BEIBRAABRIAERERABRTEST — By S HMBEH R MEHR
WTREREMH BT —TEaRERARER

acquired immune deficiency syndrome, a transmissible disease of
the immune system caused by the human immunodeficiency virus
(HIV), which is a severe loss of the body’s cellular immunity, greatly
lowering the resistance to infection and malignancy;
BEUREREGAE BB ABRELERERS(HIV)3 BN RERR
WEFEMERR  EEABFAREHRERR S - KRB EHREMEFE
MmN RN

the substance that is capable of stimulating an immune response,
specifically activating lymphocytes, which are the body’s infection-
fighting white blood cells;

EHRNAEERENME  SHEZEREAE (ABERBENB A
)



[
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“AS01”

[ASO1]

“AS03”

[AS03]

“AS04"

[AS04 ]

“B cell(s)”

[B#HAE

‘BLA”

[BLA]

‘Cbh4”

[CD4]

“CD4* T cells”

[CD4* TAIA

“CD8* T cells”

[CD8* TANA

Annual Report 2021
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a liposome-based vaccine adjuvant system, which contains
3-O-desacyl-4’-monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL), as well as the saponin
QS-21;
ERREENER R
A(MPL) - LA&%%QS-% ;

TEAE3-0—EME -4 - BEHBEREE

an adjuvant system composed of a—tocopherol, squalene and
polysorbate 80 in an oil-in-water emulsion;

Ho— £ - ARKBMELHEEES0AK /K mILEEH F4t

an adjuvant system composed of aluminum salt and monophosphoryl
lipid A (MPL), a clinically utilized TLR4 agonist;

— B AR RS - Rt —EERR DA TLRA B B0
BEREA(MPL) :

a type of white blood cell that differ(s) from other lymphocytes like
T-cells by the presence of the BCR on the B-cell’'s outer surface. Also
known as B-lymphocytes;

— & A B4 /1 2k E AF AE BCR 1 N [R1 T 40 g 35 L 4t AR B2 48 e ) 5 4 e
TRREBME AR

biologics license application;

EWB A B

a transmembrane glycoprotein that is expressed as a single
polypeptide chain on the MHC class ll-restricted T-cells;
—BEERES  EF _HEMHCRGIUTMAR EAEREE MR KE

a type of important T lymphocyte that helps coordinating the immune
response by stimulating other immune cells to fight infections;
—EEENTMHEAM - BBERIZE b %5 M R R R E B 1 8 2 &
[ FE

a type of important T lymphocytes for immune defense against
intracellular pathogens, including viruses and bacteria, and for
tumour surveillance;
—EHHARANRERE (BREREMNARE) ETREN LA RE B EBEA
MEZNTHEMR
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“‘CDC”
[ ]

“cervical cancer”

|

R=r

g
\H/’t

“CHO cell”

[CHO#H |

‘CMO(s)”

[BREERE]

‘COVID-19"

[ % A 4 |

“CRO(s)"

[E KT ]

‘DALYs”

[DALYs]

Centre for Disease Control and Prevention;

BRI ESI RO

cancer that occurs in the cervix — the lower part of the uterus that
connects to the vagina,
BEEFEUdeEE - FEUeEEREN = T

Chinese Hamsters Ovary Cell, which is widely used in
biopharmaceutical industry to produce recombinant proteins;

hEEENEAR  EZANEMRETE  AREEEAERE

a company that serves other companies in the pharmaceutical
industry on a contract basis to provide comprehensive services from
drug development through drug manufacturing;
REETENEMARANREYREIN EZREEREREZERBHELR
G NG

Coronavirus Disease 2019, an infectious disease caused by the most
recently discovered coronavirus, first reported in December 2019;
2019 BRMERFRERARARRNTBMRESSENERERRE - X
2019FF 12 A B IRMEH

contract research organization, a company that provides support
to pharmaceutical companies by providing a range of professional
research services on a contract basis;

BRI - LAS ORI M — R F IR M (A B2 1R X F5 1)

A

the disability-adjusted life year, a measure of overall disease burden,
expressed as the number of years lost due to ill-health, disability or
early death;

BREAERLEDF  RESEBRRAENER XBREREXRE B
FIRFIR T MBRA Ean
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“Delta variant”

[EREEERES ]

“DNA vaccine”
[DNAZ & |

“E.coli”
[ RIGEHE
“emulsion”

[FLA ]

“epitopes”

EvA

‘EUA"
[EUA]

“EV71”
[EV71]

“‘GFA”
[ EmAE

“‘GMP”
[GMP ]

‘GMT"
[GMT]
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variant of lineage B.1.617.2 of SARS-CoV-2, the virus that causes
COVID-19;
AT BB A & BSARS-CoV-2#9:% R£B.1.617 2H# RS :

deoxyribonucleic acid vaccines;

BEZEZRRE

Escherichia coli expression system, a expression system used in
vaccine R&D and manufacturing;

RBREREZRS  ARRENEREBENRERS

a mixture of two or more liquids that are normally immiscible
(unmixable or unblendable) owing to liquid-liquid phase separation;
MiERZB—RETER (TRDEE RN A FR)) 89K 88 ERR 5 BEm
BEDRE Y

part of an antigen that is recognized by the immune system,
specifically by antibodies, B cells, or T cells;

#®HEE B TARFNRRARBFNTIRE—EBD

the emergency use authorization;

EERRAE

Enterovirus 71, most EV71 infections commonly result in hand-foot-
mouth disease (HFMD);
BERST1E  RZHGERST1IHBELAREREHHFMDOFA

gross floor area;
HEIREEEAE

good manufacturing practices;
EmrELSEIRRE

geometric mean titers;

EAFIERE
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“H. polymorpha”

[RiEES ]
“HFMD”
[Ferm]

‘HIV”

[HIV]

“HPV”

[HPV]

“HPV 9-valent vaccine”
[HPV B

“HPV bivalent vaccine”
[HPV = {B&H

“HPV quadrivalent vaccine”
[HPVIHEZH |

“immune response”

[ ]

2 i - A [ B

Hansenula polymorpha, a well-known model organism, which can
utilize methanol as the carbon source and energy source, used
widely for studying cellular, metabolic, and genetic issues, and used
in vaccine industry for expression of recombinant proteins;

BREY  —BIRAMEAMNERXNEY e AFERBIRKER - BZAR
ot Anp - R REERE  URERETERPERUREEEERD

hand-foot-mouth disease, a common infectious disease among infants
and children, characterized by fever, sores in the mouth and a rash
with blisters on hands, feet and also buttocks;

FRARK BHRT-—BERERRE  FRER/ER  ORHRES  F -
EREHTEBEKAREE

human immunodeficiency virus, which attacks cells that help the body
fight infection, making a person more vulnerable to other infections
and diseases and spreading by contact with certain bodily fluids of
an infected person;

ANERENRIERS  SWEBHBANERRENAR  SAESRIE
i REAMERBNRE - WRBEEX R A T K LRBR M ERE

human papillomavirus, persistent infection of high-risk types can
cause cervical cancer;
ALFRAS - BEBRELNEERLTESEREERE

a vaccine that can help protect individuals against the infections and
diseases caused by nine types of HPV,
— B EREEARZHNERIHPY SRR RIRREE

vaccines that can prevent infections of two HPV types;
A TER RN IEHPVER R B & b

vaccines that can prevent infections of four HPV types;
AT HAEHPV AR AR

the process by which the body is stimulated by antigens;

MRR A ENRERE
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“immunogenicity”

[ R RIE]

“IND”
[IND]

“influenza(flu)”

‘IPD”

[1PD]

“MF59”

[MF59]

“MoA”
[MoA |

‘mRNA”

[mRNA ]
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the ability of an antigen to provoke immune response;

TR R R R EHIRE

investigational new drug or investigational new drug application;

W PR AT 95 PR Rl R PR AT ST AR AT B AR 35

highly infectious respiratory diseases caused by influenza viruses.
It is characterised by sudden onset of high fever, aching muscles,
headache, fatigue and a hacking cough. Serious outcome of influenza

can result in hospitalization or death;

BB SS ENERMERNTRERR  FREREE - JIAK
SRR KB NE%  BREEARAR  EERT

Integrated Product Development, a structure of work and best

practices that causes people to work together more effectively with

better communications and metrics that connect the entire value
chain which is the standard of the matrix management mode;

EXREMAE  —BIERKEBEBNER - AIERAMEFERKES
FHHER  EMERBULARTIE  WERREEEE (L REEER

BEANRE)

an adjuvant system that uses a derivative of shark liver oil called

squalene;

—RERRBFMITEY ARBOER RS

mechanism of actions;

TERHERH :

messenger ribonucleic acid, a single-stranded molecule of RNA that
corresponds to the genetic sequence of a gene, and is read by a

ribosome in the process of synthesizing a protein;
BEZREZE  BERNEGFIEHENEERNADF  EEKERE

HBAE TP AR RE R AR
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“‘NAb GMT”

[NAb GMT |

“neutralizing antibodies” or “NAb”
[FRANHLEE | 3 [NAD

“‘NTD”
[NTD

“Omicron variant”
[REERBERES ]
“‘OPTI”

[OPTIJ

“pathogens”

[RREE]

“‘Qs-21"
[Qs-21]

‘R&D"
[R&D |

‘RBD”

[RBDJ

J'j i - A / =

a measure of neutralizing antibody expressed as geometric mean
titers in a specific population or a group of laboratory animals;

ERFEANS—AEREHYHHANRBRELATFIBENITE

an antibody that is responsible for defending cells from pathogens,
which are organisms that cause disease;
—EAEREMAREXFEREBERENNE RRENSIRERNED)

N-terminal domain, a region of the protein’s polypeptide chain
located at the start of the protein that is self-stabilizing and that folds
independently from the rest;

N— KRB  EAEEZMEN—@ARE LR EQENRKE  BAF
BREM  WEABIREMIBOITE

variant of lineage B.1.1.529 of SARS-Co-2, the virus that causes
COVID-19;
A B EATA BSARS-Co-2/)FE K B.1.1.520M # &R

the management philosophy adopted by our Company, which referred
to Opportunity, Prudence, Technology and Intellectual Property;
RATRMNEIRIED - IS - 21H - BITRABERE

a bacteria, virus, or other microorganism that can cause disease;
ISR AR - REEMMEY

a purified plant extract used as a vaccine adjuvant;
—EARNEEEB A CEYRRERY

research and development;
7 R FE

receptor binding domain, a key part of a virus located on its “spike”
protein that allows it to dock to body receptors to gain entry into cells
and lead to infection;

TRESHEREN AR S  UREIRR] EAE £ FHEME
FEXBHE  EAARTEERE
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“recombinant protein vaccine” one category of vaccines, which comprise protein antigens produced
in heterologous expression system (e.g., cells or yeast);
[BHEEREH ] i —fBEE  BEERKRERS (WARSEY) PEENERENR
“S protein” spike protein, a large type | transmembrane protein that is the main

surface antigen of SARS-CoV-2 to mediate entry of SARS-CoV-2 into
cells expressing the angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2);

[SZEH] ¥ MEER - —EAENIBEEEER - £SARS-CoV-2HEZ2XRENR -
B SARS-CoV-2i AKEME B REE(LEF2(ACE2) R AR

“SAE” serious adverse events, any untoward medical occurrence in human
drug trials that at any dose: results in death; is life threatening;
requires inpatient hospitalization or causes prolongation of existing
hospitalization; results in persistent or significant disability/incapacity;
may have caused a congenital anomaly/birth defect, or requires
intervention to prevent permanent impairment or damage;

[BRESREM i BEUATENHENABEYSRTOEAEINEREHNLERBE - 8
BULT BB A REBEEOARABERAGERGELER : S8
BYBEREMN N ERIIEED  ATREBWMAERERR /HAERRE -
R FEEFTEAB KA M BEHIEE

“SARS-CoV-2” severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2, the strain of
coronavirus that causes COVID-19;

[SARS-CoV-2] | BESMTREGGAESRAS2  BEHBEMANERBSEIK

“shingles” a viral infection that causes a painful rash;

[#ARE 2 i —TEB| RATB B HR T R

“STD” sexually transmitted diseases, are infections that are passed from one

person to another through sexual contact;

[14E5% | Ec HEERERR - BEEEREE ARAZREBRNKRE
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“T cell(s)” cell(s) that originate in the thymus, mature in the periphery, become

activated in the spleen/nodes if their T-cell receptors bind to an
antigen presented by an MHC molecule and they receive additional
costimulation signals driving them to acquire killing (mainly CD8+ T
cells) or supporting (mainly CD4+ T cells) functions;

[T#BfE ] i TR BRI R INE AR AR - RETARX EBEMHCH FR2ENNIRE
SRIEEMOREERUE - B E GBI IMNY E RIS 57 A HBUS R 15
(EEHECD8+THIN) sk Bh (= Z3HEICDA+TAHIM) ThaE

“B” tuberculosis, an infection caused by Mycobacterium tuberculosis that
primarily affects the lungs;

[ #& Az i iz AEEREMA AR ARE S RAVRR

“TLR4” a receptor for lipopolysaccharide (LPS), which has a pivotal role in
the regulation of immune responses to infection;

[TLR4] i FEZHE(LPS)MX 48 - EREHRAM R R EPREZMBOIER

“tolerability” the degree to which overt AEs of a drug can be tolerated by a patient.

Tolerability of a particular drug can be discussed in a general sense,
or it can be a quantifiable measurement as part of a clinical study;

[ 1 3214 i BEUHEYNABRTREHOMIEER - FEEMHMI U AE—RE
& DETRT - WA DMERBRAH RN —FoETEMAE

“varicella” an acute infectious disease caused by the first infection of varicella
zoster virus;

[k i BRRBRLKE - ERBEERES BN ELRE

“VLPs” virus-like particles, are molecules that closely resemble viruses;

[VLPs ]| i RSN - RERSIEFHUNS T

‘WHO” World Health Organization.

[ R LA b HRA LA -
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